
                                                                                                                   

Persons with disabilities requiring reasonable accommodations to participate in meetings should contact the Park District’s ADA Compliance Coordinator, at the Park District’s Administrative 
Office by mail at 540 Hibbard Rd, Winnetka, IL, by phone at 847-501-2040, Monday - Friday from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., or by email to lbaker@winpark.org at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. Requests for a qualified interpreter require five (5) working days advance notice. 

 

 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE | REGULAR BOARD MEETING* 

Thursday, August 18, 2022 | 6:00 p.m. 
Carleton Washburne School 

515 Hibbard Road, Winnetka, Illinois 
 
AGENDA 
1. Roll Call 
2. Additions or Changes to the Agenda 
3. Approval of July 2022 Financials** 
4. Approval of Vouchers** 
5. New Business 

a. Consideration of Ordinance #589 Abating Taxes 
6. Remarks from Visitors 
7. Approval of Minutes/Consent Agenda 

a. Special Board Meeting Minutes of June 9, 2022** 
b. Closed Session Meeting Minutes of June 16, 2022 

8. Communications  
9. New Business  

b.   Presentation from Winnetka Youth Organization** 
10. Unfinished Business 

a. Elder + Centennial** 
b. Stormwater Construction Update 
c. Consideration for Golf Course Improvements** 
d. Proposed Sale of Library Park** 
e. Request from Winnetka Public Schools District 36 for Conveyance of Property 
f. Discussion of Board Review and Approval Process for Design and 

Construction Projects over $250K 
g. Consideration of Nick Corwin Playground Renovation** 

11. New Business  
c.   Consideration of A.C. Nielsen Tennis Center Exterior Painting Proposal** 
d.   Review of Policy Manual Guidelines for Commissioners 

12. Matters of the Director  
13. Board Liaison Reports 
14. Remarks from Visitors  
15. Staff Reports** 
16. Closed Session 

The Board will enter Closed Session to discuss: 
 
 
 

-over- 
 
 
 

1

mailto:lbaker@winpark.org


                                                                                                                   

Persons with disabilities requiring reasonable accommodations to participate in meetings should contact the Park District’s ADA Compliance Coordinator, at the Park District’s Administrative 
Office by mail at 540 Hibbard Rd, Winnetka, IL, by phone at 847-501-2040, Monday - Friday from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., or by email to lbaker@winpark.org at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. Requests for a qualified interpreter require five (5) working days advance notice. 

 

 

 
 
 

a. The appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, performance, or 
dismissal of specific employees of the public body or legal counsel for the 
public body, including hearing testimony on a complaint lodged against an 
employee of the public body or against legal counsel for the public body to 
determine its validity - Sect. 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (1)  

b. The purchase or lease of property - 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(5) 
c. The setting of a price for sale or lease of property - 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(6) 
d. Litigation, when an action against, affecting or on behalf of the particular 

public body has been filed and is pending before a court or administrative 
tribunal, or when the public body finds that an action is probable or 
imminent - 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (11) 

17. Return to Open Session 
a. Consideration of Action, If Any, of Items Discussed in Closed Session 

18. Adjournment   
       

*Meeting recorded via Zoom  
To view the meeting via Zoom, sign in and enter Meeting ID #885 7859 1317 and Passcode #280372.  To 
listen via phone, call +1.312.626.6799 and use the same meeting number and passcode.  Zoom is the platform 
used to video record the meeting.  As such, the “chat” feature will not be monitored.  Public comment will be 
accepted in person during Agenda Items 5 and 12 - “Remarks from Visitors”. 

 
**Items included in packet 

2

mailto:lbaker@winpark.org


 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT 
REMARKS FROM VISITORS & PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
 
 

At regular Park Board meetings, there is an agenda item called Remarks from Visitors. Remarks may also be 
solicited at special meetings. Public hearings are specifically designed to seek feedback from the community. 

If you have a question or concern and need to address the Board at any of these meetings, please comply with 
the basic guidelines below. 

1. The Board President will chair the meeting. 
 

2. Any resident or visitor wishing to address the Board, an individual Board member or a guest presenter, 
must direct their questions and comments to the President at the appropriate time or at the 
President’s invitation. 
 

3. The Board will hear a resident's or visitors comments only after the President has recognized the 
individual to speak. 
 

4. Speakers are asked to state their name for the public record.  
 

5. Speakers will be allowed three minutes and may not yield their time to other speakers. 
 

6. Persons wishing to speak for a second time may do so with the consent of the President, only after all 
others have had an opportunity to address the Board. 
 

7. Please refrain from comment or question at a Public Hearing until the presentation has been 
completed. 
 

8. At the discretion of the Chair, you may be asked to submit your question in writing on a 3 x 5 card and 
you will receive a written response with one week of the hearing. 

The President will strive to allow all residents and visitors equal opportunity to address the Board. In general the 
Board will not comment or respond to issues requiring Board consideration until the issue has been reviewed by 
the Board/staff. 

The Board often has a full business agenda and must complete the work of the Park District at scheduled 
meetings. Please do not repeat comments or questions that have already been made by others and please do 
not interrupt commissioners or other speakers. 

 

Updated 1/23/18 

 

3



Operating Performance Summary YTD
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

• Operating Surplus $947,767 YTD vs Budget
Operating 

Performance vs 
Budget

• Operating Revenues $150,377 above YTD budget
• Operating Expenses $380,213 below YTD budget
• Operating Capitals $417,177 below YTD budget

Performance Drivers 
vs Budget  

• Operating Revenue projected $2,100,000 below budget 
due to Cook County tax delay

• Operating Expenses projected $242,800 below budget
• Operating Capitals projected $611,250 below budget

2022 Year End 
Projections

1
1

4



Revenues, Expenses, Capitals Summary YTD
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

• $150,377 above YTD budget
• Tennis $444,261 above YTD budget
• Golf Course Play $101,200 above YTD budget
• Rec Program Fees $298,389 above YTD budget

Operating Revenues

• Cash Donations of $13,837
• Other Contributions of $64,770
• Elder/Cent. donations will be well below budget

Non-Operating 
Revenues

• $ 380,213 below YTD budget
• Salaries/Wages $157,481 below YTD budget
• Supplies $160,076 below YTD budget
• Repairs and Maintenance $46,744 below YTD budget

Operating Expenses

• Operating Capitals $417,177 below YTD budget
• Major Capitals $140,809 above YTD budget

Capitals

2
5



Individual Fund Performance Actual vs Budget YTD
July 2022

8,
18

0

2,
11

6

2,
39

8

18
9

8,
03

0

2,
67

6

2,
19

7

17
2

5,
94

9

2,
13

0

1,
23

6

0

6,
32

9

1,
89

0

1,
46

2

015
0

-5
60

20
1

17

-3
80

24
0

-2
25

0

A LL  F UND S GENERA L  F UND REC  F UND MIS C F UND

Rev YTD Actual Rev YTD Budget Exp YTD Actual Exp YTD Budget Revenue Variance Expense Variance
*Numbers in 1000’s*

3
6



Individual Fund Performance Actual vs Budget YTD
July 2022

1,
23

6

10
5

1,
75

3

57
2

1,
13

8

87

1,
35

8

49
8

1,
06

4

96

97
8

44
6

1,
14

9

90

1,
02

6

63
5

98

18

39
6

73

-8
6

6

-4
8

-1
90

GO LF  F UND PA D D LE F UND TENNIS  F UND ICE  A RENA  F UND

Rev YTD Actual Rev YTD Budget Exp YTD Actual Exp YTD Budget Revenue Variance Expense Variance
*Numbers in 1000’s*

4
7



Previous Years Comparison 
All Funds Combined – Unaudited 
July 2022

2020 YTD 2021 YTD 2022 YTD 
Actual

2022 YTD 
Budget

2022 YTD 
Bud vs Act

Revenues
YTD $7,315,927 $8,966,659 $9,295,283 $9,144,906 $150,377

Expenses
YTD $5,124,504 $5,950,798 $5,672,317 $6,052,530 ($380,213)

Capitals & 
Contracts
YTD

$1,236,629 $2,457,385 $925,536 $1,201,484 ($275,948)

Surplus/
Deficit
YTD

$954,794 $558,476 $2,697,430 $1,890,892 $806,538

5
8



Year End Projections 
All Funds Combined – Unaudited 
July 2022

2022
Budget

2022 Year End
Projection

2022
Bud vs Pro

Revenues $17,889,322 $11,094,322 ($6,795,000)

Expenses $10,312,308 $10,069,508 ($242,800)

Capitals/Contracts $12,609,335 $2,498,060 ($10,111,275)

Surplus/Deficit ($5,032,321) ($1,473,246) $3,559,075

6
9



Revenues - Detail YTD
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

2020 YTD 2021 YTD 2022 YTD 
Actual

2022 YTD 
Budget

2022 YTD 
Bud vs Act

% of YTD
Budget

Taxes $4,143,298 $3,148,543 $3,548,014 $4,595,637 ($1,047,623) 77%

User Fees $2,512,156 $4,103,080 $4,074,539 $3,427,973 $646,566 119%

Rec Fees $396,856 $810,683 $1,130,537 $832,148 $298,389 136%

Interest $64,512 $6,055 $40,201 $26,247 $13,954 153%
Misc. $131,463 $155,834 $329,471 $160,973 $168,498 205%
Pro Shop $64,767 $101,631 $93,914 $95,596 ($1,682) 98%
Donations $2,875 $640,833 $78,607 $6,332 $72,275 1241%
Total $7,315,927 $8,966,659 $9,295,283 $9,144,906 $150,377 102%

7
10



Revenues - User Fees 
Performance vs. Budget YTD 
July 2022

• $649,884 above YTD budgetOverall User Fees
• $21,348 above YTD budgetAthletic Fields
• $1,339 above YTD budgetSailing
• $3,133 above YTD budget Beaches
• $10,619 above YTD budgetBoat Launch
• $101,200 above YTD budgetGolf
• $13,737  above YTD budgetPaddle
• $444,261 above YTD budgetTennis
• $54,247 above YTD budgetIce

8
11



Donations/Contributions
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 YTD

Unrestricted $2,875 $8,872 $13,837

Restricted/Directed $0 $631,961 $64,770

Parks $0 $0 $3,647

Beaches $0 $178,670 $55,373

Enterprise $0 $0 $5,000

Other $0 $453,291 $750

Total $2,875 $640,833 $78,607

9
12

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
No



Expenses - Detail YTD
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022 

2020 YTD 2021 YTD 2022 YTD 
Actual

2022 YTD 
Budget

2022 YTD 
Bud vs Act

% of YTD
Budget

Salaries & 
Wages $2,610,310 $2,626,936 $2,730,021 $2,887,502 ($157,481) 95%
Other 
Personnel $831,431 $782,203 $858,188 $913,472 ($55,284) 94%
Supplies $323,269 $304,357 $331,531 $491,607 ($160,076) 67%
Repair & 
Maintenance $110,029 $156,764 $126,579 $173,323 ($46,744) 73%
Program & 
Main Services $375,631 $856,506 $513,955 $486,262 $27,693 106%
Corporate
Services $510,204 $733,688 $657,770 $617,522 $40,248 107%
Utilities $321,730 $421,621 $387,030 $412,709 ($25,679) 94%
Pro Shop $41,900 $68,723 $67,243 $70,133 ($2,890) 96%
Total $5,124,504 $5,950,798 $5,672,317 $6,052,530 ($380,213) 94%

10
13



Capitals/Contracts - Detail YTD
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

2020 YTD 2021 YTD 2022 YTD 
Actual

2022 YTD 
Budget

2022 YTD 
Bud vs 

Act

% of YTD 
Budget

Operating
Capitals $114,376 $416,627 $215,431 $632,608 ($417,177) 34%

Major
Capitals $857,252 $1,596,997 $340,809 $200,000 $140,809 170%

Contracts 
Payable $265,001 $443,761 $369,296 $368,876 $420 100%

Total $1,236,629 $2,457,385 $925,536 $1,201,484 ($275,948) 77%

11
14



Operating and Major Capitals
All Funds Combined - Unaudited
July 2022

320 518 633 869
1,882 1,862857

1,597
200

580

10,000

500

2020 YTD 2021 YTD 2022 YTD 
BUDGET

2022 YE 
ESTIMATE

2023 ESTIMATE 2024 ESTIMATE

Operating Major *Numbers in 1000’s*

12
15



Operating Capitals
July 2022

17 0 0

139

59
0

239

34

136
159

262

150

PARKS ATHLETIC 
FIELDS

BEACHES GOLF TENNIS ICE ARENA

2022 Actual YTD FY22 Budget *Numbers in 1000’s*

13
16



Operating Capitals Detail - 25K and above
July 2022

FY2022 Budget Actual Completed?
Parks $468,000

Happ Road Park - Furnishings/Playground $111,000

Nick Corwin Park - Playground $230,000 $203,000 ON ORDER

Northfield Park - Fencing/Gates/Backstop $33,000 $2,764 NO

Equipment - Toro 4000D Mower and Ford F-350 $55,000

Paths and Paving $10,000 $10,595 YES

Athletic Fields $34,000

Beaches    $136,000

Elder Lane Beach House - Pumps/Windows/Paint $50,000

Centennial Park - Sidewalks $58,000

Tower Road Beach House - Pumps/Flooring $28,000

Garage $77,000

Parks Service Center - Painting $30,000

Forklift $30,000

14
17



Operating Capitals Detail - 25K and above
July 2022

FY2022 Budget Actual Completed?
Golf Course/Maintenance $158,500

Cart Barn Roof $30,000

Design Work $25,000 $71,040 YES

Ford Tractor $40,000

Toro Mower $55,319 $55,319 YES

Paddle $10,000 $2,419 YES

Tennis Outdoor $56,000

Pathways $33,000

Tennis Indoor $148,000

Tennis Center Windows/Doors $68,000

Tennis Center Painting $30,000

Radiant Heaters/Boiler $45,000

Ice Arena $150,000

Zamboni $150,000 $0 DEFERRED

15
18



Capitals – Major
July 2022

55 141 19980 500 19980

10,000

0

DRIVING RANGE ELDER/CENTEN NON-BUDGETED

2022 Actual YTD Current FY22 Projection FY22 Budget *Numbers in 1000’s*

16
19



Fund Reserves 2022
July 2022

557 586 456 569 448 478

712
807

1,398 1,465

2,226

2,412

617
299

GEN 2022 GEN 2023 REC 2022 REC 2023 GO LF  2022 GO LF  2023

Minimum Restricted Available *Numbers in 1000’s*

17
20



Fund Reserves 2022
July 2022

39 39

370 394

170 208
20 20

142 151

834

1,000

1,107

299

PA D D LE 2022 PA D D LE 2023 TENNIS  2022 TENNIS  2023 ICE  2022 ICE  2023

Minimum Restricted Available *Numbers in 1000’s*

18
21



Statement of Cash and Investments
July 2022

Cash
•Petty Cash $        1,700.57 
•BMO Harris Bank – Holiday Savings $      14,962.33 
•Illinois Funds $      79,006.10 
•N Corwin Fund $      38,213.12 
•BMO Harris Bank – Operating $    253,116.81 
•BMO Harris Bank – Money Market $ 4,419,491.61 
•BMO Harris Bank – Payroll $      53,990.08 

Total Cash $ 4,860,480.62 
Investments

•IPDLAF 365-day TERM account
•IPDLAF 270-day TERM account

$3,000,000.00
$1,000,000.00

•IPDLAF – 2020 Bond Proceeds $2,632,451.45 
•IPDLAF – Money Market $2,538,863.38 
•Wintrust Community Bank Money Market $5,086,057.48 

Total Investments $14,257,372.31 

Total Cash and Investments $19,117,852.93 
19

22



 BOARD SUMMARY     

 WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT     
      

Date: Thursday, August 18, 2022     
To: Board of Commissioners     

Subject: Vouchers for Approval     
From: James Crocker, Superintendent of Finance    

Summary: For your approval please find below a list of vouchers from July 14 – Aug 10, 2022.  
      
      

  BY FUND      
FUND DESCRIPTION AMOUNT    

01 General / Payroll $   241,315.18       
10 Recreation $   245,813.80      
20 Golf Operations  $   120,220.75      
23 Platform Tennis $     13,566.42        
25 Tennis $    20,892.88      
27 Indoor Ice Arena $     22,160.20    
31 Special Recreation $               0.00    
32 Worker's Comp $               0.00    
33 IMRF Pension & FICA $   171,998.70     
34 Audit Fund $               0.00       
35 Liability Fund $               0.00        
37 Capital Projects $   218,420.06          

  Grand Total $1,054,387.99     
      

  BY CATEGORY      
CATEGORY DESCRIPTION AMOUNT    

52 Supplies $      90,568.69    
54 Other Personnel Costs $      72,043.87    
54 Program & Maintenance Services $    176,591.83    
54 Corporate Services $    141,760.00    
56 Repair and Maintenance $      34,978.74      

565 Utilities $      80,090.86    
60 Capital Projects $    218,420.06                 
62 Contracts Payable $                0.00    
21 Employee Payroll Contributions $    239,933.94    

  Grand Total $ 1,054,387.99      
      
The payment of the above listed accounts has been accepted by the Park District Board of  
 Commissioners at their meeting held on August 18, 2022.    
 

     
 

     

____________________________________________ 
 
__________________________________________  

(Treasurer)  (Secretary)    
 23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



 
 

Winnetka Park District 
 

Date:  August 15, 2022 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners, Winnetka Park District 
 
From:   James Crocker, Superintendent of Finance 
 
Subject: Winnetka Park District Plan to Abate Pledged Taxes  
 
Summary: 
The Winnetka Park District intends to abate the 2021 pledged taxes to be levied in order to pay 
for the district’s 2020 alternate revenue bonds. The amount due for the debt service on the 2020 
alternative revenue bonds or before December 1, 2022 is $220,815. The Park District is 
introducing Ordinance # 589 for this purpose.   

The bonds referenced above are secured both by certain pledged revenues and EAV property taxes. 
Section 11 of the ordinance authorizing the Bonds states whenever the pledged revenues are or are 
expected to be available to pay any principal of or interest on the Bonds when due, so as to enable 
the abatement of the pledged taxes levied for the same, the Board or the officers of the District 
acting with proper authority, will direct the abatement of the pledged taxes by the amount of the 
pledged revenues available or expected to be available, and proper notification of such abatement 
shall be filed with the County Clerk in a timely manner to effect such abatement.   
 
As you know, the Winnetka Park District is experiencing a delay with Cook County tax 
disbursement. However the Winnetka Park District expects to have the revenue necessary to 
cover the required payments.  Chapman and Cutler prepared the draft of the ordinance abating 
the 2021 pledged taxes to be levied under the Ordinance for your review and consideration. 
Should the Board of Commissioners ratify this ordinance, the District intends to file the 
ordinance with the County Clerk in as timely a manner as possible, most probably the week of 
August 22, 2022.   
 
END 

49



Draft Ordinance for Abatement of Alt Rev Bond Taxes_v2 
2282887  

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT 
ORDINANCE NO. 589 

 

ORDINANCE abating the tax hereto levied for the year 2021 to pay 
the principal of and interest on $9,050,000 General Obligation Park 
Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020, of the Winnetka 
Park District, Cook County, Illinois. 

WHEREAS the Board of Park Commissioners (the “Board”) of the Winnetka Park District, 

Cook County, Illinois (the “District”), by an ordinance adopted on the 9th day of July, 2020 (the 

“Ordinance”), did provide for the issue of $9,050,000 General Obligation Park Bonds (Alternate 

Revenue Source), Series 2020, of the District (the “Bonds”), dated July 28, 2020, and the levy of 

a direct annual tax sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS the District hereby determines that the Pledged Revenues (as defined in the 

Ordinance) are or are expected to be available to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds 

when due in the next succeeding bond year so as to enable the abatement of the Pledged Taxes (as 

defined in the Ordinance) levied for the same; and 

WHEREAS it is necessary and in the best interests of the District that the Pledged Taxes 

levied for the year 2021 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated: 

NOW THEREFORE Be It Ordained by the Board of Park Commissioners of the Winnetka 

Park District, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. Abatement of Tax.  The tax heretofore levied for the year 2021 in the 

Ordinance is hereby abated in its entirety. 

 Section 2. Filing of Ordinance.  Forthwith upon the adoption of this Ordinance, the 

Secretary shall file a certified copy hereof with the County Clerk of The County of Cook, Illinois, 

and it shall be the duty of said County Clerk to abate said tax levied for the year 2021 in accordance 

with the provisions hereof. 

50



-2- 

 Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith upon 

its adoption. 

Adopted August 18, 2022. 
 
 

 _____________________________     
Warren A. James, President 

      Board of Park Commissioners 
Winnetka Park District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
John L. Peterson, Secretary  
Board of Park Commissioners 
Winnetka Park District 
 

51



 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
 )  SS 
COUNTY OF COOK ) 

FILING CERTIFICATE 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting County Clerk 

of The County of Cook, Illinois, and as such official I do further certify that on the ____ day of 

August, 2022, there was filed in my office a duly certified copy of Ordinance No. 589 entitled: 

ORDINANCE abating the tax hereto levied for the year 2021 to pay 
the principal of and interest on $9,050,000 General Obligation Park 
Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020, of the Winnetka 
Park District, Cook County, Illinois. 

 (the “Ordinance”) duly adopted by the Board of Park Commissioners of the Winnetka Park 

District, Cook County, Illinois (the “District”), on the 18th day of August, 2022, and that the same 

has been deposited in the official files and records of my office. 

I do further certify that the taxes heretofore levied for the year 2021 for the payment of the 

District’s $9,050,000 General Obligation Park Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020, as 

described in the Ordinance will be abated in their entirety as provided in the Ordinance. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF I hereunto affix my official signature and the seal of said County 

this ____ day of August, 2022. 
 
 
  ____________________________________ 

County Clerk of The County  
of Cook, Illinois 

[SEAL] 

52



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD 

MEETING OF THE COMMISSIONERS AND OFFICERS  
OF THE WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT, WINNETKA, IL 

THURSDAY, JUNE 9, 2022  
 

 
President James called the special meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Commissioners Present: Mickey Archambault, Warren James, Cynthia Rapp, Colleen Root, 
David Seaman 
 
Commissioners Absent: Christina Codo and Eric Lussen 
 
Staff Present: John Peterson, Executive Director; Kyle Berg, Superintendent of Recreation; 
Molly Krohe, Marketing/Brand Manager; Libby Baker, Office Associate; Ania Cramer, 
Community Outreach/Business Development 
 
Staff Present Via Zoom:  Costa Kutulas 
 
Audience Present:   Rob Apatoff, Vicki Apatoff, Elisa Bartels, Beth Bishop, Kitty Bliss,  Carl 
Buccellato, Kate Casale MacNally, Rowan MacNally, Eve MacNally, Helen Cassin, T. 
Charbonneau,  Patrick Coonan, Susan Curry, Layla Danley, Lucas Day, Amanda Day, Arabella 
Day, Chuck Dowding, Sheila Duran, Rick Duran, Cece Durbin, Tim Earle, Peter Eatherton, 
Chris Eilers, Philip Enquist, Rebecca Ferguson, Marc Garrison, Mary Garrison, Sid Glenn, 
Lynn Golden, Kimberly Handler, Pat Heraty, Stephanie Heraty, Susan Hering, Mary Hickey, 
Lynn Jackson, Tom J., Joanna Karatzas, Laura Kastelic, Tom Kehoe, Judy Kehoe, Marianne 
Klein, Elizabeth Lane, Carl Lane, Brian Liechtz,  Anne Madden, Kim Marsh, Essie Mitchell, 
Sherry Molitor, Cha McDaniel,  Beth Mulhern, Lori Mulhern, Alexandra Nichols, Brenna 
Nichols, Robin Oldfield, Bridget Orsic, Holly Raddon,  Mike Ray, John Root,  Jon Shabica,  
Jean B. Schreiber, Rob Schriesheim, G. Seiler, Nanci Shirrell, Don Smith, Irene Smith, Susan 
Snyder, David Stevens, Katie Stevens, Arthur Tokarczyk, Sally Tomlinson,  Rick Ufford, Joan 
Vatz, Linda & Allen Welch, Randy Whitchurch, Peggy Wise, Ted Wynnychenko 
 
Audience Present Via Zoom:  Amy Boyer, Senator Laura Fine, Stephanie Heraty, Rebecca’s 
iPhone, Bob Dearborn, Connie Henry, Julie Peterson, Ben Isabel, Laura Hill, Amy’s iPhone, 
Judith’s iPad 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Commissioner Rapp requested Agenda Item 4. a – “Video Recording of Board Meetings” be 
moved to “New Business”, and “Review of Public Documents on the Website” be added to 

53



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 10 
 

“New Business”. 
 
Commissioner Root stated she might want to make some remarks, as well as a make a 
motion under “New Business”. 
 
REMARKS FROM VISITORS 
Ted Wynnychenko expressed disappointment with what has happened so far.  He feels the 
information is designed to steer people away from public access. 
 
David Stevens expressed astonishment the plan has progressed this far.  He thanked the 
board for their long-term vision, but questioned the effect of this plan on the community. 
 
Rob Schriesheim thanked the board for their efforts to beautify the beach but expressed 
opposition to the wall, stating no such wall exists anywhere. 
 
Chuck Dowding thanked the audience for their participation and the board for their efforts 
to join the beaches.  He shared slides of the lakefront giving an analysis of lake levels. Mr. 
Dowding said he would like to see development happen, but without the wall.  He asked the 
board to look for other solutions. (see attached) 
 
Irene Smith read a statement and requested it be included in the minutes.  Her statement 
posed several questions to the board.  (see attached) 
 
Kate Casale MacNally thanked the board for their dedication.  She expressed support of 
development of the beaches, but not a wall.  She requested the board reconsider the design. 
 
Rob Apatoff stated he is an advocate of joining the beaches, but does not understand the 
efforts to move forward considering the opposition.  He noted he has never seen such an 
issue in the community as big as this. 
 
Brenna Nichols expressed her opposition to the project, stating no one wants this to happen.  
She stated the wealth of one individual should not dictate the actions of the entire 
community.  Ms. Nichols asked the board to terminate the land swap. 
 
Pat Heraty expressed his view there are members of the board who are not considering the 
long-term consequences. He asked if the board wants their legacy to be walls on the beach. 
 
Joanne Karatzas inquired if there has been a site line analysis from the lifeguard chairs for 
monitoring children in the lake.   
 
Katie Stevens expressed strong opposition to the project, specifically the walls.  She 

54



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 10 
 

reiterated a statement made by Commissioner James at a previous meeting that the plan 
would go through without the wall. Ms. Stevens commented on the opposition expressed 
from the Village board and the community.  She concluded by saying the lakefront is not for 
sale, riparian rights go to the water, and the process has not been transparent. 
 
Rebecca Ferguson reported the petition now has 1,302 signatures.  She expressed her 
disbelief the board is still discussing the project when there is such opposition.  Ms. Ferguson 
stated the community wants to understand the motive if there is one so assumptions are not 
made.  She requested the board drop the land swap and submitted the petition to Park 
District attorney Steve Adams. 
 
Phil Enquist referenced a 1918 quote from Montgomery Ward, “the lakefront is a common 
to remain forever open, clear and free of any buildings, or other obstruction whatever.” He 
stated we have a responsibility for future generations to keep the lake open clear and free 
of all obstructions, noting the elevations of the wall are not justifiable. 
 
Lori Mulhern echoed previous comments and expressed support of the plan but not the wall, 
adding it would set a precedent.  She requested the board table the project.  
 
Lynn Golden thanked other speakers and urged residents to continue sharing information 
and working together to stop the plan. 
 
Mark Garrison thanked the board for their stewardship.  He expressed confusion with the 
boards’ support of the project and design. He questioned whether blocking views of the 
lakefront is good stewardship. 
 
Lisa (last name indistinguishable) expressed her opinion that the walls are an abomination, 
and having steel in the lake is against nature.  
 
Stephanie Heraty read a statement on behalf of resident Judy Rauh. (see attached)  
 
Susan Hering stated she lives in Winnetka because of the lakefront. She said open green 
space should not contain large metal structures. 
 
Mary Garrison shared history about 261 Sheridan Road property stating the Park District had 
an opportunity to purchase the property 20 years ago but the community said no to an 
advisory referendum.  She stated the land swap is a good idea but the design is not, and it 
is obvious the community is not interested. 
 
Amy H. (last name indistinguishable) stated it is clear to her the residents do not want the 
walls. She said it feels as if the interests of the community are not being accurately reflected. 

55



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 10 
 

Cece Durbin expressed appreciation for the board’s efforts. The board should be able to 
figure out something the residents will like and that is in the best interest of the village. Ms. 
Durbin asked the board to listen to the community. 
 
Carl Buccelatto echoed comments made previously, adding residents do not want Winnetka 
to be a town of walls.  He asked the board to reflect on the comments made by residents. 
 
Kimberly Handler echoed sentiments previously shared, and added she hopes the board 
takes this decision seriously, as it is a legacy decision. 
 
Vicki Apatoff stated every time she attends a meeting information is shared that had not 
been previously presented.  She thanked the board for recording the meeting.  Ms. Apatoff 
explained some families are too busy to learn about project, and requested the board take 
the presentations to the people.  
 
Alex Nichols stated all the comments made have been very thoughtful and caring.  She is 
appalled the plan has changed from the previously approved plan and hopes the board will 
do the right thing. 
 
Joan Vatz stated her entire family objects to the plans and hopes the board is listening to 
the community. 
 
Peter Eatherton thanked the audience for their comments. He referenced the Park District 
mission and asked the board to follow the mission, listen to the community, and reassess 
plan. 
 
Chris Eilers questioned if has anyone has considered lifesaving measures given the walls in 
the proposed design. 
 
Mary Hickey expressed opposition and urged the board to find a practical solution; the park 
is beautiful and should stay that way with unobstructed views. 
 
Rick Ufford shared an example of a difficult negotiation and the positive impact of the 
resulting decision.  He stated a dollar value cannot be placed on views of the lake, and asked 
the board to recognize the intrinsic value of the lake. 
 
Commissioner James thanked the audience for their comments. 
There was a short break from 7:40 pm – 7:45 pm. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
Executive Director Peterson acknowledged several emails and news articles included in the 

56



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 10 
 

packet, as well as items received after the packet was posted.  He noted the packet on the 
website would be updated to include these items once the personal information was 
redacted.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Petition Requesting Removal of Metal Barriers from Elder + Centennial Beach Plan 
Executive Director Peterson explained the petition in the packet was given to the board at 
the May 26, 2022 meeting. 
 
Commissioner Seaman commended the audience for caring.  He stated their input is a critical 
part of the process.  
 
Commissioner Rapp noted more than 1,300 people signed the petition which is more than 
the number of people who completed the Caucus survey. It is a sign for the board to listen. 
 
Commissioner Root said the board should take the time to read and acknowledge the work 
done by Rebecca Ferguson to educate the community about how to submit public comment.  
She added it is the Park District’s responsibility to provide this information. 
 
Commissioner James acknowledged the petition and number of signatures.  He expressed 
his respect for the objections but wished the petition represented the louver design more 
fairly.   
 
Commissioner Rapp asked if Vicki Apatoff’s email would be read for the record, as requested.  
Executive Director Peterson replied the concerns raised by Ms. Apatoff are being addressed 
and her letter will be added to the board packet along with other communications.  
 
Pending IDNR/USACE Breakwater Permit Application/Public Related to the Project 
Commissioner James told the audience the board is listening to all comments.  He noted the 
board would not be taking any action at this meeting given the absence of two board 
members. Commissioner James informed the audience that all documents reviewed at the 
meeting would be added to the website. 
 
Commissioner James explained this discussion began in 2020, prior to Commissioners Root 
and Rapp joining the board.   Commissioner Root clarified that upon joining the board she 
asked to review all files related to the property exchange.  She explained that despite her 
efforts there was no way to come up to speed. There were no diagrams, plans, or evidence 
of design in the file. 
 
Commissioner James began a review and explanation of prior board presentations with the 
intent to explain the evolution of the design.  Slides dated April 8, 2021, May 12, 2021, May 

57



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 10 
 

18, 2021, June 2, 2021, August 26, 2021 and September 9, 2021 were reviewed and 
discussed. 
 
Commissioner Rapp noted her attendance at the April 8, 2021 Zoom meeting and asked to 
listen to the audio recordings of the open and closed meetings of April 8, 2021.   
 
Commissioner Seaman asked if the slides were on the website. Commissioner Root asked 
why the diagram from April 8, 2021 was not part of the minutes of that meeting.  She 
added she has made several requests to add documents to the website, noting they still 
have not been posted.  She expressed concern the Park District is not being transparent.   
 
Commissioner Seaman read a statement expressing his view on the process (see attached).  
He added it is presumptuous of Commissioner James to state the board would not make any 
decisions at this meeting. Commissioner James clarified his remark saying he wanted the 
audience to know the board would not be making any decisions to move forward. 
Upon being asked the purpose of showing the slides, Commissioner James responded he is 
trying to show the history of the process. 
 
Commissioners Seaman, Rapp and Root each stated they had not previously seen some of 
the presentations being shown, adding they should have been in the meeting records.   
 
Commissioner Root questioned the status of the property exchange agreement, referring to 
Section 4 of the agreement. She pointed out the Park District does not have the deed to the 
property.  Commissioner Root noted the minutes of November 2020 show work had begun 
on design plans.  The minutes also reflect a joint effort to work on the design.  Commissioner 
Root questioned the authority of ongoing negotiations without a valid contract.  
 
Park District attorney Adams addressed Commissioner Root’s points and shared his belief 
the contract is still in effect.   He added the negotiations related to the breakwater design 
are separate from the contract. 
 
Discussion continued with Commissioners Root, Rapp and Seaman expressing frustration 
with the process, perceived lack of transparency, need for confidentiality, ongoing 
expenditures, and no property deed. Commissioner James explained reiterated there were 
certain things that could not be discussed publicly.   
 
The slide review continued, showing the evolution of the plan design and the thought 
processes employed.  Commissioners Seaman, Rapp and Root questioned the need to discuss 
the process, and expressed their disinterest in continuing to review the slides.  
  
Commissioner James referenced the August 2021 board meeting, noting it focused on the 

58



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 7 of 10 
 

dog beach and efforts to relocate the dog beach.  The result was the formation of a dog 
beach advisory committee. 
 
Commissioner Root referenced the August 26, 2021 minutes and clarified her recollection 
of the discussion surrounding the motions made at that meeting. 
 
Commissioner Seaman again expressed his disinterest in continuing to review the slides. 
 
Commissioner James continued his review of slides depicting pictures of properties with 
fences along the lakeshore.  He noted each state interprets the Public Trust Doctrine 
differently as it pertains to public access.  Commissioner Root note many of the fences were 
installed after a permit was obtained. 
 
Commissioner James responded to a question from Susan Curry about the mechanical 
benefit of louvers above the rock.   Benefits include erosion control, keeping dogs and 
humans on public property, and fall protection. 
 
Commissioner Root made a motion for the Winnetka Park District to withdraw its joint 
applications for permit currently pending with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources 
and the United States Army Corps of Engineers so that we can review the design that has 
been requested for permit, and that we can incorporate the desires and comments that have 
been very well vocalized by this community. Commissioner Rapp seconded the motion.   
 
Commissioner James then made a motion to table the previous motion so all board members 
could have the opportunity to speak. Commissioner Archambault seconded the motion.    
 
Park District attorney Steve Adams clarified the priority of motions, noting the motion to 
table the previous motion takes precedence over the initial motion. 
 
Commissioner Root stated she made her motion because she feels there is a need to sever 
the joint filing of applications.  She questioned the legitimacy of the agreement, and 
expressed interest in a bilateral agreement.  
 
Park District attorney Adams explained he has deferred his interpretation of the contract to 
preserve the rights of the board.  
 
A roll call vote was taken on Commissioner James’ motion to table the motion to withdraw 
the joint application for permit. 
Ayes: Archambault, James  
Nays: Rapp, Root, Seaman 
Motion failed 

59



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 8 of 10 
 

In response to a question from Commissioner Seaman, Park District attorney Adams 
explained the Park District could unilaterally withdraw the application for permit, but there 
may be implications. 
 
Commissioner Archambault acknowledged the Park District would still have the option to 
remove the wall from the design if the permit was approved.  He suggested the board wait 
on a motion to withdraw the permit.   
 
Park District attorney Adams recommended the board wait until after closed session to vote 
on withdrawing the permit.  Commissioner James asked the board to consider waiting.  
Commissioner Seaman replied he does not want to wait. 
 
Commissioner James explained both the north and south groin are on park district property.  
With or without the center property, the groins could be built, consistent with the lakefront 
plan.  Commissioner James asked the board to allow him to make an alternate motion to 
remove the louvers. His request was denied by Commissioners Root, Rapp and Seaman.  A 
roll call vote was taken on Commissioner Root’s motion to withdraw the joint application 
for permit. 
Ayes: Rapp, Root, Seaman 
Nays: Archambault, James 
Motion carried 
 
Commissioner Seaman made a motion to begin Agenda Item 7, “Remarks from Visitors”.  
Commissioner Root seconded the motion.  By a voice vote, motion carried 
 
REMARKS FROM VISITORS 
Mary Garrison stated the safety issues at Elder should be addressed. 
 
Rob Apatoff acknowledged the difficult position of the board and stated all the work will 
pay off in the end. 
 
Rick Duran referenced a private Malibu homeowner inaccurately representing a private 
beach, and the resulting lawsuit.  He acknowledged certain states have different 
interpretations than Illinois of the Public Trust Doctrine and inquired why the board would 
try to create a private beach without public access.   Mr. Duran noted the idea of selling the 
public’s trust in closed session and understanding the process better should not be the 
purpose of this meeting. 
 
Joanna Karatzas questioned the hydraulic purpose of the proposed fence, referencing a 
previous statement from Commissioner James that the fence was to minimize the amount 
of stone used. 

60



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 9 of 10 
 

John Root questioned the justification for planting trees, noting they would also be a visual 
barrier.  
 
Name indistinguishable -  said the drawings show no indication of the location of the water 
intake.  He suggested new pipes be installed. 
 
Krysia Miller stated limited input was received for the development of the lakefront 
masterplan. She questioned the amount of money to be spent, and expressed her opinion 
there only needs to be a groin on the south to capture sand. Ms. Miller suggested more sand 
be brought in to create a natural beach. 
 
Chuck Dowding questioned why a breakwater like the one at Lloyd would not be replicated 
at Centennial given the success at Lloyd.  He asked the board to revisit the 2030 plan. 
 
Katie Stevens expressed her feelings about the process, saying the community, and several 
members of the board, feel there was no transparency about the louvers. She questioned 
how the permit could be submitted for a plan when the public did not know there was a 
plan, and the design information was not made available. Ms. Stevens stated it is likely that 
many people would support a new plan without a fence.  
 
Mary Garrison commented on the design of the Kenilworth beach and the amount of sand. 
 
Michelle Kachevsky spoke on behalf of the young people who could not sign the petition, 
but opposed the proposed design.  
 
Vicki Apatoff expressed her gratitude to the three board members who spoke up against the 
plan.  She said Commissioner James should not takes this personally, stating she and others 
only want what is best for Winnetka. 
 
Commissioner James expressed his passion for the project.  He only wanted the board to 
take a time out to give Mr. Ishbia the opportunity to do the right thing. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
Commissioner Seaman made a motion at 9:30 p.m. to adjourn the special meeting. 
Commissioner Root seconded the motion.   A roll call vote was taken.  
Ayes: Archambault, James, Rapp, Root, Seaman 
Nays: None 
Motion carried 
 
 
 

61



Special Meeting Minutes 
June 9, 2022 
 

Page 10 of 10 
 

The following documents are attached and included in the minutes of this meeting: 
• Petition Requesting the Removal of Metal Barriers from the Elder + Centennial Beach Plan, 

dated June 9, 2022 
• Presentation and pictures submitted to the Board by Chuck Dowding June 9, 2022 
• Comments submitted to the Board by Irene Smith June 9, 2022 
• Comments submitted to the Board on behalf of Judy Rauh June 9, 2022 
• Comments submitted to the Board by Commissioner David Seaman June 9, 2022 
• Comments submitted to the Board by Rob Schriesheim June 9, 2022 

 
 
 
 
_________________________________________   ____________________________________ 
John Peterson, Board Secretary    Date Approved 

62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



Lake level 580 on 31 May according to ACE
According to spread sheet apparently used by Lakota the top of louvers was 596 at 40 feet out from wall by the stairs 
Thus the top of the louvers at person in lower photo is 16 feet above the person’s feet (the red line) & 11 feet above 585 
The upper drawing was probably an earlier plan as I’m sure there have been many. 

596

585

Analysis of information in petition

104



Much of the movie was produced with a view 
from an elevation that is greater than 1500 feet above the water
When the beach is shown in Google Earth with the encircled beach house of a similar size
Google Earth indicates that the elevation of the viewer is at 1623 feet. 

105



Planting Beds (Boxes) are artificial fill onto which the 6.5 ft fence will be  added.
This artificial fill violates the Village Fence Ordenance which states 
fences may be no higher than 6.5 feet above the natural grade
Other forms of fill in project include the rubble stone piles and trucked in sand

106



At the 26 May meeting, 
the  view from the boardwalk was described as allowing a view along the beach
It appears the boardwalk is some 6 feet above the beach probably around 585 + 6 = 591
20 Feet out from the back of the boardwalk the top of the louver is 596
Thus even on the elevated board walk the long shore view will still be blocked  

107



Description of the top elevation of the louvers at south boundary 
employed to produce drawing of the wavy top of the louvers
A beach elevation of 587 does not match the 585 elevation in Shabica Figure 8 in slide 7 

108



Guard rails (Louvers) are 6.5 feet high and 
sit on top of the planter boxes or rubble stone piles for 
a combined height of 13 feet above the original  ground surface or 
10 to 12 feet above trucked in sand, which will bring the beach elevation up to 585
According to Figure 8 of Shabica  

109



Plan of beach fill (?) as of 11 April 2022. 
Sand-water edge is currently at 580 as shown in first slide

585

110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



121



122



123



124



125



From: Warren James
To: Hulvalchick, Alexandra
Cc: John Peterson; Libby Baker; Molly Krohe; Christina Codo
Subject: Re: Centennial/Elder
Date: Saturday, July 23, 2022 8:48:35 AM

Good morning, Alexandra,

Thank you for your interest in the planning for Elder/Centennial parks and beaches in
Winnetka.   As discussed at the regular board meeting on Thursday, 7/21, our next regular
board meeting is scheduled for 8/18, and we expect to continue the planning efforts at a
special board meeting/workshop session, tentatively set for 8/25/22.

The minutes of closed session meeting are posted on the WPD website along with many other
documents pertaining to Elder/Centennial planning.

Best regards,

Warren James
Commissioner

P: (847) 501-2040
E: wjames@winpark.org

Winnetka Park District | winpark.org

From: Hulvalchick, Alexandra <ahulvalchick@chicagotribune.com>
Sent: Friday, July 22, 2022 3:25 PM
To: Warren James
Subject: Centennial/Elder
 
Hello President James,

I was just hoping to ask a few questions about where the Centennial/Elder project will go from
here and what the next steps are.

I was also wondering if the closed session minutes have been posted and if not when that
would be. 

When you get a chance, please feel free to reach out to me anytime via email of phone at

126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



From: Ted Wynnychenko
To: John Peterson
Subject: OMA Request for Review
Date: Sunday, July 31, 2022 10:38:14 AM
Attachments: 20220731 PAC OMA Request for Review.pdf

Hi John

So, I am forwarding a request I just sent to the PAC.

I am guessing you will get it from them in a week.

I am sorry to use the park district as the example, but, I really was
unhappy at how things played out on 7/21 when I tried to give comment.

I really think this is something the AG should address on a wider scale, and
that's why I went the PAC route, even though I am guessing they won't.

Otherwise, I would have just reached out to you and Warren directly about
this.

Thanks (and Sorry),
Ted

137



Theodore Wynnychenko 
 

   
 
 
 
July 31, 2022 
 
 
 
Public Access Counselor 
Office of the Attorney General 
500 S. 2nd Street 
Springfield, Illinois 62706 
 
 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL:  publicaccess@atg.state.il.us 
 
 
 
Public Access Counselor: 
 
Please accept this correspondence as a formal Request for Review under 
the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/3(a)). 
 
I am troubled by the fact that units of local government continue to 
disregard your determination in PAC No. 14-009 (dated September 4, 
2014), either explicitly or implicitly, and “request” that persons 
wishing to provide public comment state their home address in order to 
do so. 
 
As your office recently acknowledged, units of local government 
continue to request an address despite the fact that they should not 
(“In this office's educational capacity, this office notes that the 
Attorney General has issued a binding opinion which concluded that 
‘requiring speakers to state their home addresses prior to addressing 
public bodies violates section 2.06(g) of OMA, even if such a rule is 
established and recorded by the public body.’ Ill. Att'y Gen. Pub. 
Acc. Op. No. 14-009, at 7,” Permanent File No. 2021 PAC 68199). 
 
Recently, I attended a meeting of the Winnetka Park District Board of 
Commissioners (“Board”) on July 21, 2022, and provided public comment 
at that meeting. 
 
The Board does not require that speakers provide their address in 
published guidance (available at:  https://www.winpark.org/wp-
content/uploads/WPD-Policy-Manual-Adopted-2019-1.pdf), but only their 
name. 
 
However, the haphazard adherence to your determination in PAC 14-009 
by this and other local units of government has resulted in a public 

138



139



From: John Peterson
To: Warren James; Steven Adams; Libby Baker
Subject: FW: OMA Request for Review
Date: Monday, August 1, 2022 10:42:27 AM
Attachments: OMA Request for Review.msg

image005.png
image006.png

FYI only.  Thanks.
 
John Peterson
Executive Director
Office:  +1.847.501.2074
Email:  jpeterson@winpark.org 
Winnetka Park District | winpark.org

 
From: John Peterson 
Sent: Monday, August 1, 2022 10:42 AM
To: 
Subject: RE: OMA Request for Review
 

Good morning, Ted.
 
Thank you for your email and for attaching the letter you sent to the Public
Access Counselor.
 
In response to your communications, we regret another meeting visitor
interrupted you as you addressed the Winnetka Park District board of
commissioners during the July 21 Committee of the Whole / Regular Board
meeting.  While the other visitor made impromptu, unexpected comments at
the beginning of your public comments, we are appreciative of your insights
and comments, be it the July 21, 2022 meeting or other Winnetka Park District
board meetings.
 
I agree with you - - an impromptu interruption, be it from another meeting
visitor, a Park District staff member, or a Park District commissioner - - should

140



not happen in any board meeting, be it a Park District board meeting or with
any other governmental entity.  In this instance, while another meeting visitor
interrupted you, I was grateful you continued to provide your comments during
the first of two “Remarks from Visitors” segments of the July 21 meeting.
 
The Park District will ensure the preamble to the “Remarks from Visitors”
segments in each meeting continues to clearly state the meeting visitor only
needs to state her/his name*.  We also will adhere to the three-minute limit for
each visitor, and we will ask each visitor to address the board only, not any
other visitor attending the meeting.  We will add a sentence to the preamble to
ask each meeting visitor to not interrupt any other meeting visitor at any point
in the meeting, be it during the “Remarks from Visitors” segments or
otherwise.
 
Thank you, Ted, for your email communication and for your letter to the Public
Access Counselor.  Please call or email if I can be of any assistance to you, if you
have any questions, or if you require additional information.
 
Kind regards.
 
*  Remarks from Visitors preamble for July 21:  “If someone has a slide
presentation to share please announce for the ‘home’ audience that the screen
may be blurry – the presentation will become part of the meeting minutes and
will be posted upon approval.” [NOTE:  This sentence is announced and the
language is more of a reminder for President James to speak as opposed to
something he reads word-for-word.]

 
“As a part of remarks from visitors, you are welcome to speak on any issue. 
When called upon to address the board, step up to the podium, and state your
name for the record.  Keep all comments under three minutes.  This is not a
question and answer forum, so please do not expect a response or answer
from the Park Board this evening.  If you prefer to share your comments in
writing, you may use the ‘comment cards’ which are available near the sign in
sheets.  Any Park District staff will accept your card to be shared with the
board.” [NOTE:  This segment is read word-for-word by President James.]

141



 

John Peterson
Executive Director
Office:  +1.847.501.2074
Email:  jpeterson@winpark.org 
Winnetka Park District | winpark.org

-----Original Message-----
From: Ted Wynnychenko 
Sent: Sunday, July 31, 2022 10:38 AM
To: John Peterson <JPeterson@winpark.org>
Subject: OMA Request for Review
 
Hi John
 
So, I am forwarding a request I just sent to the PAC.
 
I am guessing you will get it from them in a week.
 
I am sorry to use the park district as the example, but, I really was unhappy at how things played out
on 7/21 when I tried to give comment.
 
I really think this is something the AG should address on a wider scale, and that's why I went the PAC
route, even though I am guessing they won't.
 
Otherwise, I would have just reached out to you and Warren directly about this.
 
Thanks (and Sorry),
Ted
 

142



143



144



145



146



A plan to add a 500-foot walking path and more to Langdon Beach was walked back by Wilmette park commissioners.

Wilmette, News

Park Board takes step back on
Langdon Beach stabilization plan
By Kate Linderman | 11:51 a.m. August 9, 2022

Subscribe Donate

Log In ! Search "

Towns ! Topics ! Podcasts Newsletters Contact Us

147

https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
javascript://
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


!  !  #

Plans to renovate and protect

the Langdon Beach shoreline

are going backward following

park commissioner and

resident feedback at the

Wilmette Park Board meeting

on Monday night.

The project was set to enter the

bidding and permitting phase;

however, commissioners sent

engineering firm SmithGroup

back to the drawing board with

less-elaborate ideas.

Three concepts were presented

to the board in January, when

commissioners decided to

move forward with Concept C,

which included an ADA-

compliant slope, a viewing

!
The Record is a nonprofit,
community news site from

former editors of 22nd
Century Media

Our daily coverage of your government,
schools, businesses and neighbors is not

possible without your support.

Donate

Latest

Wilmette, News

Displaced by Wayfair plans, H
Marion on the move to Hubbard
Woods
By Joe Coughlin | 2 hours ago

Highland Park, Community

Shooting survivor Cooper Roberts,
8, moves to rehab center and plans
to return to school this year
By Joe Coughlin | 1 day ago

Winnetka, News

'You Have To Do Something And I
Believe You Will': Residents plead
with Winnetka trustees to join fight

148

https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


compliant slope, a viewing

platform with stairs to access

the beach and a long concrete

walkway. 

But on Monday, Aug. 8,

commissioners walked that

back.

At the meeting, both residents

and commissioners expressed

their concerns that the chosen

concept would be too unnatural

for the area and more could be

done with less.

“I think some of the things I’m

seeing and hearing today are

going to destroy what we have

as a valuable asset, which we

don’t really respect when I see

pads and cement and stairs,”

said resident Dean Lindsay,

who lives near Langdon. 

with Winnetka trustees to join fight
against gun violence
By Joe Coughlin | 1 day ago

The Record: Shortcut

Don’t miss a thing. Sign up for The
Record’s weekly recap newsletter
featuring the top headlines of the past
week.

Enter your e-mail

Submit

149

https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


A diagram of Concept B, the preferred base plan for the
Langdon Shoreline Stabilization Project.

Langdon Beach, which is

connected to Langdon Park at

Sheridan Road and Chestnut

Avenue, opened to the public in

2007, but over time, Lake

Michigan’s rising water levels

and local stormwater eroded

the beach and bluff at the site.

In 2018, the park district

created a 10-foot-wide path

down the dune in order to keep

the beach open; however,

erosion continued and shrank

150

https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


erosion continued and shrank

the path down to 3 feet. Access

to the beach was restricted

indefinitely in 2019.

A#er record-highs in 2020, the

water levels began to recede,

leading the park district to

consider ways to safely restore

beach access by fortifying the

bluff and adding pathways to

the beachfront.

Public commenters, including

Lindsey, on Monday were

concerned about the health of

the bluff. He and other

residents advocated for enough

work to be done to stabilize the

bluff but asked the district then

preserve the park’s natural state

and decrease costs.

The engineers present at the

151

https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


The engineers present at the

meeting told the board that the

construction of the revetment —

which Commissioner Ali

Frazier noted must cut into the

land to protect it and thus alter

the park’s aesthetic — will

stabilize the bluff.

The concerns presented

throughout the meeting pushed

commissioners to pivot to

another concept with a few

modifications. According to

park documents, the newly

preferred plan — Concept B —

features a non-ADA beach-

access path of 258 feet, about

half the length of the path in

Concept C (500 feet). The path

would include an

overlook/resting area atop the

bluff.

Commissioner Lindsay

152

https://pico.link/therecord/checkout
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


Commissioner Lindsay

Anderson said the board needs

to strike the right balance and

Concept C — which was

originally preferred by

commissioners — was not it.

“I believe we absolutely have to

preserve and protect the

character of our parks, and as

soon as we start developing and

paving and we can never get

that back,” she said. “I

recognize that, but at the same,

we have had extensive

conversations about protection

and stabilization and safety and

access.”

The motion passed a#er three

hours of discussion, and

modified concepts will be

presented at a later date. 

The Record is a nonprofit,

153

https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Park+Board+takes+step+back+on+Langdon+Beach+stabilization+plan&url=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
mailto:?subject=Park%20Board%20takes%20step%20back%20on%20Langdon%20Beach%20stabilization%20plan&body=https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/kate-linderman/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/11/displaced-by-wayfair-plans-h-marion-on-the-move-to-hubbard-woods/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/joe-coughlin/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/towns/wilmette/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/topics/news/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/10/wilmette-adds-5-affordable-housing-locations-10-more-on-the-way/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


The Record is a nonprofit,

nonpartisan community

newsroom that relies on reader

support to fuel its independent

local journalism.

Subscribe to The Record to fund

responsible news coverage for your

community.

Already a subscriber? You can

make a tax-deductible donation at

any time.

!  !  #

Tags  Wilmette  News

Kate Linderman

Related Stories

154

https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/editor/peterkaspari/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/about-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-team/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/our-supporters/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/podcasts
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/contact-us/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/2022/08/09/park-board-takes-step-back-on-langdon-beach-stabilization-plan/?vgo_ee=5ESJ3Ig2%2FQkShlKTMiyqlIvy7T5YEJ8ohjC9vauJg30%3D#
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/
https://twitter.com/therecordns
https://www.instagram.com/therecordns/
https://www.facebook.com/therecordns/
https://www.paypal.com/donate/?hosted_button_id=GLNUXTEZCYFGN
https://www.subtextinc.com/
https://www.therecordnorthshore.org/privacy-policy/


Winnetka Park District 

Board Summary 

Date: August 11, 2022 

 

To: Board of Commissioners 

 

Subject: Winnetka Youth Organization Presentation 

 

From: Kyle Berg, Superintendent of Recreation 

 

Summary 

The Winnetka Youth Organization has historically provided leadership, citizenship, and educational 

opportunities for the Winnetka adolescent community. WYO has the potential to impact the 

Winnetka adolescent community in a manner that is beyond the scope of current Park District 

programming. In recent years, the Winnetka Park District has contributed financially to the WYO to 

support its mission within the Winnetka community. 

 

Previous financial contributions have been approved by the WPD Board of Commissioners annually 

after a presentation by the WYO Executive Director or appointed representative. Financial 

contribution from 2015 – 2020 was as follows: 
 

 2015 – $15,000 

 2016 – $15,000 

 2017 – $15,000 

 2018 – $20,000 

 2019 – $20,000 

 2020 – $10,000 

 

Financial contributions were halted from 2021 to present as the WYO adjusted programming and 

underwent a change in leadership.  

 

END 

155



The Winnetka Youth Organization

156



History
● Founded in 1969
● Teen Drop-In Center
● Meant to provide teens a 

substance-free space to 
participate in recreational activities

● Located in the lower level of the 
Winnetka Community House

157



“Teen’s Second Home”
Our Mission: To foster individual development in adolescents by 
providing adult-to-youth mentoring with opportunities for leadership, 
citizenship and education within a positive encouraging environment.

“I just wanted to take the time to say thank you. I am grateful to have 
been given this opportunity to speak with you and a few of my 
classmates. I wanted to say thanks for the words of encouragement. I 
feel that I don’t get that often, it feels good. Thank you for asking us 
questions and keeping the conversation authentic. Thank you for 
investing your time in me, and listening to what I had to say.” -Sierra 

“I learned more about myself and how much experience and skills I 
have. I never really noticed how much I’ve grown.” -Jennifer 

158



What We 
Do

The WYO team centers on the teen 
and aims to keep our space safe, 
welcoming, and programming 
relatable.

159



Our staff
● Executive Director
● Youth Worker Interns,

Social work graduate students

160



Leadership groups Education & culture 

161



Recreation Social service 

162



Music & performance “The burne” (7th-8th)

163



Our 
impact

Total teen contacts by age/location 
(FY 2021-2022):

● Year-in-review: May 2021 - May 2022 
attendance total (duplicated #’s: In-person 
and virtual): 977

● 2021-2022 school year: ~250 community 
service hours fulfilled for peer jury

164



Collaboration

165



The future belongs to our youth How to Become an Influencer

● Mentoring

● Career Coaching

● Entrepreneurship 

● Business Development 

● Confidence building

● Organization & Time Management

● Etc. 

166



167



 

 

  Winnetka Park District 
  Lakefront Workshop Meeting Schedule 
 

 
The Winnetka Park District is continuing to engage with Winnetka residents for comments, questions, 
and design input within a workshop format to finalize the Elder Lane Beach and Centennial Beach 
improvement plans.  
 
With public commentary provided during May and June board meetings, the Winnetka Park District 
board of commissioners and staff hosted a special board meeting + workshop session Monday, July 18, 
2022, which included an onsite meeting at Centennial Beach, an onsite meeting at Lloyd Beach, and a 
workshop meeting at Hubbard Woods School auditorium. Given the value of the July 18 meeting, Park 
District staff has prepared a timeline and meeting schedule to finalize the first phase of the lakefront 
improvements at Elder Lane and Centennial. 
 
Our goal is to continue working collaboratively with residents to finalize a plan. We will host additional 
workshop session(s) to arrive at a plan that meets Winnetka Park District commissioners’ approval 
which will then be submitted to the various regulatory agencies for their review, which will include 
another public comment period. Of particular note, the Winnetka Park District will be listed as the sole 
applicant for each permit submittal.  
 
The Park District will digitally provide a variety of options, along with a list of criteria in advance of the 
next workshop session to be held at the Hubbard Woods School Thursday, August 25 at 6:00pm. 
 
Key dates associated with the Elder Lane Beach and Centennial Beach breakwater projects include: 
 
July 2022 

• July 18, 2022:  Onsite shoreline meeting at Centennial Beach, onsite shoreline meeting at Lloyd 
Beach, and a workshop meeting at Hubbard Woods School. 

• July 21, 2022:  Additional breakwater design input from meeting attendees. 
 
August 2022 

• August 18, 2022:  Winnetka Park District’s Committee of the Whole + Regular Board Meeting at 
the Carleton Washburne School and via the Zoom platform at 6pm. 
o A variety of breakwater design concepts and a list of criteria will be made available online 

near the August 18 meeting. This content will be presented and reviewed during the August 
25, 2022 Special Board Meeting Workshop Session.  

• August 25, 2022:  Winnetka Park District’s Special Board Meeting Workshop Session at the 
Hubbard Woods School and via the Zoom platform at 6pm. 
o Breakwater design concepts will be reviewed and discussed by the public, the Park District 

commissioners, the Park District staff, and any consultants attending the meeting. These 
concepts will be made available via the Park District’s website in advance of the meeting. 

 

168



 

 

September 2022 

• September 8, 2022:  During the Committee of the Whole/Special Board Meeting, and using the 
input from the July and August meetings, staff will present to the Board the breakwater design 
for Elder Lane Beach and the breakwater design for Centennial Beach. (Meeting location TBD)  

• September 15, 2022:  Special Board Meeting Workshop Session (ONLY IF NECESSARY) 

• September 22, 2022:  Regular Park Board Meeting (Meeting location TBD)  
 
October 2022 

• October 13, 2022:  Regular Park Board Meeting (Meeting location TBD)  

• October 20, 2022:  Special Board Meeting Workshop Session (ONLY IF NECESSARY) 

• October 27, 2022:  Regular Park Board Meeting (Meeting location TBD)  
 
An updated timeline will be developed if more meetings are required. 
 
Lakefront design materials for the workshop session(s) will be posted one week prior to the 
workshop(s) under the Elder Lane + Centennial Project header of the Waterfront 2030 landing page on 
the Winnetka Park District’s website: https://www.winpark.org/park-district-info/plans-
projects/waterfront-2030/.  

169

https://www.winpark.org/park-district-info/plans-projects/waterfront-2030/
https://www.winpark.org/park-district-info/plans-projects/waterfront-2030/


From: John Peterson
To: Libby Baker
Subject: FW: Submission of Dowding Elder Now plans
Date: Tuesday, August 16, 2022 11:23:13 AM
Attachments: Elder now plan II.pdf

2 Aug 22 Dowding design principles.pdf
Detailed Issues to be explored before workshop.pdf
Landfills masquerading as planter pockets to enable vegetation barriers.pdf
image002.png

 
 
John Peterson
Executive Director
Office:  +1.847.501.2074
Email:  jpeterson@winpark.org 
Winnetka Park District | winpark.org

 
From: Charles Dowding  
Sent: Tuesday, August 9, 2022 5:48 PM
To: Warren James <WJames@winpark.org>; Christina Codo <CCodo@winpark.org>; Mickey
Archambault <MArchambault@winpark.org>; Eric Lussen <ELussen@winpark.org>; Cynthia Rapp
<cyrapp@winpark.org>; Colleen Root <CRoot@winpark.org>; David Seaman
<DSeaman@winpark.org>; Costa Kutulas <CKutulas@winpark.org>; John Peterson
<JPeterson@winpark.org>
Subject: Submission of Dowding Elder Now plans
 
Dear Members of the Winnetka Park District Board, John Peterson and Costa Kutulas.
 
I am submitting  this Elder Now plan with detailed questions and issues to all of you because  I could
not find a means for submission of alternative plans for Elder Centennial Beach rejuvenation before
the workshop.  It is a plan for proceeding without foreclosing any future options that results in a
swimmable beach at Elder.  
 
There are 4 separate 1 page PDF documents
1)           An illustrated Elder Now plan
2)           My design principles
3)           Questions and Issues that arose during my investigation of the feasibility of the Elder Now
plan
4)           A graphic illustration of the enormity of the almost 1/6 acre lot size landfills
(mischaracterized as planter pockets)
 

170



Chuck Dowding

171



Elder Now Plan to produce swimmable beach without foreclosing options 
Observations 
I  As a first step avoid use of stone breakwater by relying on the bluff stabilization devices now in place which withstood 
the last high lake level. With lake at its average level (580) there is less urgency than at Lloyd.  
II Some/many feel that Lloyd has too much sand and the elevation 591 or even the proposed Elder 589, 300 foot long 
breakwater produce a 11 or 9 ft wall at the water’s edge when at the average (and present) lake level of 580  
 

• Leave in place sheet pile groin at boundary between 
Elder/261 (elevation ~ 583) at southern end of 300 feet 
on drawing to right 

o Preserves view south at average lake level of 
580 

o Allows for modest addition of sand to enlarge 
Elder beach if necessary  

o Can be removed at later date if necessary 
• Build pollution reduction devices for Village storm 

sewer outfall already designed by Burke 
• Revisit outfall discharge design; Why diffuser?  
• Replace present design of two, 3 ft diameter storm 

water pipes with one 4 ft diameter pipe. This 4 footer 
provides 14% additional capacity compared to the 3 ft 
and 2.25 ft Village pipes coming to Elder.  

• In surf zone, encase outfall pipe in sheet pile protection 
with maximum height of sheet piles equal to present 
groin height of 583. See drawing on right 

• Beyond surf zone bury pipe in clay trench  
200 ft out as presently planned or 
350  ft to extend to deeper water for greater 

 dilution and long shore drift flow 
• Demolish pier housing present outfall pipe in middle of 

beach 
• Build ramp in such a manner to take advantage of the new 

north sheet pile groin that encases/protects the outfall 
pipe. 

• Now have some 400 ft beach to repurpose according to new 
post Lloyd use patterns 

• Add beach sand if necessary 
• Go swimming 
• Continue negotiating with Ishbia  
• Add stone breakwater if necessary  

 
 

300 

Pier housing present 
storm sewer outfall 

New outfall Pipe on lake bed w/out stone breakwater 

 

 

261 Sheridan 
between E-C 

 

261 Sheridan 
 

172



Dowding Design Principles (2 Aug, 2022)  
• Beginning construction to rejuvenate Elder in 2023 is important 
• Recognize that the 2030 plan included development with and without ownership of 261 
• Recognize that average lake level is 580  
• Recognize that rejuvenated Lloyd beach breakwater with top elevation of 591 presents an 11 ft 

visual barrier when sitting at the average lake level – 580; a top elevation breakwater of 589 at 
E-C would present a 9 ft visual barrier.  

• Recognize that Elder and Centennial bluffs already have adequate bluff erosion protection since 
they withstood the 2020 max elevation of 582.5.   

• No plan will include landfills (misnamed planter pockets) of any size. They will be employed to 
grow plant based physical and visual barriers to public land. IDNR acceptance of land fill of Lake 
Michigan as erosion protection will allow riparian owners to reduce public access to public land 
along 64 miles of Illinois Lake Michigan shoreline.   

 

 

173



 
Questions and Issues related to an Elder Now plan 
 
Questions and issues below have arisen during my investigation of the feasibility of the more detailed, 
Aug 8, Elder Now plan that accompanies this list of issues. I had submitted a less detailed plan to W. 
James and J. Peterson on 2 Aug. These issues are submitted in hopes that Costa Kutulas and I (and 
others if other alternative plans are submitted) can meet between the 18th and the 24th. A meeting 
beforehand could resolve some of these issues off line so that they do not obstruct progress at the 
workshop. I will be out of town from 11 to 24 August so my participation will have to be by zoom, which 
I can set up if necessary.  
Chuck Dowding 
 
Detailed Issues hopefully to be explored before workshop 

1) Are there any borings in the lake/beach at Elder and Centennial to determine the elevation of 
the top of clay along the intended route of the storm water outfall pipe(s)?  

2) The cross sections along the pipe route (AA and BB) of the permit application show the pipe 
invert (bottom) at 579. The lake bottom is at ~575.On what are they resting? There is no bottom 
to these cross sections – why? 

3) Out fall pipe design and placement are critical to moving forward 
a. Has the village supplied flow rate estimates for the 5, 10, 20, 50 and 100 year storms? 
b. If there are only a 2.25 and 3 ft diameter inflow pipe, why are there two 3 ft diameter 

outfall pipes from the treatment boxes? The inflow pipe sizes pollution treatment 
facility will control the quantity of inflow water.   

c. A single 4 ft diameter pipe would allow a 14 % greater flow capacity over the inflow 
volumes. Two 3 ft diameter outfall pipes only supply a 28% greater flow capacity 

4) Has narrow sheet pile surf zone protection of the out fall pipe been considered? Two 
possibilities are shown on drawing on the accompanying 8 Aug Elder Now plan.  

5) Has a trenched into clay outfall pipe route been investigated?  
a. Outside the surf zone simple burial with top of pipe at lake bed surface would be 

sufficient according to the ACE Coastal Engineering Manual  
b. In the surf zone the pipe could be protected with a modification of the permit plan as 

shown by the drawing in the accompanying 8 Aug Elder Now plan.  
c. The pipe should be paced as deep as practicable (top as far below 583 as possible ) for 

protection and to allow placement of low (max height 583-5) rubble stone breakwater 
at a later date. 

d. With or without a rubble stone cover, the pipe will have to be initially placed without 
cover before the rubble stone is placed.  

6) There are 3 limestone quarries with docks for large ships on upper Lake Michigan. There are also 
quarries along the Illinois river that can barge limestone 

a. What are the prices for large rubble blocks from these quarries? These sources 
avoid/reduce road transport. Other contractors have used them.  

7) Why are breakwaters needed? 
a. Elder and Centennial survived the last high water event without them. 
b. What is the cost of the repair of the gabions and sheet piles that severed so well? 

8) Given that Elder and Centennial bluffs remained stable with existing protection devices, what is 
the justification for stone breakwaters to elevation 589?  
 

 

174



Landfills masquerading as planter pockets to enable vegetation barriers 
 
I appreciate that the Winnetka Park District is trying to increase beach access by rejuvenating Elder-Centennial 
parks. Unfortunately by including large landfills (mischaracterized as planter pockets), the WPD is inadvertently 
decreasing beach access along 64 miles of Illinois beaches for many more people for a very long time.  If IDNR 
accepts the landfills shown below, all riparian land owners along 64 miles of Illinois Lake Michigan beach will be 
able to employ vegetation to deny access to public beach. Rosa Rugosa, a dense thorny rose bush shown below, 
will physically block access. In addition each riparian land owner  will be given the ability to fill in approximately 
some 6500 ft sq ( ~ 1/6 acre) of Lake Michigan and probably pay no taxes on that new land. The illustration 
below compares two Centennial landfills associated with the July workshop plan with the foot print of my house.  

 

 

Rosa Rugosa thornss 

175



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 1 | ELDER OPTION 1 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

CENTENNIAL
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REPAIRED (BY OTHERS)

176



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 1 | ELDER OPTION 2 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

CENTENNIAL
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

177



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 1 | ELDER OPTION 3 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

CENTENNIAL
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

178



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 1 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

179



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 2 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

180



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 3 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

181



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 4 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

182



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 5 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

183



© 2022 THE LAKOTA GROUP

ELDER/CENTENNIAL BEACH FEASIBILITY STUDY

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS WORKSHOP DRAFT AUGUST 25, 2022

PROJECT TEAM: 

SPACECO

CBBEL

SHABICA

PREPARED FOR: 

WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT

PHASE 2 | CENTENNIAL OPTION 6 (WORKSHOP DRAFT - FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY)
NORTH

80’20’ 40’0

SCALE: 1”=40’

ELDER 
PARK

261 
SHERIDAN

ACCESS TO BEACH

SHEET PILE (PROPOSED)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE (EXISTING)

SHEET PILE/STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED BLUFF RESTORATION

LEGEND

184



DRAFT

Elder Option 1 

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$   

Removal of gabions 60,000.00$   1 60,000.00$   

Buried Stone Revetment 12 ton per ft. 2,500.00$  160 400,000.00$   

Concrete demo/removal 100.00$   600 60,000.00$   

Bluff Restoration 150,000.00$   1 150,000.00$   

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$   2000 90,000.00$   

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$   26254 157,524.00$   

Pier Repairs (by others)* 400,000.00$   1 400,000.00$   

Total 1,517,524.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 90,000.00$         

Contingency (15%) 227,628.60$  

Total 1,835,152.60$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

*Not included in total.

185



DRAFT

Elder Option 2

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Buried Stone Revetment 12 ton per ft. 2,500.00$       175 437,500.00$       

Concrete demo/removal 100.00$           600 60,000.00$         

Bluff Restoration 150,000.00$   1 150,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             9600 432,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               26254 157,524.00$       

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       300 1,746,000.00$   

15 ton per foot 1/2 breakwater 3,000.00$       100 300,000.00$       

Stone Steps 35 Ton Breakwater 55,000.00$     1 55,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       200 640,000.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$           1700 170,000.00$       

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Relocated Stormwater Outfall 60" LF 600.00$           500 300,000.00$       

Relocated Stormwater Outfall 36" LF 450.00$           650 292,500.00$       

Demo (steel, pier, misc.) 220,000.00$   1 220,000.00$       

Total 5,910,524.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 175,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 886,578.60$      

Total 6,972,102.60$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

186



DRAFT

Elder Option 3

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Buried Stone Revetment 12 ton per ft. 2,500.00$       160 400,000.00$       

Concrete demo/removal 100.00$           600 60,000.00$         

Bluff Restoration 150,000.00$   1 150,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             10800 486,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               26254 157,524.00$       

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       300 1,746,000.00$   

15 ton per foot 1/2 breakwater 3,000.00$       100 300,000.00$       

Stone Steps 35 Ton Breakwater 55,000.00$     1 55,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       420 1,344,000.00$   

Concrete for ramps (Vehicle & Walkway) 100.00$           2120 212,000.00$       

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Relocated Stormwater Outfall 60" LF 600.00$           500 300,000.00$       

Relocated Stormwater Outfall 36" LF 450.00$           650 292,500.00$       

Demo (steel, pier, misc.) 220,000.00$   1 220,000.00$       

Elevate Ipe Boardwalk 200 lf 525,000.00$   1 525,000.00$       

Total 7,198,024.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 200,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 1,079,703.60$   

Total w/ Contingency 8,477,727.60$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

187



DRAFT

Centennial Option 1 

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 25,000.00$     1 25,000.00$         

Removal of Fencing and Wooden Structures 25,000.00$     1 25,000.00$         

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

Extend Stairs 2,000.00$       1 2,000.00$           

Total 212,800.00$       

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 90,000.00$         

Contingency (15%) 31,920.00$         

Total 334,720.00$       

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

188



DRAFT

Centennial Option 2

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Demo (Steel, fencing, wood piles) 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             12000 540,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       250 1,455,000.00$   

Steel Staircase Lump Sum 50,000.00$     1 50,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       228 729,600.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$           812 81,200.00$         

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage (TBD) 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

ADA walkway and connection Lump Sum 300,000.00$   1 300,000.00$       

Total 4,386,600.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 175,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 657,990.00$      

Total 5,219,590.00$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

189



DRAFT

Centennial Option 3

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Demo (Steel, fencing, wood piles) 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             10000 450,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       350 2,037,000.00$   

Granite Staircase Lump Sum 55,000.00$     1 55,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       128 409,600.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$           812 81,200.00$         

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage (TBD) 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

ADA walkway and connection Lump Sum 300,000.00$   1 300,000.00$       

Total 4,563,600.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 175,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 684,540.00$      

Total 5,423,140.00$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

190



DRAFT

Centennial Option 4

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Demo (Steel, fencing, wood piles) 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             12000 540,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       250 1,455,000.00$   

Steel Staircase Lump Sum 25,000.00$     1 25,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       228 729,600.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$          812 81,200.00$         

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage (TBD) 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Park Improvements (walkways and drinking fountain) 110,000.00$   1 110,000.00$       

ADA walkway and connection Lump Sum 300,000.00$   1 300,000.00$       

Total 4,471,600.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 190,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 670,740.00$      

Total 5,332,340.00$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

191



DRAFT

Centennial Option 5

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Demo (Steel, fencing, wood piles) 100,000.00$   1 100,000.00$       

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             12000 540,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       350 2,037,000.00$   

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       128 409,600.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$          812 81,200.00$         

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage (TBD) 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Park Improvements (walkways and drinking fountain) 110,000.00$   1 110,000.00$       

ADA walkway and connection Lump Sum 300,000.00$   1 300,000.00$       

Total 4,708,600.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 190,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 706,290.00$      

Total 5,604,890.00$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

192



DRAFT

Centennial Option 6

Land Based 

Element Description Units Price Qty Total 

Mobilization 600,000.00$   1 600,000.00$       

Demo (Steel, fencing, wood piles) 90,000.00$     1 90,000.00$         

Bluff Restoration 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Sand Placement Mason Sand 45.00$             12000 540,000.00$       

Paving of Parking Lot 6.00$               6800 40,800.00$         

35 ton per foot breakwater 5,820.00$       250 1,455,000.00$   

Steel Staircase Lump Sum 50,000.00$     1 50,000.00$         

Steel Sheet Piling 30' 3,200.00$       248 793,600.00$       

Concrete for ramp 100.00$           1212 121,200.00$       

Access Roadway Stone w/Drainage (TBD) 250,000.00$   1 250,000.00$       

Retaining Walls 120,000.00$   1 120,000.00$       

Dog Gate (utilities) 25,000.00$     1 25,000.00$         

ADA walkway and connection Lump Sum 300,000.00$   1 300,000.00$       

Total 4,505,600.00$   

Soft Costs 

Engineering, plans/drawings, permit costs, etc.) 175,000.00$      

Contingency (15%) 675,840.00$      

Total 5,356,440.00$   

All cost are based on 2023 construction assumptions, 

actual cost will be delivered as part of a public bid 

process. 

193



Winnetka Park District 
Board Summary 

 
Date:  August 11, 2022  
To:  Board of Commissioners 
Subject: Village of Winnetka “North of Willow Stormwater Project” (Winnetka Golf 

Courses and Little Duke Field) 
From:  Costa Kutulas, Director of Parks and Maintenance 
Through: John Peterson, Executive Director 
 
Summary:  
As previously presented to the Park Board May 12, 2022, the Park District continues to 
work alongside the Village of Winnetka to address some of the outstanding stormwater 
issues.   
 
With continued discussion between Park Board commissioners and Village trustees, the 
Park District needs to approve a single line item of the stormwater scope of work for 
construction to continue. Alternate line item #20 Contractor Removal of Existing Irrigation 
Heads for $25,410 needs to be approved by the Park District board to avoid construction 
delays.  This expenditure is for the sub-contractor Halloran & Yauch, Inc. to remove all the 
irrigation heads from the Par 3 Course and 18 Hole Course.  Initially, this work was 
identified as a staff project; current Park District staffing does not allow the Park District to 
complete the project within the timeframe required to complete the project.  Assigning 
this step to Halloran allows for the timely removal of the irrigation heads.  It also places 
all work related to irrigation, to include the removal, storage, and reinstallation of 
irrigation heads, to be assigned to a single firm.   
 
Due to timing and the cost exceeding $25,000.00, board approval is needed to move this 
forward. The work was bid through the Village of Winnetka Stormwater Project and meets 
all of the requirements for public bidding. The general contractor for the project is DiMeo 
Brothers, Inc., Elk Grove Village, IL.  Halloran is a sub-contractor to DiMeo Brothers, Inc.  
 
Recommendation 
At this time, staff recommends the Park Board approve the Stormwater Alternate #20 of 
Irrigation Contractor Removal of Existing Irrigation Heads for $25,410 from DiMeo 
Brothers, Inc., Elk Grove Village, IL.  
 
END  
 

194



Winnetka Park District Golf Course Stormwater Project (North of Willow Stormwater Storage Projects) 

Cart Part WPD Items 

Maintenance 
Items to 
consider 

Staff Review (based on 
Village percentages) 

Item Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost VILLAGE PARK D. COST TO COST TO
No. Description Units Quantity Unit of Item Unit of Item Unit of Item % % VILLAGE WPD

1. Earth Excavation - Par 3 LSUM              1 $924,000.00 $924,000.00 $1,380,000.00 $1,380,000.00 $1,440,000.00 $1,440,000.00 100.00% $924,000.00 $0.00
2. Earth Excavation - 18 Hole Golf Course LSUM              1 $1,840,000.00 $1,840,000.00 $4,180,000.00 $4,180,000.00 $4,026,041.00 $4,026,041.00 100.00% $1,840,000.00 $0.00
3. Earth Excavation - Extension - Par-3 LSUM              1 $820,000.00 $820,000.00 $1,325,000.00 $1,325,000.00 $935,500.00 $935,500.00 100.00% $820,000.00 $0.00
4. Earth Excavation - Extension - 18 hole Golf Course LSUM              1 $490,000.00 $490,000.00 $1,985,000.00 $1,985,000.00 $390,200.00 $390,200.00 100.00% $490,000.00 $0.00
5. Stripping, Transferring, and Stockpiling of Topsoil CY     93,587 $4.75 $444,538.25 $0.01 $935.87 $0.01 $935.87 100.00% $444,538.25 $0.00
6. Installation of Duke Childs Underground Storage - Complete LSUM              1 $1,350,000.00 $1,350,000.00 $3,800,000.66 $3,800,000.66 $3,340,000.00 $3,340,000.00 100.00% $1,350,000.00 $0.00
7. Installation of Little Duke Underground Storage - Complete LSUM              1 $635,000.00 $635,000.00 $1,440,000.00 $1,440,000.00 $1,445,102.00 $1,445,102.00 100.00% $635,000.00 $0.00
8. Installation of Duke Childs Underground Storage - Extension LSUM              1 $545,000.00 $545,000.00 $1,315,000.00 $1,315,000.00 $698,100.00 $698,100.00 100.00% $545,000.00 $0.00
9. Installation of Little Duke Underground Storage - Extension LSUM              1 $195,000.00 $195,000.00 $545,000.00 $545,000.00 $270,000.00 $270,000.00 100.00% $195,000.00 $0.00
10. Trench Backfill CY       1,285 $40.00 $51,400.00 $105.00 $134,925.00 $85.00 $109,225.00 100.00% $51,400.00 $0.00
11. Sidewalk Removal SF       3,011 $2.00 $6,022.00 $1.65 $4,968.15 $1.00 $3,011.00 100.00% $6,022.00 $0.00
12. Pavement Removal - Landfill Ring Road SY       5,917 $10.00 $59,170.00 $18.25 $107,985.25 $8.25 $48,815.25 100.00% $59,170.00 $0.00
13. Combination Curb and Gutter Removal LF          373 $8.00 $2,984.00 $6.00 $2,238.00 $7.75 $2,890.75 100.00% $2,984.00 $0.00
14. Hot-Mix Asphalt Surface Removal, 1 1/2" SY          950 $22.00 $20,900.00 $20.00 $19,000.00 $8.50 $8,075.00 100.00% $20,900.00 $0.00
15. Chain Link Fence Removal LF       3,590 $12.00 $43,080.00 $7.00 $25,130.00 $8.00 $28,720.00 100.00% $43,080.00 $0.00
16. Utility Structures to be Removed EA            26 $300.00 $7,800.00 $925.00 $24,050.00 $960.00 $24,960.00 100.00% $7,800.00 $0.00
17. Utility Structures to be Abandoned EA            17 $300.00 $5,100.00 $650.00 $11,050.00 $1,200.00 $20,400.00 100.00% $5,100.00 $0.00
18. Removal of Existing Structures EA              1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $960.00 $960.00 100.00% $5,000.00 $0.00
19. Relocate Practice Power Pole from Landfill EA              3 $7,500.00 $22,500.00 $7,500.00 $22,500.00 $5,200.00 $15,600.00 100.00% $22,500.00 $0.00
20. Extension of Leachate Extraction Well, Complete EA              3 $7,500.00 $22,500.00 $5,600.00 $16,800.00 $3,500.00 $10,500.00 100.00% $22,500.00 $0.00
21. Pavement Marking Removal - Water Blasting SF          155 $30.00 $4,650.00 $25.00 $3,875.00 $15.00 $2,325.00 100.00% $4,650.00 $0.00
22. Tree Removal (6 to 15 Units Diameter) UNIT       1,522 $17.00 $25,874.00 $7.00 $10,654.00 $7.25 $11,034.50 100.00% $25,874.00 $0.00
23. Tree Removal (Over 15 Units Diameter) UNIT       4,088 $22.00 $89,936.00 $7.00 $28,616.00 $7.25 $29,638.00 100.00% $89,936.00 $0.00
24. Remove and Relocate Light Pole Foundation EA              1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $5,200.00 $5,200.00 100.00% $2,500.00 $0.00
25. Temporary Chain Link Fence with Opaque Screening, 8' LF       3,457 $75.00 $259,275.00 $15.00 $51,855.00 $11.00 $38,027.00 100.00% $259,275.00 $0.00
26. Temporary Construction Fence LF       5,080 $4.00 $20,320.00 $8.25 $41,910.00 $3.50 $17,780.00 100.00% $20,320.00 $0.00
27. Permanent Chain Link Fence, 8' on Landfill LF       1,740 $53.00 $92,220.00 $80.00 $139,200.00 $77.00 $133,980.00 100.00% $92,220.00 $0.00
28. Chain Link Gates, 8' x 30' EA              6 $9,750.00 $58,500.00 $7,800.00 $46,800.00 $300.00 $1,800.00 100.00% $58,500.00 $0.00
29. Chain Link Gates, 8' X 15' on Landfill EA              1 $9,050.00 $9,050.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $200.00 $200.00 100.00% $9,050.00 $0.00
30. Perimeter Erosion Barrier LF     29,956 $3.00 $89,868.00 $3.45 $103,348.20 $3.50 $104,846.00 100.00% $89,868.00 $0.00
31. Floating Silt Curtain LF       4,807 $50.00 $240,350.00 $44.00 $211,508.00 $32.00 $153,824.00 100.00% $240,350.00 $0.00
32. Inlet Filters EA            31 $175.00 $5,425.00 $215.00 $6,665.00 $300.00 $9,300.00 100.00% $5,425.00 $0.00
33. Sediment Socks LF            50 $14.00 $700.00 $15.00 $750.00 $9.00 $450.00 100.00% $700.00 $0.00
34. Filter Fabric SY       1,235 $3.00 $3,705.00 $6.49 $8,015.15 $2.00 $2,470.00 100.00% $3,705.00 $0.00
35. Stabilized Construction Entrance SY          439 $50.00 $21,950.00 $73.00 $32,047.00 $25.00 $10,975.00 100.00% $21,950.00 $0.00
36. Temporary Erosion Control Seeding LSUM              1 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 $54,000.00 $54,000.00 $16,200.00 $16,200.00 100.00% $12,000.00 $0.00
37. Aggregate Base Course, Type B 8" SY     15,947 $10.00 $159,470.00 $17.60 $280,667.20 $16.00 $255,152.00 100.00% $159,470.00 $0.00
38. Portland Cement Concrete Sidewalk 5 Inch SF       2,824 $15.00 $42,360.00 $16.00 $45,184.00 $13.00 $36,712.00 100.00% $42,360.00 $0.00
39. Detectable Warnings SF          433 $38.00 $16,454.00 $35.00 $15,155.00 $52.00 $22,516.00 100.00% $16,454.00 $0.00
40. Topsoil Placement, 6" SY   326,500 $1.75 $571,375.00 $2.80 $914,200.00 $0.01 $3,265.00 100.00% $571,375.00 $0.00
41. Topsoil Placement, 24" SY     21,485 $3.00 $64,455.00 $5.75 $123,538.75 $0.10 $2,148.50 100.00% $64,455.00 $0.00
42. Topsoil Removal and Disposal CY     29,636 $11.00 $325,996.00 $0.01 $296.36 $0.10 $2,963.60 100.00% $325,996.00 $0.00
43. Topsoil Removal and Disposal - Extension CY     29,636 $11.00 $325,996.00 $0.01 $296.36 $0.10 $2,963.60 100.00% $325,996.00 $0.00
44. Restoration-Sod LSUM              1 $54,500.00 $54,500.00 $98,000.00 $98,000.00 $74,500.00 $74,500.00 100.00% $54,500.00 $0.00
45. Restoration-Seed LSUM              1 $450,000.00 $450,000.00 $240,000.00 $240,000.00 $278,000.00 $278,000.00 100.00% $450,000.00 $0.00
46. Tree, Acer X Freemanii Autumn Blaze (Autumn Blaze Freeman 

      
EA              8 $750.00 $6,000.00 $950.00 $7,600.00 $970.00 $7,760.00 100.00% $6,000.00 $0.00

47. Temporary Traffic Signal Timing EA              2 $2,000.00 $4,000.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $5,200.00 $10,400.00 100.00% $4,000.00 $0.00
48. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 2037+54 EA              1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $35,500.00 $35,500.00 $6,700.00 $6,700.00 100.00% $20,000.00 $0.00
49. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 2037+93 EA              1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $35,500.00 $35,500.00 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $20,000.00 $0.00
50. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 2039+65 EA              1 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 $18,500.00 $18,500.00 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $12,500.00 $0.00
51. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 2040+30 EA              1 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 $35,500.00 $35,500.00 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $12,500.00 $0.00
52. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 2040+80 EA              1 $12,500.00 $12,500.00 $18,500.00 $18,500.00 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $12,500.00 $0.00
53. Supporting and Protecting Electrical Duct, STA. 502+80 EA              1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $32,000.00 $32,000.00 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $20,000.00 $0.00
54. Stone Riprap, Class A3 SY          159 $90.00 $14,310.00 $112.00 $17,808.00 $52.00 $8,268.00 100.00% $14,310.00 $0.00
55. Clay Fill and Liner, 24" SY            50 $15.00 $750.00 $150.00 $7,500.00 $230.00 $11,500.00 100.00% $750.00 $0.00
56. Field Stone Riprap SY       1,076 $140.00 $150,640.00 $80.00 $86,080.00 $140.00 $150,640.00 100.00% $150,640.00 $0.00
57. Engineered Soil CY          240 $80.00 $19,200.00 $150.00 $36,000.00 $170.00 $40,800.00 100.00% $19,200.00 $0.00

58. Class D Patches, 6 Inch SY          210 $130.00 $27,300.00 $150.00 $31,500.00 $66.00 $13,860.00 100.00% $27,300.00 $0.00
59. Class D Patches, 8 1/4 Inch SY          856 $145.00 $124,120.00 $165.00 $141,240.00 $73.00 $62,488.00 100.00% $124,120.00 $0.00
60. Hot-Mix Asphalt Surface Course, IL-9.5, Mix "D", N50, 1 1/2 Inches TON            81 $275.00 $22,275.00 $260.00 $21,060.00 $140.00 $11,340.00 100.00% $22,275.00 $0.00
61. Combination Concrete Curb and Gutter, Type B-6.12 LF          773 $60.00 $46,380.00 $55.00 $42,515.00 $48.00 $37,104.00 100.00% $46,380.00 $0.00
62. Combination Concrete Curb and Gutter, Type M-4.12 LF          321 $60.00 $19,260.00 $54.25 $17,414.25 $48.00 $15,408.00 100.00% $19,260.00 $0.00
63. Concrete Curb, Type B-6 LF            24 $95.00 $2,280.00 $85.00 $2,040.00 $84.00 $2,016.00 100.00% $2,280.00 $0.00
64. Paint Pavement Marking - Letters and Symbols SF              3 $25.00 $75.00 $10.00 $30.00 $22.00 $66.00 100.00% $75.00 $0.00
65. Thermoplastic Pavement Marking - Line 4" LF          505 $4.00 $2,020.00 $6.00 $3,030.00 $3.00 $1,515.00 100.00% $2,020.00 $0.00
66. Thermoplastic Pavement Marking - Line 6" LF            52 $5.00 $260.00 $6.25 $325.00 $4.50 $234.00 100.00% $260.00 $0.00
67. Thermoplastic Pavement Marking - Line 12" LF          393 $10.00 $3,930.00 $8.00 $3,144.00 $9.25 $3,635.25 100.00% $3,930.00 $0.00
68. Thermoplastic Pavement Marking - Line 24" LF            40 $20.00 $800.00 $16.00 $640.00 $18.00 $720.00 100.00% $800.00 $0.00
69. Temporary Surface Over Trench SY          891 $28.00 $24,948.00 $25.00 $22,275.00 $48.00 $42,768.00 100.00% $24,948.00 $0.00

70. Pedestrian Bridge, Bridge Q, 8' Wide, 5-Ton Load Rating LSUM              1 $115,000.00 $115,000.00 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 $107,900.00 $107,900.00 100.00% $115,000.00 $0.00
71. Pedestrian Bridge, Bridge H, 16' Wide, 10-Ton Load Rating LSUM              1 

$225,000.00 $225,000.00 $235,000.00 $235,000.00 $113,500.00 $113,500.00 75.00% 25.00% $168,750.00 $56,250.00 $56,250.00 $56,250.00 $56,250.00 $56,250.00
72. Pedestrian Bridge, Bridge F, 8' Wide, 5-Ton Load Rating LSUM              1 $115,000.00 $115,000.00 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 $106,600.00 $106,600.00 100.00% $115,000.00 $0.00
73. Pedestrian Bridge, Bridge E, 8' Wide, 5-Ton Load Rating LSUM              1 $115,000.00 $115,000.00 $139,000.00 $139,000.00 $213,700.00 $213,700.00 100.00% $115,000.00 $0.00
74. 18th Hole Irrigation Transfer Pumping Station, Complete LSUM              1 $850,000.00 $850,000.00 $920,000.00 $920,000.00 $440,000.00 $440,000.00 100.00% $850,000.00 $0.00
75. Ash Street Pumping Station - Complete LSUM              1 $465,000.00 $465,000.00 $725,000.00 $725,000.00 $810,000.00 $810,000.00 100.00% $465,000.00 $0.00
76. Stormwater Treatment Device LSUM              1 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $80,000.00 $80,000.00 $105,900.00 $105,900.00 100.00% $60,000.00 $0.00

77. Ductile Iron Water Main, 4" FT              5 $150.00 $750.00 $520.00 $2,600.00 $1,000.00 $5,000.00 100.00% $750.00 $0.00
78. Ductile Iron Water Main, 8" FT          244 $210.00 $51,240.00 $340.00 $82,960.00 $370.00 $90,280.00 100.00% $51,240.00 $0.00
79. Ductile Iron Water Main, 12" FT          135 $285.00 $38,475.00 $452.00 $61,020.00 $450.00 $60,750.00 100.00% $38,475.00 $0.00
80. Connections to Existing Water Main EA            11 $6,000.00 $66,000.00 $10,500.00 $115,500.00 $18,300.00 $201,300.00 100.00% $66,000.00 $0.00
81. 6" Line Stop EA              2 $6,000.00 $12,000.00 $3,600.00 $7,200.00 $20,600.00 $41,200.00 100.00% $12,000.00 $0.00
82. 12" Line Stop EA              7 $11,000.00 $77,000.00 $9,500.00 $66,500.00 $23,600.00 $165,200.00 100.00% $77,000.00 $0.00
83. 6" Insertion Valve EA              1 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 $9,000.00 $9,000.00 $23,800.00 $23,800.00 100.00% $8,000.00 $0.00
84. 8" Gate Valve EA              6 $2,500.00 $15,000.00 $4,400.00 $26,400.00 $6,600.00 $39,600.00 100.00% $15,000.00 $0.00
85. 12" Gate Valve EA              4 $4,500.00 $18,000.00 $7,900.00 $31,600.00 $6,500.00 $26,000.00 100.00% $18,000.00 $0.00
86. Valve Vaults, Type A, Type 1 Frame, Closed Lid, 5'-Diameter EA            10 $3,000.00 $30,000.00 $4,525.00 $45,250.00 $6,600.00 $66,000.00 100.00% $30,000.00 $0.00
87. Valve Box 6" EA              1 $750.00 $750.00 $1,035.00 $1,035.00 $2,200.00 $2,200.00 100.00% $750.00 $0.00
88. Fire Hydrant with Auxiliary Valve and Valve Box EA              4 $7,500.00 $30,000.00 $9,525.00 $38,100.00 $11,500.00 $46,000.00 100.00% $30,000.00 $0.00
89. Fire Hydrants to be Removed EA              3 $300.00 $900.00 $1,300.00 $3,900.00 $2,000.00 $6,000.00 100.00% $900.00 $0.00
90. Cut and Cap Existing Water Main EA              4 $2,000.00 $8,000.00 $4,300.00 $17,200.00 $2,000.00 $8,000.00 100.00% $8,000.00 $0.00
91. Water Main in PVC Casing Pipe, 20" LF            30 $275.00 $8,250.00 $730.00 $21,900.00 $830.00 $24,900.00 100.00% $8,250.00 $0.00
92. Water Main in PVC Casing Pipe, 24" LF            28 $320.00 $8,960.00 $880.00 $24,640.00 $990.00 $27,720.00 100.00% $8,960.00 $0.00
93. Water Main in Steel Casing Pipe, 20" LF            20 $275.00 $5,500.00 $700.00 $14,000.00 $1,000.00 $20,000.00 100.00% $5,500.00 $0.00
94. Water Main in Steel Casing Pipe, 24" LF            40 $300.00 $12,000.00 $1,400.00 $56,000.00 $1,100.00 $44,000.00 100.00% $12,000.00 $0.00
95. Ductile Iron Water Main, 6" FT            33 $150.00 $4,950.00 $315.00 $10,395.00 $350.00 $11,550.00 100.00% $4,950.00 $0.00

96. Pipe Underdrains, Type II, 6" FT          146 $24.00 $3,504.00 $58.00 $8,468.00 $79.00 $11,534.00 100.00% $3,504.00 $0.00
97. Inline Drains EA            11 $650.00 $7,150.00 $2,000.00 $22,000.00 $2,300.00 $25,300.00 100.00% $7,150.00 $0.00
98. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 6" FT              8 $70.00 $560.00 $190.00 $1,520.00 $240.00 $1,920.00 100.00% $560.00 $0.00
99. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 8" FT            16 $70.00 $1,120.00 $192.00 $3,072.00 $270.00 $4,320.00 100.00% $1,120.00 $0.00
100. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 12" FT       1,385 $75.00 $103,875.00 $110.00 $152,350.00 $150.00 $207,750.00 100.00% $103,875.00 $0.00
101. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 1, 12" FT          440 $75.00 $33,000.00 $110.00 $48,400.00 $110.00 $48,400.00 100.00% $33,000.00 $0.00
102. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 15" FT          400 $80.00 $32,000.00 $113.00 $45,200.00 $160.00 $64,000.00 100.00% $32,000.00 $0.00
103. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 18" FT          333 $85.00 $28,305.00 $115.00 $38,295.00 $170.00 $56,610.00 100.00% $28,305.00 $0.00
104. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 21" FT          232 $100.00 $23,200.00 $118.00 $27,376.00 $200.00 $46,400.00 100.00% $23,200.00 $0.00
105. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 24" FT          146 $125.00 $18,250.00 $182.00 $26,572.00 $210.00 $30,660.00 100.00% $18,250.00 $0.00
106. Storm Sewers, PVC, Type 2, 24" FT          127 $260.00 $33,020.00 $443.00 $56,261.00 $310.00 $39,370.00 100.00% $33,020.00 $0.00
107. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 27" FT            90 $150.00 $13,500.00 $230.00 $20,700.00 $240.00 $21,600.00 100.00% $13,500.00 $0.00
108. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 30" FT            47 $175.00 $8,225.00 $240.00 $11,280.00 $270.00 $12,690.00 100.00% $8,225.00 $0.00
109. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 36" FT          930 $225.00 $209,250.00 $245.00 $227,850.00 $250.00 $232,500.00 100.00% $209,250.00 $0.00
110. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 1, 36" FT          114 $225.00 $25,650.00 $240.00 $27,360.00 $240.00 $27,360.00 100.00% $25,650.00 $0.00
111. Storm Sewers, RCCP, Type 2, 48" FT            16 $300.00 $4,800.00 $350.00 $5,600.00 $570.00 $9,120.00 100.00% $4,800.00 $0.00
112. Storm Sewers, C900, Type 1, 12" FT            19 $100.00 $1,900.00 $395.00 $7,505.00 $160.00 $3,040.00 100.00% $1,900.00 $0.00
113. Storm Sewers, C900, Type 2, 18" FT              7 $220.00 $1,540.00 $660.00 $4,620.00 $520.00 $3,640.00 100.00% $1,540.00 $0.00
114. Storm Sewer Force Main, 12" FT       1,778 $125.00 $222,250.00 $180.00 $320,040.00 $170.00 $302,260.00 100.00% $222,250.00 $0.00
115. Precast Concrete Box Culvert 6' X 4' LF          142 $1,000.00 $142,000.00 $1,985.00 $281,870.00 $2,300.00 $326,600.00 100.00% $142,000.00 $0.00
116. Precast Concrete Box Culvert 8' X 4' LF          436 $1,000.00 $436,000.00 $1,850.00 $806,600.00 $2,200.00 $959,200.00 100.00% $436,000.00 $0.00
117. Precast Concrete Box Culvert 10' X 5' LF          279 $1,125.00 $313,875.00 $2,200.00 $613,800.00 $1,700.00 $474,300.00 100.00% $313,875.00 $0.00

DISTRIBUTION
Low Bidder

DiMeo Brothers, Inc. Berger Excavating V3 Construction Group, Ltd.
Low Bidder

195



Cart Part WPD Items 

Maintenance 
Items to 
consider 

Staff Review (based on 
Village percentages) 

Item Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost VILLAGE PARK D. COST TO COST TO
No. Description Units Quantity Unit of Item Unit of Item Unit of Item % % VILLAGE WPD

DISTRIBUTION
Low Bidder

DiMeo Brothers, Inc. Berger Excavating V3 Construction Group, Ltd.
Low Bidder

118. Precast Concrete Box Culvert 10' X 6' LF          203 $1,200.00 $243,600.00 $2,205.00 $447,615.00 $2,220.00 $450,660.00 100.00% $243,600.00 $0.00
119. Precast Concrete Box Culvert 12' X 5' LF            20 $1,950.00 $39,000.00 $4,265.00 $85,300.00 $3,000.00 $60,000.00 100.00% $39,000.00 $0.00
120. Precast Concrete Box Culvert Riser 6' X 8' VLF            13 $4,500.00 $58,500.00 $6,750.00 $87,750.00 $140.00 $1,820.00 100.00% $58,500.00 $0.00
121. Precast Concrete Box Culvert Riser 8' X 8' VLF            10 $4,500.00 $45,000.00 $12,400.00 $124,000.00 $140.00 $1,400.00 100.00% $45,000.00 $0.00
122. Precast Concrete Box Culvert Riser 10' X 6' VLF            11 $4,500.00 $49,500.00 $7,550.00 $83,050.00 $1,900.00 $20,900.00 100.00% $49,500.00 $0.00
123. Box Culvert End Sections, Culvert No. 4 (Par 3) EA              1 $110,000.00 $110,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $64,000.00 $64,000.00 100.00% $110,000.00 $0.00
124. Box Culvert End Sections, Culvert No. 5.1 (18th Hole) EA              1 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $155,000.00 $155,000.00 $61,000.00 $61,000.00 100.00% $100,000.00 $0.00
125. Box Culvert End Sections, Culvert No. 5.2 (18th Hole) EA              1 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $165,000.00 $165,000.00 $61,000.00 $61,000.00 100.00% $100,000.00 $0.00
126. Catch Basins, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 1 Frame and Grate EA              2 $3,500.00 $7,000.00 $4,200.00 $8,400.00 $6,800.00 $13,600.00 100.00% $7,000.00 $0.00
127. Catch Basins, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 8 Frame and Grate EA            27 $3,500.00 $94,500.00 $4,800.00 $129,600.00 $6,900.00 $186,300.00 100.00% $94,500.00 $0.00
128. Catch Basins, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 1 Frame, Closed Lid EA              1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $4,900.00 $4,900.00 $7,100.00 $7,100.00 100.00% $3,500.00 $0.00
129. Catch Basins, Type A, 5'-Diameter, Type 8 Frame and Grate EA            10 $4,500.00 $45,000.00 $6,200.00 $62,000.00 $7,800.00 $78,000.00 100.00% $45,000.00 $0.00
130. Manholes, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 1 Frame, Closed Lid EA              1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $4,525.00 $4,525.00 $6,800.00 $6,800.00 100.00% $3,500.00 $0.00
131. Manholes, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 8 Frame and Grate EA              1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $4,300.00 $4,300.00 $5,900.00 $5,900.00 100.00% $3,500.00 $0.00
132. Manholes, Type A, 5'-Diameter, Type 1 Frame, Closed Lid EA              2 $4,500.00 $9,000.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00 $8,700.00 $17,400.00 100.00% $9,000.00 $0.00
133. Inlets, Type A, Type 8 Frame and Grate EA              2 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $3,100.00 $6,200.00 100.00% $3,000.00 $0.00
134. Inlets, Type B, Type 11V Frame and Grate EA              2 $2,000.00 $4,000.00 $2,800.00 $5,600.00 $3,900.00 $7,800.00 100.00% $4,000.00 $0.00
135. Inlets, Type B, Type 8 Frame and Grate EA              6 $1,800.00 $10,800.00 $2,600.00 $15,600.00 $3,100.00 $18,600.00 100.00% $10,800.00 $0.00
136. Catch Basins, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 6 Frame and Grate EA              2 $4,000.00 $8,000.00 $4,200.00 $8,400.00 $7,200.00 $14,400.00 100.00% $8,000.00 $0.00
137. Catch Basins, Type A, 4'-Diameter, Type 11V Frame and Grate EA              2 $4,000.00 $8,000.00 $4,750.00 $9,500.00 $7,300.00 $14,600.00 100.00% $8,000.00 $0.00
138. Inlets, Type A, Type 6 Frame and Grate EA              3 $1,600.00 $4,800.00 $2,600.00 $7,800.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 100.00% $4,800.00 $0.00
139. Inlets, Type B, Type 6 Frame and Grate EA              1 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $10,600.00 $10,600.00 100.00% $1,600.00 $0.00
140. Inlets, Type B, Type 11 Frame and Grate EA              3 $1,750.00 $5,250.00 $3,000.00 $9,000.00 $3,900.00 $11,700.00 100.00% $5,250.00 $0.00
141. Storm Sewers, PVC, Type 2, 6" FT              8 $90.00 $720.00 $185.00 $1,480.00 $270.00 $2,160.00 100.00% $720.00 $0.00
142. Pipe Underdrains, Type II, 4" FT          325 $35.00 $11,375.00 $51.00 $16,575.00 $72.00 $23,400.00 100.00% $11,375.00 $0.00
143. Manholes, Type A, 5'-Diameter, Neenah R-1791-A, Type B Closed EA              2 $4,500.00 $9,000.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00 $8,300.00 $16,600.00 100.00% $9,000.00 $0.00
144. Manholes, Type A, 5'-Diameter, Neenah R-2525-A, Type G Open EA              4 $4,500.00 $18,000.00 $6,500.00 $26,000.00 $18,600.00 $74,400.00 100.00% $18,000.00 $0.00
145. Force Main Air Release Structure, Complete EA              2 $9,000.00 $18,000.00 $18,500.00 $37,000.00 $12,900.00 $25,800.00 100.00% $18,000.00 $0.00
146. Manholes, Type A, 7'-Diameter, Type 1 Frame, Closed Lid EA              2 $10,000.00 $20,000.00 $19,500.00 $39,000.00 $18,100.00 $36,200.00 100.00% $20,000.00 $0.00
147. Traffic Control - Hibbard and Oak LSUM              1 $88,000.00 $88,000.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00 $29,000.00 $29,000.00 100.00% $88,000.00 $0.00
148. Traffic Control - Ash LSUM              1 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 $10,700.00 $10,700.00 100.00% $50,000.00 $0.00
149. Traffic Control - Duke Childs LSUM              1 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 $10,600.00 $10,600.00 100.00% $50,000.00 $0.00
150. Traffic Control - Par 3 LSUM              1 $100.00 $100.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 100.00% $100.00 $0.00
151. Traffic Control - 18th Hole LSUM              1 $100.00 $100.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 100.00% $100.00 $0.00
152. Traffic Control - North Course LSUM              1 $100.00 $100.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 100.00% $100.00 $0.00
153. Mobilization LSUM              1 

$380,000.00 $380,000.00 $600,000.00 $600,000.00 $245,800.00 $245,800.00 90.00% 10.00% $342,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00
154. Preconstruction Video LSUM              1 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $5,100.00 $5,100.00 100.00% $7,500.00 $0.00
155. Removal And Disposal of Unsuitable Material CY            50 $65.00 $3,250.00 $80.00 $4,000.00 $72.00 $3,600.00 100.00% $3,250.00 $0.00
156. Removal And Disposal of Non-CCDD Material TON            20 $50.00 $1,000.00 $82.00 $1,640.00 $97.00 $1,940.00 100.00% $1,000.00 $0.00
157. Excavation, Stockpiling, and Removal of Hazardous Waste CY            20 $250.00 $5,000.00 $185.00 $3,700.00 $720.00 $14,400.00 100.00% $5,000.00 $0.00
158. Rock Excavation CY            20 $300.00 $6,000.00 $165.00 $3,300.00 $340.00 $6,800.00 100.00% $6,000.00 $0.00

159. Golf Course Layout And Staking LSUM              1 $31,500.00 $31,500.00 $63,102.32 $63,102.32 $31,000.00 $31,000.00 100.00% $31,500.00 $0.00
160. Golf Course GPS Mapping LSUM              1 $13,125.00 $13,125.00 $31,446.94 $31,446.94 $16,000.00 $16,000.00 50.00% 50.00% $6,562.50 $6,562.50 $6,562.50 $6,562.50 $6,562.50 $6,562.50
161. Existing Green and Tee Preparation For Re-Seeding SF   246,225 $0.12 $29,547.00 $0.10 $24,622.50 $0.20 $49,245.00 9.00% 91.00% $2,659.23 $26,887.77 $26,887.77 $26,887.77 $26,887.77 $26,887.77
162. Existing Asphalt Cart Path Removal SF       8,555 $1.40 $11,977.00 $1.30 $11,121.50 $1.00 $8,555.00 10.00% 90.00% $1,197.70 $10,779.30 $10,779.30 $10,779.30 $10,779.30 $10,779.30
163. Existing Asphalt Surface Removal SF     25,750 $2.10 $54,075.00 $2.90 $74,675.00 $1.50 $38,625.00 10.00% 90.00% $5,407.50 $48,667.50 $48,667.50 $48,667.50 $48,667.50 $48,667.50
164. Existing Gravel Cart Path Removal SF       1,950 $0.35 $682.50 $0.33 $643.50 $0.90 $1,755.00 10.00% 90.00% $68.25 $614.25 $614.25 $614.25 $614.25 $614.25
165. Existing Bunker Sand Removal SF     23,400 $0.50 $11,700.00 $0.48 $11,232.00 $0.50 $11,700.00 50.00% 50.00% $5,850.00 $5,850.00 $5,850.00 $5,850.00 $5,850.00 $5,850.00
166. Contractor Application of Herbicide in Fairway and Roughs LSUM              1 $3,150.00 $3,150.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $38,300.00 $38,300.00 100.00% $3,150.00 $0.00
167. Fescue Sod Clusters SF          800 $2.25 $1,800.00 $2.14 $1,712.00 $5.00 $4,000.00 100.00% $1,800.00 $0.00
168. 4" Solid LF     10,035 $15.25 $153,033.75 $14.50 $145,507.50 $15.00 $150,525.00 100.00% $153,033.75 $0.00
169. 4" (Perf.) LF       4,540 $17.10 $77,634.00 $16.25 $73,775.00 $17.00 $77,180.00 100.00% $77,634.00 $0.00
170. 6" Solid LF          565 $19.50 $11,017.50 $18.55 $10,480.75 $19.00 $10,735.00 100.00% $11,017.50 $0.00
171. 12" Nyloplast Inlet EACH          212 $525.00 $111,300.00 $500.00 $106,000.00 $510.00 $108,120.00 100.00% $111,300.00 $0.00
172. 15" Nyloplast Inlet EACH              9 $685.00 $6,165.00 $650.00 $5,850.00 $660.00 $5,940.00 100.00% $6,165.00 $0.00
173. 18" Nyloplast Inlet EACH              1 $1,025.00 $1,025.00 $975.00 $975.00 $990.00 $990.00 100.00% $1,025.00 $0.00
174. 5" X 18" NDS Pro Series Channel Drain/Ductile Grate EACH            24 $790.00 $18,960.00 $750.00 $18,000.00 $770.00 $18,480.00 100.00% $18,960.00 $0.00
175. 6" Flushout Grates EACH            33 $160.00 $5,280.00 $150.00 $4,950.00 $150.00 $4,950.00 100.00% $5,280.00 $0.00
176. MH/CB Elevation Adjustments EACH            25 $600.00 $15,000.00 $565.00 $14,125.00 $580.00 $14,500.00 100.00% $15,000.00 $0.00
177. Connections to Existing Pipes EACH            47 $150.00 $7,050.00 $140.00 $6,580.00 $140.00 $6,580.00 100.00% $7,050.00 $0.00
178. Control Vault Adjustments EACH              3 $105.00 $315.00 $100.00 $300.00 $100.00 $300.00 100.00% $315.00 $0.00
179. Cap/Seal 4" Pipe EACH              1 $105.00 $105.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 100.00% $105.00 $0.00
180. Cap/Seal 6" Pipe EACH              3 $125.00 $375.00 $115.00 $345.00 $120.00 $360.00 100.00% $375.00 $0.00
181. Cap/Seal 8" Pipe EACH              2 $135.00 $270.00 $125.00 $250.00 $130.00 $260.00 100.00% $270.00 $0.00
182. Cap/Seal 18" Pipe EACH              2 $265.00 $530.00 $250.00 $500.00 $260.00 $520.00 100.00% $530.00 $0.00
183. Cap/Seal 36" Pipe EACH              1 $525.00 $525.00 $500.00 $500.00 $510.00 $510.00 100.00% $525.00 $0.00
184. Cap/Seal Existing Inlets EACH          559 $95.00 $53,105.00 $90.00 $50,310.00 $92.00 $51,428.00 100.00% $53,105.00 $0.00
185. Greens Construction SF     27,350 $7.00 $191,450.00 $6.73 $184,065.50 $7.00 $191,450.00 100.00% $191,450.00 $0.00
186. New Tee Construction SF       7,245 $5.00 $36,225.00 $4.86 $35,210.70 $5.00 $36,225.00 100.00% $36,225.00 $0.00
187. Bunker Development SF     32,540 $5.50 $178,970.00 $5.23 $170,184.20 $5.25 $170,835.00 100.00% $178,970.00 $0.00
188. Bunker Liner Installation SF     16,270 $2.70 $43,929.00 $2.50 $40,675.00 $2.50 $40,675.00 100.00% $43,929.00 $0.00
189. Fine Shaping/Seedbed Preparation LSUM              1 $285,600.00 $285,600.00 $272,000.00 $272,000.00 $172,208.93 $172,208.93 100.00% $285,600.00 $0.00
190. Greens Seeding SF   138,863 $0.15 $20,829.45 $0.15 $20,829.45 $0.25 $34,715.75 19.00% 81.00% $3,957.60 $16,871.85 $16,871.85 $16,871.85 $16,871.85 $16,871.85
191. Fairways Seeding ACRE         24.7 $1,935.00 $47,794.50 $1,842.00 $45,497.40 $7,200.00 $177,840.00 100.00% $47,794.50 $0.00
192. Roughs Seeding ACRE         20.9 $2,010.00 $42,009.00 $1,915.00 $40,023.50 $7,000.00 $146,300.00 100.00% $42,009.00 $0.00
193. Fescue Roughs Seeding ACRE           5.6 $1,385.00 $7,756.00 $1,320.00 $7,392.00 $7,100.00 $39,760.00 100.00% $7,756.00 $0.00
194. Dry Detention Rough ACRE           3.3 $11,075.00 $36,547.50 $10,545.00 $34,798.50 $11,700.00 $38,610.00 100.00% $36,547.50 $0.00
195. Construction Disturbance ACRE           2.8 

$6,750.00 $18,900.00 $6,425.00 $17,990.00 $13,500.00 $37,800.00 50.00% 50.00% $9,450.00 $9,450.00 $9,450.00 $9,450.00 $9,450.00 $9,450.00
196. Hydro Mulching - Rough/Dry Detention ACRE         27.7 $4,750.00 $131,575.00 $4,550.00 $126,035.00 $4,200.00 $116,340.00 100.00% $131,575.00 $0.00
197. Hydro Mulching - Fairway ACRE         24.7 $4,750.00 $117,325.00 $4,525.00 $111,767.50 $3,800.00 $93,860.00 100.00% $117,325.00 $0.00
198. Irrigation LSUM              1 

$716,000.00 $716,000.00 $784,300.00 $784,300.00 $800,000.00 $800,000.00 80.00% 20.00% $572,800.00 $143,200.00 $143,200.00 $143,200.00 $143,200.00 $143,200.00
199. Turf Reinforcement Mat SY     39,700 $13.00 $516,100.00 $24.30 $964,710.00 $40.00 $1,588,000.00 100.00% $516,100.00 $0.00

TOTAL BASE PROJECT $19,642,172.45 $31,081,921.96 $26,213,760.00 $19,279,039.28 $363,133.17 $363,133.17 $363,133.17 $363,133.17 $363,133.17

Alternatives Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost
A Units Quantity Unit of Item Unit of Item Unit of Item Cart Part WPD Items 

 
Items to consider Staff Recommendation 

1. Pec-Mat Installation - North Course Hole #7 SF       2,140 $3.00 $6,420.00 $2.70 $5,778.00 $3.00 $6,420.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $6,420.00 $6,420.00 $6,420.00 Pond edging repair and matting 
2. 2" Micro-Slit LF       4,190 $17.50 $73,325.00 $16.50 $69,135.00 $17.00 $71,230.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $73,325.00 $73,325.00 $73,325.00 Greens 15,16,17 drainage 
3. Tees and Green Collars Seeding SF   141,935 $0.20 $28,387.00 $0.19 $26,967.65 $0.20 $28,387.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $28,387.00 $28,387.00 $28,387.00 Tee and green collor seeding 
4. Bluegrass Sod SF     50,000 $1.10 $55,000.00 $1.03 $51,500.00 $2.00 $100,000.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 Sodding for cart path disturbance
5. New Cart Path Installation SF   174,640 $3.90 $681,096.00 $4.33 $756,191.20 $4.00 $698,560.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $681,096.00 $681,096.00 $681,096.00 Cart Path, new path system 
6. New Cart Path "Maintenance Road" Installation SF       3,730 $5.70 $21,261.00 $6.44 $24,021.20 $7.00 $26,110.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $21,261.00 $21,261.00 $21,261.00 Cart Path Maintenace Roads, new path system 
7. Existing Asphalt Cart Path to be Resurfaced SF     25,750 $2.35 $60,512.50 $2.20 $56,650.00 $2.50 $64,375.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $60,512.50 $60,512.50 $60,512.50 Resurface current paths 
8. Existing Gravel Path to be Resurfaced with Asphalt SF       5,320 $2.35 $12,502.00 $2.20 $11,704.00 $2.25 $11,970.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $12,502.00 $12,502.00 $12,502.00 Surfacing for gravel paths (cuurent) 
9. Existing Gravel Path "Maintenance Road" to be Resurfaced with 

Asphalt
SF       5,985 

$3.15 $18,852.75 $2.75 $16,458.75 $3.00 $17,955.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $18,852.75 $18,852.75 $18,852.75 Surfacing for gravel paths (cuurent) 
10. Decomposed Granite Path SF       4,800 $6.70 $32,160.00 $6.35 $30,480.00 $10.00 $48,000.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $32,160.00 $32,160.00 $32,160.00 For walking path by 8 green/ 9 Tee 
11. 6"x6" Cart Path Curbing LF          683 $62.00 $42,346.00 $59.35 $40,536.05 $61.00 $41,663.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $42,346.00 $42,346.00 $42,346.00 Cubing for cart paths around pond areas and where needed
12. Cart Path Sealant LSUM              1 $9,870.00 $9,870.00 $9,400.00 $9,400.00 $8,684.60 $8,684.60 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $9,870.00 $9,870.00 $9,870.00 Sealcoating of current untouch paths
13. Erosion Control Blanket SF     50,000 $0.40 $20,000.00 $0.34 $17,000.00 $0.40 $20,000.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 Erosion control blanket where needed for cart path grading 
14. Select Tree and Stump Removal - 10" or Less Caliper Tree EACH            42 

$158.00 $6,636.00 $80.00 $3,360.00 $82.00 $3,444.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $6,636.00 $6,636.00 Tree Removals for Cart Paths, dead or dying trees and Village improvements 
15. Select Tree and Stump Removal - Tree Larger Than 10" Caliper EACH            89 

$525.00 $46,725.00 $175.00 $15,575.00 $180.00 $16,020.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $46,725.00 $46,725.00 Tree Removals for Cart Paths, dead or dying trees and Village improvements 
16. Select Tree and Stump Removal - Stump Removal EACH            10 $79.00 $790.00 $30.00 $300.00 $31.00 $310.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $790.00 $790.00 $790.00 Stump Removals 
17. Select Tree and Stump Removal - Selective Clearing/Underbrush ACRE            29 $2,940.00 $85,260.00 $1,500.00 $43,500.00 $1,500.00 $43,500.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $85,260.00 $85,260.00 Selective clearing berms and wooded areas
18. Winnetka Park District Preplant Fertilization - DEDUCT LSUM              1 ($19,719.00) -$19,719.00 ($18,780.00) -$18,780.00 ($22,644.00) -$22,644.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 -$19,719.00 ($19,719.00) ($19,719.00) WPD fertilizer application 
19. Re-use Existing Drainage Inlets - DEDUCT EACH          212 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $2.12 ($1.00) -$212.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
20. Contractor Removal of Existing Irrigation Heads LSUM              1 $25,410.00 $25,410.00 $24,200.00 $24,200.00 $24,700.00 $24,700.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $25,410.00 $25,410.00 $25,410.00 Removal of all irrigation heads pre construciton 
21. Green Seeding by Winnetka Park District - DEDUCT SF   138,863 ($0.15) -$20,829.45 ($0.15) -$20,829.45 ($0.20) -$27,772.60 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 -$20,829.45 ($20,829.45) WPD Green Seeding 
22. Cart Path Rough Seeding and Hydromulching ACRE              7 $6,930.00 $46,431.00 $6,600.00 $44,220.00 $6,500.00 $43,550.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 $46,431.00 Not needed with the sod work above ($8,569.00) 
23. Winnetka Park District Application of Herbicide in Fairway and 

Roughs - DEDUCT
LSUM              1 

($3,150.00) -$3,150.00 ($3,000.00) -$3,000.00 ($38,250.00) -$38,250.00 0.00% 100.00% $0.00 -$3,150.00 ($3,150.00) ($3,150.00) WPD Herbicide Application of Fairways and Rough areas 

TOTAL ALTERNATIVES $1,229,285.80 $1,204,369.52 $1,186,000.00 $0.00 $1,229,285.80 $953,600.25 $108,922.00 $66,971.55 $1,118,424.25 Total for WPD suggested Alternates 

196



Cart Part WPD Items 

Maintenance 
Items to 
consider 

Staff Review (based on 
Village percentages) 

Item Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost Cost per Total Cost VILLAGE PARK D. COST TO COST TO
No. Description Units Quantity Unit of Item Unit of Item Unit of Item % % VILLAGE WPD

DISTRIBUTION
Low Bidder

DiMeo Brothers, Inc. Berger Excavating V3 Construction Group, Ltd.
Low Bidder

$19,279,039.28 $1,592,418.97 $363,133.17 $363,133.17 $363,133.17 $1,481,557.42 Total Based with WDP suggestions based (Village Breakdown) 
TOTAL PROJECT BASE + ALTERNATIVES $20,871,458.25 $32,286,291.48 $27,399,760.00 $20,871,458.25 $1,316,733.42 $1,425,655.42 $1,492,626.97 $74,077.87 5% Contingency 

$1,555,635.29 Total based with WPD Alternates and contingency 

197



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPRAISAL REPORT OF THE 
PARK LAND 

768 OAK STREET 
WINNETKA, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared For: 
 

John Peterson 
Winnetka Park District 
540 Hibbard Avenue 

Winnetka, Illinois 60093 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd. 
419 South 7th Avenue 

LaGrange, Illinois 60525 

198



 

 
419 South 7th Avenue • LaGrange, IL 60525 • 708.579.5286 

www.dostvaluation.com 

  
 
 
 
 
July 30, 2022 
 
 
Mr. John Peterson 
Winnetka Park District 
540 Hibbard Avenue 
Winnetka, Illinois 60093 
 
 
Re: Park Land 

768 Oak Street 
Winnetka, Cook County, Illinois 60093 

 
Dear Mr. Peterson: 
 
In accordance with your request, we are pleased to submit this summarized appraisal report 
providing our opinion of the market value of the Fee Simple Interest of the above referenced 
property.  The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the real estate, as of 
July 28, 2022, for potential sale purposes.   
 
Briefly described, the subject consists of an irregularly-shaped area of land consisting of 0.26 
acres or 11,270 square feet and is zoned B-1, Multifamily Residential. The subject site is owned 
by the Winnetka Park District and is located directly east of the Winnetka Library and is known 
as Library Park.   
 
The subject consists of land and the only applicable approach is the Sales Comparison 
Approach. The scope of the appraisal included, but was not limited to, the following:   
 

1. Inspecting the property and its environment 
 

2. Conducting research to obtain comparable sales of vacant land 
 

3. Estimating land value, as vacant, and developable to its highest and best 
use by the Sales Comparison Approach 

 
4. Reconciling the approaches applied for the final value estimate 

 
5. Preparing a written report summarizing our analyses 

 

199



Winnetka Park District 
July 30, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 

The attached report was prepared in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice (USPAP), the Code of Professional Ethics and the Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute.  
 
Based upon the procedures outlined in this report and subject to the incorporated Assumptions 
and Limiting Conditions, it is our opinion that the market value of the Fee Simple Interest of the 
subject property as of July 28, 2022, is: 
 

THREE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
$320,000 

 
 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 
       DOST VALUATION GROUP, LTD. 

        
Eric W. Dost, MAI, AI-GRS 

 
 
2022.033 

200



SUMMARY OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.    
  

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
General Data  
Type of Property Park Land 
Property Location 768 Oak Street 

Winnetka, Cook County, Illinois 60093 
Effective Date of Value July 28, 2022 
Date of Inspection July 28, 2022 
Interest Appraised Fee Simple Interest  
Value Estimated Market Value 
Property Data  
Site Description Briefly described, the subject consists of an irregularly-

shaped area of land consisting of 0.26 acres or 11,270 
square feet and is zoned B-1, Multifamily Residential. 
The subject site is owned by the Winnetka Park District 
and is located directly east of the Winnetka Library and 
is known as Library Park.   

Floodplain 
  Map Number  
  Dated 
  Zone 

 
17031C0251K 
September 10, 2021 
Unshaded X 
Zone Unshaded X is defined as an area of low flood risk.  

Improvements None, the subject consists of park land. 
P.I.N.(s) 

 
 
Value Indications  
   Cost Approach Not Applicable 
   Sales Comparison Approach $320,000 
   Income Capitalization Approach Not Applicable 
Final Estimate of Value $320,000 

05-20-218-022
05-20-218-023

201



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.    
  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 1 

Purpose and Use of the Appraisal......................................................................................... 1 
Date of Value ........................................................................................................................ 1 
Scope of the Assignment ...................................................................................................... 1 
Definition of Value ................................................................................................................. 1 
Property Rights Appraised .................................................................................................... 2 
Legal Description .................................................................................................................. 2 
Exposure and Marketing Time .............................................................................................. 3 
Ownership and History .......................................................................................................... 3 

DESCRIPTIVE DATA ............................................................................................................. 4 
Neighborhood Summary ....................................................................................................... 4 
Site Description ..................................................................................................................... 5 
Zoning Summary .................................................................................................................. 6 
Real Estate Taxes and Assessments .................................................................................... 7 
Highest and Best Use ........................................................................................................... 8 

VALUATION METHODOLOGY .............................................................................................. 9 
SALES COMPARISON APPROACH ....................................................................................10 

Land Valuation .....................................................................................................................10 
Land Sales Analysis ............................................................................................................18 
Conclusion ...........................................................................................................................20 

Reconciliation and Final Value Conclusion ............................................................................21 
ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS ....................................................................22 
CERTIFICATION ..................................................................................................................25 
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS ....................................................................................26 
 
 
EXHIBITS 
 
FLOOD HAZARD MAP 
PLAT MAPS 
AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH 

202



INTRODUCTION   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  1  
  

INTRODUCTION 

PURPOSE AND USE OF THE APPRAISAL 

The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the subject property as of July 
28, 2022 for potential sale purposes.  The intended user is the client, the Winnetka Park District.  
 
DATE OF VALUE 

The report, its analyses, conclusions, and final expression of value are specifically applicable to 
the date of value: July 28, 2022.  The property was last inspected on July 28, 2022. 
 
SCOPE OF THE ASSIGNMENT 

The subject consists of land and the only applicable approach is the Sales Comparison 
Approach. The scope of the appraisal included, but was not limited to, the following:   
 

1. Inspecting the property and its environment 
 

2. Conducting research to obtain comparable sales of vacant land 
 

3. Estimating land value, as vacant, and developable to its highest and best 
use by the Sales Comparison Approach 

 
4. Reconciling the approaches applied for the final value estimate 

 
5. Preparing a written report summarizing our analyses 

 
 
DEFINITION OF VALUE 

For the purpose of this report, market value is defined as: 
 

the most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open 
market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each 
acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by 
undue stimulus.  Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a 
specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 
 
1. buyer and seller are typically motivated; 

203



INTRODUCTION   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  2  
  

 
2. both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider 

their best interests; 
 

3. a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 

4. payment is made in terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of financial 
arrangements comparable thereto; and 

 
5. the price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 

special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated 
with the sale. 

 
Source: Interagency Appraisal and Evaluation Guidelines, December, 2010. 
 
 
PROPERTY RIGHTS APPRAISED 

The fee simple interest in the subject property is being appraised, which is defined below. 
Definitions of several common property rights appraised are outlined below.   
 
Fee Simple Estate: 
 

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only 
to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, eminent 
domain, police power, and escheat. 

 
Source: The Dictionary Real Estate Appraisal, 6th  Edition, The Appraisal Institute, Chicago, 2015. 
 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

The property is legally described on the Cook County tax records as the following parcel 
numbers.  A metes and bounds description is on a Plat of Survey included in the Exhibits. 
 

 
 

 

 

05-20-218-022
05-20-218-023

204



INTRODUCTION   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  3  
  

EXPOSURE AND MARKETING TIME 

Exposure time is the estimated time it would have taken to sell a property prior to the date of 
value.  Exposure time is a retrospective estimate that is assumed to culminate on the date of 
value.  The marketing period is the estimated time it will take to sell a property.  Marketing time 
is a prospective estimate that begins on the date of value.  Marketing time and exposure time 
are often similar, particularly when market conditions are stable.  
 
Given the subject's size and location, the exposure time and marketing time are estimated to be 
approximately 6 to 9 months. 
 
OWNERSHIP AND HISTORY 

According to public records, the subject site is currently owned by Winnetka Park District and is 
being considered for a possible sale the Winnetka Library District.  
 
To the best of our knowledge, no sales, listings or offerings for the subject property have taken 
place over the past five-year period. 

205



DESCRIPTIVE DATA   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  4  
  

DESCRIPTIVE DATA  

NEIGHBORHOOD SUMMARY 

The subject is located in central Winnetka, at the southern end Winnetka’s downtown area. 
Winnetka is known as a desirable North Shore suburb of Chicago that is located about 15 miles 
north of the Chicago Central business district.  The majority of development within Winnetka 
consists of single family residential homes and the area has been built out for decades.  
 
The neighborhood has adequate transportation access. Major thoroughfares in the 
neighborhood include Tower Road, Willow Road, Winnetka Avenue, Green Bay Road and 
Sheridan Road.  Interstate 94 is located several miles west of the subject.   Public transportation 
is available via the Metra Union Pacific North line.   Properties immediately surrounding the 
subject include the Winnetka Public Library to the west, a small land parcel followed by a 
parking lot and Metra Station across Green Bay to the north, Road, condominiums to the south 
and rail road tracks to the east, across Green Bay Road. A map is shown below. 
 

 
 

206



DESCRIPTIVE DATA   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  5  
  

SITE DESCRIPTION 

Location: 768 Oak Street 
Winnetka, Cook County, Illinois  

Size/Shape: The subject consists of an irregularly-shaped 
area of land known as Library Park with a total 
area of 0.26 acres or 11,270 square feet.  

Topography: Basically level.  
Access/Frontage: The subject has good visibility and access. It 

has approximately 155 feet of frontage on the 
west side of Green Bay Road. The site has a 
depth of 46 feet on the north lot line and 130 
feet on the south lot line. 

Streets: Green Bay Road is a four-lane running north-
south. Oak Street is a two-lane street that runs 
east-west and has a signalized T-intersection at 
the subject site. 

Utilities: All available 
Auxiliary Structures: Although there are no auxiliary structures, there 

are electrical transformers along the south lot 
line. 

Easements and Encroachments: No easements or encroachments were 
identified which would have a significant impact 
on the marketability or value of the site.  

Soil Capacity and Environmental 
Hazards: 

A soil report was not available. It is assumed, 
based on the surrounding structures, that the 
remaining portions of the site have adequate 
load bearing capacity. It is also assumed that 
there are no environmental hazards that would 
have a detrimental effect on the property. 

Floodplain Status: According to Flood Insurance Rate Maps 
17031C0251K, dated September 10, 2021, the 
site is located in Zone Unshaded X, an area of 
minimal flood risk.  

Conclusion: The site is adequate for development. 
  

207



DESCRIPTIVE DATA   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  6  
  

ZONING SUMMARY 

Government Organization: Village of Winnetka 
Classification: B-1, Multifamily Residential District. 
Purpose: The B-1 Multifamily Residential District is 

intended to provide a land use buffer between 
commercial and detached single-family land 
uses, and between vehicular traffic along Green 
Bay Road and detached single-family land uses.  
Consequently, the district encourages the 
development of two-family, low-density multiple-
family and, where appropriate, other limited land 
uses which are compatible with nearby detached 
single family residential neighborhoods.  

Permitted Uses: The B-1, Multifamily Residential District permits 
two-family, multiple-family residential uses, as 
well as educational and planned development 
uses.  

Maximum Height: 35 feet 
Units Per Acre: 18 units per acre for sites less than 14,420 

square feet.  18 units per acre equates to a 
maximum of 4.66 units for the subject site, which 
would most likely be rounded down to 4 units. 

Lot Width: Minimum average of 60 feet 
Maximum Lot Coverage: 40% for principal building (4,508 SF for subject 

site) 
Setbacks: 
  Front Yard 
  Side Yard 
  Rear Yard 

 
25 feet 
12 feet 
20 feet 

Parking: Two spaces per unit, plus 0.25 spaces per unit 
Other: All parcels with more than 10,000 square feet 

shall be developed as Planned Developments. 
Potential Use: Due to the site’s size it would require going 

through the Planned Development process. In 
addition, it appears that a maximum of 4 units 
would be allowed on the site.  Last, due to its 
shape and required setbacks and the subject’s 
shape 4 units would most likely not be 
townhouse units, but flats.  If townhouse units 
were proposed it is possible that two units may 
be allowed.  Our opinion regarding the zoning is 

208



DESCRIPTIVE DATA   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  7  
  

based upon our review of the B-1 section of the 
Winnetka zoning ordinance.  We are not zoning 
experts and strongly suggest consulting a zoning 
expert familiar with the ordinances in Winnetka 
prior to development.   

Current Use: The subject currently consists of park land, which 
is a legally permissible use.   

 
 
 
REAL ESTATE TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS 

The subject is within the real estate taxing jurisdiction of Cook County, Illinois.  Taxes are 
payable in arrears and are calculated by multiplying the assessed value by the equalization 
factor and the tax rate.  Vacant land is assessed at 10% of the assessor’s estimate of market 
value in Cook County. The subject property is tax exempt. 

 
 

209



DESCRIPTIVE DATA   
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  8  
  

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 

The Appraisal Institute defines highest and best use as: 
 

The reasonably probable use of property that results in the highest value. The 
four criteria that the highest and best use must meet are legal permissibility, 
physical possibility, financial feasibility, and maximum productivity.  

 
Implicit within the definition are a number of factors that must be considered in the highest and 
best use analysis. These factors include physically possible, legally permissible, financially 
feasible, and maximally productive. 
 
Source:  The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal,  6th Edition, The Appraisal Institute, Chicago, 2015. 

 
Highest and Best Use - As Vacant 
 

The subject site is zoned B-1, Multifamily Residential District. The subject’s current zoning 
designation allows two-family and multiple-family residential uses, as well as educational and 
public recreational uses. The site has an irregular configuration and based on the zoning, 
roughly 2 to 4 units might be legally permissible.  Note that we are not zoning experts and 
strongly suggest consulting a zoning expert familiar with the ordinances in Winnetka prior to 
development.   The site is physically suited for development that is compatible with surrounding 
property uses. There is multifamily residential to the south and the Winnetka Public Library to 
the west.  The site is currently used as a public park.  Access, exposure and other physical 
attributes are adequate for development.  

 

Based on the subject’s zoning, the highest and best use of the site is for multifamily residential 
use consistent with the site’s zoning.  
 
 

210



VALUATION METHODOLOGY                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  9  
  

VALUATION METHODOLOGY 

There are three principal approaches to estimate the value of real estate, as described below.  
 

The Cost Approach: This approach provides an indication of market value by 
estimating the replacement cost new of the building improvements, and 
subtracting an estimate of any physical deterioration, functional and external (or 
economic) obsolescence found. To this number is added the land value, the 
depreciated cost of the site improvements and in some cases, the depreciated 
value of the furnishings, fixtures and equipment. 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach: This valuation approach is based upon the 
principle of substitution; that is, when a property is replaceable in the market, its 
value tends to be set at the cost of acquiring an equally desirable substitute 
property, assuming no costly delay in making the substitution. Since no two 
properties are identical, the sale price is converted to a unit measure such as 
price per square foot or price per acre, and adjustments are made to the unit sale 
price for differences in date of sale, location, zoning and other factors. 
 
The Income Capitalization Approach: This valuation approach derives a value 
indication for income producing property by converting anticipated benefits, i.e., 
cash flows and reversions, into property value. The process begins by 
establishing a potential gross income using comparable rentals and/or contract 
rents, and by examining historical income and expense statements.  From this 
gross income vacancy and collection loss, and operating expenses are deducted 
to arrive at the net operating income.  The net operating income is capitalized 
into value with an overall rate or by using a discounted cash flow technique. 

 
Since the subject consists of land, only the Sales Comparison Approach is applied in this 
appraisal.   

211



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  10  
  

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 

LAND VALUATION 

The land was valued in fee simple, assuming the site to be vacant and ready for development to 
its highest and best use.  Several comparable land sales are analyzed.  These are located 
within the general market area of the subject property and are considered to be representative 
of market activity and conditions as of the valuation date.  Items that often require adjustment 
include conditions of sale, market conditions, size, location, zoning and other factors.  A 
summary of the land sales along with an adjustment grid and map, are presented on the 
following pages. 

212



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  11  
  

Land Sale 1 
 
General Sale Data  

Date of Transaction: July 2021 
Location: 2625 Waukegan Rd 

Highland Park, IL 
Assessor Identification: 16-15-210-307-019, -020, -021 & -047 
Seller: Serenity Real Estate LLC 
Buyer: Bloom Waukegan LLC 
Consideration: $1,200,000  
Financing: Cash or equivalent 
  
Property Data  
Land Size: 1.17 Acres or 51,129 Square Feet 
Zoning: RM-1 
Utilities Available: All utilities to site 
Topography:  Level 
Intended Use: Townhouse development 
  
Appraisal Indicators  

Price Per Square Foot: $23.47  
Price Per Unit: $54,545  

 
Source: CoStar COMPS, Public Record 
Comment:  This corner site has a 13,200 square foot building on it 

that required demolition prior to development with a 
22-unit townhome property. 

 

213



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  12  
  

Land Sale 2 
 
General Sale Data  

Date of Transaction: December 2018 
Location: 514 Poplar 

Wilmette, IL 
Assessor Identification: 05-34-117-017 & -020 
Seller: Ronald Witt Trust 
Buyer: 514 Poplar LLC 
Consideration: $650,000  
Financing: Cash or equivalent 
  
Property Data  
Land Size: 0.27 Acres or 11,596 Square Feet 
Zoning: R2 
Utilities Available: All utilities to site 
Topography:  Level 
Intended Use: Townhouse development 
  
Appraisal Indicators  

Price Per Square Foot: $56.05  
Price Per Unit: $162,500  

 
Source: CoStar COMPS, Public Record 
Comment:   The site was purchased for demolition of existing 

improvements and construction of a 4-unit townhouse 
project. 

 

214



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  13  
  

Land Sale 3 
 
General Sale Data  

Date of Transaction: December 2020 
Location: 898 Deerfield Rd 

Highland Park, IL 
Assessor Identification: 16-26-102-002 & -003 
Seller: Frank  & Adelina Vena  
Buyer: THG Holdings LLC 
Consideration: $425,000  
Financing: Cash or equivalent 
  
Property Data  
Land Size: 0.34 Acres or 15,000 Square Feet 
Zoning: RM-1 
Utilities Available: All utilities to site 
Topography:  Level 
Intended Use: Rectangular interior lot purchased for development of 

a 4-unit townhouse project. 
  
Appraisal Indicators  

Price Per Square Foot: $28.33  
Price Per Unit: $106,250  

 
Source: Public Records 
Comment:  This rectangular interior site had a single family home 

on one of the two lots.  The property was purchased to 
demolish the home and develop the site with a 4-unit 
townhouse project. 

 

215



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  14  
  

Land Sale 4 
 
General Sale Data  

Date of Transaction: December 2017 
Location: 20 Webster 

Highwood, IL 
Assessor Identification: 16-15-210-013 & -017 
Seller: BMA Highwood LLC 
Buyer: Webster Place Highwood LLC 
Consideration: $750,000  
Financing: Cash or equivalent 
  
Property Data  
Land Size: 0.70 Acres or 30,492 Square Feet 
Zoning: PUD 
Utilities Available: All utilities to site 
Topography:  Level 
Intended Use: Townhouse development 
  
Appraisal Indicators  

Price Per Square Foot: $24.60  
Price Per Unit: $53,571  

 
Source: CoStar and Public Records 
Comment:  This long and irregular site was zoned PUD and 

entitled for 14 townhouse units. 
 

216



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  15  
  

Land Sale 5 
 
General Sale Data  

Date of Transaction: February 2021 
Location: 1210 Central Ave 

Wilmette, IL 
Assessor Identification: 05-34-101-034 & -035 
Seller: International Bank of Chicago 
Buyer: Green Bay Wilmette LLC 
Consideration: $6,000,000  
Financing: Cash or equivalent 
  
Property Data  
Land Size: 0.96 Acres or 42,001 Square Feet 
Zoning: PUD 
Utilities Available: All utilities to site 
Topography:  Level 
Intended Use: Rectangular corner site purchased for demolition of 

existing improvements and construction of a 100-unit 
apartment project with ground floor commercial. 

  
Appraisal Indicators  

Price Per Square Foot: $142.85  
Price Per Unit: $60,000  

 
Source: CoStar and Public Records 
Comment:  This site was purchased for demolition of bank 

building and construction of a 100-unit apartment 
building with ground floor retail known as Optima. 

 
  
 

217



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  16  
  

  

Subject Land Sale 1  Land Sale 2  Land Sale 3  Land Sale 4  Land Sale 5

Location 768 Oak Street 2625 Waukegan Rd 514 Poplar 898 Deerfield Rd 20 Webster 1210 Central Ave
City Winnetka Highland Park Wilmette Highland Park Highwood Wilmette
Zoning/Use B-1 RM-1 R2 RM-1 PUD PUD
Date of Sale N/A July 2021 December 2018 December 2020 December 2017 February 2021
Price N/A $1,200,000 $650,000 $425,000 $750,000 $6,000,000
Primary Size (Square Feet) 11,270 51,129 11,596 15,000 30,492 42,001
Primary Size (Acres) 0.26 1.17 0.27 0.34 0.70 0.96
Number of Units 4 22 4 4 14 100
Density (Units/Acre) 15 19 15 12 20 104
Unadjusted Price/Unit $54,545 $162,500 $106,250 $53,571 $60,000 
Unadjusted Price/SF $23.47 $56.05 $28.33 $24.60 $142.85 

Comments

Corner site purchased 
for demolition of existing 

improvements and 
construction of a 22-unit 

townhouse project.

Irregular site 
purchased for 

demolition of existing 
improvements and 

construction of a 4-unit 
townhouse project.

Rectangular interior lot 
purchased for 

development of a 4-unit 
townhouse project.

This long and irregular 
site was zoned PUD 

and entitled for 14 
townhouse units.

Rectangular corner site 
purchased for 

demolition of existing 
improvements and 

construction of a 100-
unit apartment project 

with ground floor 
commercial.

Elements of Comparison
   Property Rights Sold Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
   Conditions of Sale Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
   Market Conditions Similar Upward Similar Upward Similar
Total Adjustments Similar Upward Similar Upward Similar

Physical Characteristics
   Size Upward Similar Similar Upward Upward
   Zoning/Use Upward Similar Upward Downward Downward
   Utilities Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
   Location Upward Downward Upward Upward Downward
   Shape/Configuration/Topography Downward Downward Downward Similar Downward
Total Adjustments Upward Downward Similar Upward Downward

Total Site Primary Site Wetlands
Concluded Unit Price $28.00 Units: $28.00 $0.00 
Land Area 11,270Ratio: 11,270 0
Land Value $315,560 $315,560 $0 
Rounded $320,000 $320,000 $0 

Land Valuation Summary

218



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  17  
  

Land Sales Map 

219



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  18  
  

LAND SALES ANALYSIS 

The land sales are adjusted to reflect variances with the subject for factors including property 
rights conveyed, financing terms, conditions of sale, market conditions (time), physical 
characteristics, economic characteristics and use.  The unit of comparison is the price per 
square foot, since buyers use this unit of comparison when analyzing land sales in this market.    
 
The fee simple interest in each of the comparables sold.  As a result, adjustments are not 
required for property rights conveyed.  None of the comparables sold with atypical financing, 
thus, no adjustments are warranted for financing.  The sales under analysis occurred between 
December 2017 and July 2021.  Market conditions have improved since 2017 and upward 
adjustment for market conditions is warranted for Land Sales 2 and 4.  
 
Land Sale 1 is the sale of a site located at 2625 Waukegan Rd in Highland Park that sold for 
$54,545 per proposed unit or $23.47 per square foot.  This location is considered inferior to the 
subject property’s location warranting upward adjustment.  This site is zoned RM-1 and is 
intended for development of a 22-unit townhouse development at a slightly higher density as the 
subject and the zoning/use is considered inferior to the subject, warranting upward adjustment 
for zoning/use.  The comparable is considered inferior in terms of size, indicating upward 
adjustment for size is required.  In terms of shape/configuration/topography, the comparable is a 
rectangular corner, which is considered superior to the subject, and downward adjustment is 
required.  Overall, this sale requires upward adjustment. 
 
Land Sale 2 is the sale of a site located at 514 Poplar in Wilmette that sold for $162,500 per unit 
or $56.05 per square foot.  This location is considered superior to the subject property’s location 
and downward adjustment is required.  This site is zoned R2, it is intended for development of a 
4-unit townhouse property, which is considered similar to the subject, warranting no adjustment 
for zoning/use.  The comparable is considered similar in terms of size, indicating no adjustment 
for size is required.  In terms of shape/configuration/topography, the comparable is an irregular 
lot but has access and frontage from an alley, which is considered superior to the subject and 
downward adjustment is required.  Overall, this sale requires downward adjustment. 
 
Land Sale 3 is the sale of a site located at 898 Deerfield Rd in Highland Park that sold for 
$106,250  per unit or $28.33 per square foot.  This location is considered inferior to the subject’s 
location and upward adjustment is required for location.  This site is zoned RM-1 and is 
intended for townhouse development at lower density use, which is considered inferior to the 

220



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  19  
  

subject, warranting upward adjustment.  The comparable is considered similar in terms of size, 
indicating no adjustment for size is required.  In terms of shape/configuration/topography, the 
comparable is a rectangular interior lot, which is considered superior to the subject and 
downward adjustment is required.  Overall, this sale requires no adjustment. 
 
Land Sale 4 is the sale of a site located at 20 Webster in Highwood that sold for $53,571 per 
unit or $24.60 per square foot.  This location is considered inferior and upward adjustment is 
required for location.  This site is zoned PUD and is intended for a 14-unit townhouse 
development at a higher density than the subject, which is considered superior, warranting 
downward adjustment.  The comparable is considered inferior in terms of size, indicating 
upward adjustment for size is required.  In terms of shape/configuration/topography, the 
comparable is a long and narrow, irregular interior lot, which is considered similar to the subject 
and no adjustment is required.  Overall, this sale requires upward adjustment. 
 
Land Sale 5 is the sale of a site located at 1210 Central Ave in Wilmette that sold for $60,000  
per unit or $142.85 per square foot.    This location is considered superior and downward 
adjustment is required for location.  This site is zoned PUD and intended for development at a 
significantly higher density use, including commercial space.  The zoning/density is more than 6 
times greater than the subject, which is considered far superior to the subject, warranting 
downward adjustment for zoning/use to the price per square foot.  The comparable is 
considered inferior in terms of size, indicating upward adjustment for size is required.  In terms 
of shape/configuration/topography, the comparable is a rectangular corner, which is considered 
superior to the subject and downward adjustment is required.  Overall, this sale requires 
downward adjustment. 
 
The unadjusted range of prices is from $23.47 to $142.85 per square foot, with an average of 
$55.06 and a median of $28.33 per square foot.  Emphasis was placed on Land Sales 1 through 
4, which sold at prices ranging from $23.47 to $56.05, with an average of $33.11 per square 
foot.  Based on the adjustments applied to the sales, it is our opinion that the value of the 
subject land is $28.00 per square foot.  The value of the subject land is calculated as follows:   
 

 Land SF x $/SF = Land Value 
Total Site 11,270  $28.00   $315,560 

   Rounded  $320,000  
 
 

221



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  20  
  

Price Per Unit Analysis 
 
The sales ranged in price per unit from $53,571 to $162,500 with an average of $87,373 per 
unit.  In addition, assuming the subject could be developed with 4 units the concluded value of 
$320,000 equates to $80,000 per unit, which is within the range of the comparable land sales, 
just below the average and is considered reasonable. 
 
CONCLUSION 

In our opinion, the market value of the Fee Simple Interest in the subject property, as of July 28, 
2022, by the Sales Comparison Approach is $320,000.   

 

222



RECONCILIATION                                                                    
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  21  
  

RECONCILIATION AND FINAL VALUE CONCLUSION 

The subject consists of vacant land and the only applicable approach is the Sales Comparison 
Approach.  The Income Capitalization and Cost Approaches are not applicable.   The results of 
the approaches are shown in the table below.   
 

Cost Approach Not Applicable 
Sales Comparison Approach $320,000 
Income Capitalization Approach Not Applicable 

 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach gave consideration to recent sales of vacant land in the 
marketplace.  The quality and quantity of data in the Sales Comparison Approach are 
considered good.  In this situation, buyers of the comparable properties have familiarized 
themselves with the marketplace and purchased a property that they consider to be a fair value.  
The value estimate by the Sales Comparison Approach is considered to be a strong indicator of 
value for the subject.   
 
Based upon the analysis as presented in this report, it is our opinion that the market value of the 
Fee Simple Interest in the subject property, as of July 28, 2022, is: 
 

THREE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
$320,000 

223



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS  
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  22  
  

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

No opinion is rendered as to legal fee or property title, which are assumed to be good and 
marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, easements, and restrictions, except 
those specifically discussed in the report. Sketches, maps, photos, or other graphic aids 
included in valuation reports are intended to assist the reader in ready identification and 
visualization of the property and are not intended for technical purposes. 
 
No opinion is intended in matters that require legal, engineering, or other professional advice 
which has been or will be obtained from other professional sources. 
 
The property will not operate in violation of any applicable government regulations, codes, 
ordinances, or statutes. All required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents, or other 
legislative or administrative authorization from all local, state, or national governmental or 
private entities or organizations have been or can be obtained or renewed. 
 
The physical condition of the improvements considered in the appraisal is based upon visual 
inspection by the appraiser. No responsibility is assumed for the soundness of structural 
components or for the condition of the mechanical, plumbing, or electrical equipment. 
 
There are no concealed or dubious conditions of the subsoil or subsurface waters, including 
water table and floodplain, unless otherwise noted. There are no regulations of any 
governmental entity to control or restrict the use of the property, unless specifically referred to in 
the report.  
 
In the absence of competent advice to the contrary, it is assumed that the property is not 
adversely affected by concealed or unapparent hazards, such as, but not limited to:  asbestos, 
PCB transformers, hazardous or contaminated substances, toxic waste, radioactivity, or 
underground storage tanks. Unless otherwise noted, the appraiser is not qualified to detect such 
substances. If the client/property owner has a concern over the existence of such conditions in 
the subject property, the appraisers consider it imperative to retain the services of a qualified 
engineer or contractor to determine the extent of such conditions. Such consultation should 
include the estimated cost associated with any required treatment or removal of hazardous 
material. 
 
No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas, or mineral rights or as to whether 
the property is subject to surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials, except 
as expressly stated. 
 

224



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS  
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  23  
  

No significant change is assumed in the supply and demand patterns indicated in the report. We 
emphasize that this is not a market or feasibility study, but rather, an appraisal of the property 
as evaluated under market conditions as of the date of our market research. These market 
conditions are believed to be accurate; however, the appraisers assume no liability should 
market conditions materially change because of unusual or unforeseen circumstances. 
 
Information furnished by others is presumed to be reliable and, where so specified in the report, 
has been verified; however, we assume no responsibility, legal or otherwise, for its accuracy 
and cannot be guaranteed as being certain. All facts and data set forth in the report are true and 
accurate to the best of the appraiser’s knowledge and belief. No single item of information was 
completely relied upon to the exclusion of other information. 
 
All financial data, operating histories, and/or other data relating to the subject property or 
business provided by Management or its representatives have been accepted without further 
verification, except as specifically stated in the report. 
 
Valuation reports may contain prospective financial information, estimates, or opinions that 
represent the appraiser's view of reasonable expectations at a particular point in time, but such 
information, estimates, or opinions are not offered as predictions or as assurances that a 
particular level of income or profit will be achieved, that events will occur, or that a particular 
price will be offered or accepted. All opinions as to value are presented as the appraiser’s 
opinion based on the facts and data obtained during the investigation and set forth in the report. 
Actual results achieved during the period covered by our prospective financial analysis will vary 
from those described in our report, and the variations may be material. 
 
The date of the valuation to which the value estimate conclusions apply is set forth in the letter 
of transmittal and within the body of the report. The value is based on the purchasing power of 
the United States dollar as of that date. Any allocation of total price between land and 
improvements as shown is invalidated if used separately or in conjunction with any other report. 
 
It should be specifically noted that the valuation assumes the property will be competently 
managed and maintained by financially sound owners over the expected period of ownership. 
This appraisal engagement does not entail an evaluation of management's effectiveness, nor 
are we responsible for future marketing efforts and other management or ownership actions 
upon which actual results will depend. 
 
Unless otherwise noted, the estimate of the market value stated herein is the value of the 
subject property as a single entity. No consideration was given to a bulk sale or group purchase 
of properties. 
 
The report and the final estimate of value and the prospective financial analyses included 
therein are intended solely for the information of the person or persons to whom they are 
addressed, solely for the purposes stated, and should not be relied upon for any other purpose. 
 
Valuation assignments are accepted with the understanding that there is no obligation to furnish 
services after completion of the original assignment. If the need for subsequent services related 

225



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS  
 
 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  24  
  

to an appraisal assignment (e.g., testimony, updates, conferences, reprint or copy services) is 
contemplated, special arrangements acceptable to the appraiser must be made in advance. The 
appraiser reserves the right to make adjustments to the analysis, opinion, and conclusion set 
forth in the report as we deem necessary by consideration of additional or more reliable data 
that may become available.  
 
Neither the report nor any portions thereof, especially any conclusions as to value, or the 
identity of the appraiser, shall be disseminated to the public through public relations media, 
news media, sales media, or any other public means of communications without the prior written 
consent and approval of the appraiser. 
 
Neither the appraisal report nor any portions thereof or any reference to the appraiser, may be 
referred to or quoted in or disseminated to the public through any registration statement, 
prospectus, offering memorandum, loan agreement, other appraisal, sales or public relations 
material, news or other public communication media, or other agreement or document given to 
third parties without our prior written consent. Permission will be granted only upon meeting 
certain conditions. 
 
Possession of this report, or a copy thereof, does not carry with it the right of publication or 
duplication, nor may this report be used by any but the client without previous written consent of 
the appraisers, and then only in its entirety. 
 
The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992. The appraiser 
has not made a specific compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether it 
is in conformance with the various detailed requirements of ADA. No specific information 
relating to this issue was provided to the appraiser, nor is the appraiser qualified to make such 
an assessment. The effect of any possible non-compliance with the requirements of ADA was 
not considered in estimating the value of the subject property. 
 
 
 
 

226



CERTIFICATION   
 

 

Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.  25  
  

CERTIFICATION 

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 
 

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct; 
 
The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions 
and limiting conditions and are our personal, unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions; 
 
We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, and 
we have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved; 
 
Neither the engagement to make this appraisal (or any future appraisals for this client) nor the 
compensation are contingent upon the reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value 
that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a 
stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event. The appraisal assignment was not 
based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation or the approval of a loan; 
 
The analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in 
conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice; 
 
Eric W. Dost, MAI, AI-GRS made an inspection of the property;  

 
No one provided significant professional assistance in the preparation of this report; 
 
The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and the 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute; 
 
The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by 
its duly authorized representatives; 
 
As of the date of this report, Eric W. Dost, MAI, AI-GRS has completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute; 

We have not performed services as an appraiser or in any other capacity regarding the property 
that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of 
this assignment. 

    

    
Eric W. Dost, MAI, AI-GRS 
IL Certified General Appraiser 
#553.000473   

227



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 

ERIC W. DOST, MAI, AI-GRS 
 
EXPERIENCE 
 
Experience includes preparation and review of appraisals on a variety of proposed and existing 
properties.  Interests appraised include fee simple, leased fee, leasehold, and a variety of 
partnership, participation, and low-income housing tax credit interests.  Property types 
appraised are outlined below: 
 

- Apartment Complexes - Manufactured Home Communities 
- Assisted Living Facilities - Manufacturing Plants 
- Charter Schools - Medical Office Buildings 
- Community Shopping Centers - Neighborhood Shopping Centers 
- Congregate Care Facilities - Nursing Homes 
- Data Centers - Office Buildings 
- Distribution Facilities - Parking Garages 
- Food Processing Facilities - Professional office buildings 
- Hospitals - Regional Malls 
- Hotels - Residential Subdivisions 
- Land - Retail 
- Mall Anchor Stores - Surgery Centers 

 
EMPLOYMENT 
 
2003 to Present Dost Valuation Group, Ltd. President 
1995 to 2003: CBIZ Valuation Group, Inc., Director 

National Practice Leader and Regional Manager for real estate 
department. 

1992-1995: Wells Fargo Bank, Assistant Vice President 
Responsibilities included the technical review of investment grade real 
estate appraisals. 

1986 to 1992: Joseph J. Blake & Associates, Senior Appraiser 
Prepared appraisals on a variety of investment grade real estate. 

 
EDUCATION 
 
University of Illinois, Urbana, May 1986 
Bachelor of Science in Finance, Real Estate 
 
Courses sponsored by the Appraisal Institute and successfully completed include:  Principles of 
Appraisal, Basic Valuation Procedures, Capitalization Theory and Technique Parts A and B, 
Case Studies in Real Estate Valuation, Report Writing and Valuation Analysis, and Standards of 
Professional Practice. 

228



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

REPRESENTATIVE CLIENTS SERVED 
 
• Lenders & REITS 

- American National Bank & Trust Co. - Guaranty Federal Bank, FSB 
- AmSouth Bank - Health Care Property Investors 
- Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC - Health Care REIT 
- Bremer Bank - Illinois Housing Development Authority 
- Capital Funding Group, Inc. - Key Bank 
- Chase Bank - Lake Forest Bank & Trust 
- Clinton National Bank - Links Mortgage Corporation 
- Cole Taylor Bank - LTC Properties, Inc. 
- CSFB Realty Corp. - National City Bank 
- CWCapital - Prudential Huntoon Paige 
- Draper and Kramer - Wells Fargo Bank 
- First Northwest Bank - Walker Dunlop 

 
• Corporations 

- American Publishing - Merrill Corporation 
- AutoZone, Inc. - Metal Improvement Company 
- Bowne & Co. - Monsanto Company 
- Davisco Foods International, Inc. - Pathways Senior Living 
- Great Northern Industrial - Performance Chemical and Supply 
- Hajoca Corporation - Tootsie Roll Industries 
- Metraflex - Vesuvius USA 

 
• Law and Accounting Firms 

- Bryan Cave LLP - McGuire Woods 
- Business Valuation Group, Inc. - Odelson & Sterk, Ltd. 
- Canna and Canna, Ltd. - Robbins Schwartz 
- Franczek PC - Scariano, Himes and Petrarca 
- Hauser Izzo, LLC - Storino, Ramello and Durkin 
- Klein, Thorpe & Jenkins - Whitt Law LLC 

 
PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 
 
Designated Member of the Appraisal Institute: MAI and AI-GRS 
 
Certified General Appraiser in the following states: 
 
State Cert. Number Expires State Cert. Number Expires 
Illinois 553.000473 9/30/2023 Iowa CG01870 6/30/2022 
Indiana CG49500122 6/30/2022 Wisconsin 743-010 12/14/2023 
      
 
  

229



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

EXHIBITS 
  

230



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

 
FLOOD HAZARD MAP 

  

231



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

232



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

 
PLAT MAPS

233



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

 
 

 
  

234



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

  

235



EXHIBITS   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

 
LOCATION MAP AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH

236



   
 
 

   
Dost Valuation Group, Ltd.   

 
 
 

237



LIBRARY PARK
768 OAK STREET

WINNETKA, ILLINOIS 60093
PIN 05-20-218-022, 023, and in Consideration of -024

MaRous & Company

238



April 22, 2021

Winnetka Park District
540 Hibbard Road
Winnetka, Illinois  60093

Attention: Mr. John Peterson, Executive Director

Subject: Library Park
768 Oak Street
Winnetka, Illinois 60093
PIN 05-20-218-022, -023 and in Consideration of -024

Dear Mr. Peterson:

In conformance with the letter of engagement, the property at 768 Oak Street, Winnetka, Illinois, has
been inspected and appraised. This appraisal report has been prepared specifically for Mr. John Peterson. 
The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the subject property as of April 13, 2021,
in order to assist the client in determining at what price the property would sell if exposed for sale in the
open market. The entire fee simple interest in the property is being appraised.  The subject property is a
11,270-square-foot trapezoid-shaped vacant corner parcel, which is identified as Library Park.

The value estimates are provided under two scenarios:

1.  The value of the subject parcel as vacant property and available to the market.

The subject parcel could legally accommodate four townhouses; however, due to its corner location
on busy Green Bay Road and the sharp bend in the road, a circular drive on the site would be the most
practical ingress and egress access.  Therefore, the development of two townhouses would be the
highest and best use for this parcel.

In view of the following facts and data connected with this appraisal, the fee simple interest in the
subject property, as of April 13, 2021, is:

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($100,000)

2.  The value as assembled with the adjoining Winnetka Public Library (WPL) parcel, under the
     hypothetical assumption1 that the WPL is a vacant site.

1  A hypothetical assumption  is “a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to
    exist on the  effective date of the assignment results, but is used for the purpose of analysis.  Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
   Practice, 2018- 2019.  (Washington, D. C.: The Appraisal Foundation, 2016)  4.

239

Joey
v7



Mr. John Peterson
768 Oak Street
April 22, 2021

The first step is to determine the value of the whole, or the subject public parcel along with the adjacent
WPL parcel.  The second step is to determine the value of the WPL parcel standing alone to be proposed
for assemblage.  The difference between these two values is the “just compensation.”  Just compensation
also can be viewed as the value of the area contained in the public land plus the benefits that the
assemblage of the land adds to the original site. 

The following table summarizes the estimated values and the estimated just compensation for the public
parcel if assembled with the adjoining WPL property, which contains 35,226 square feet of land, for a
total of 46,496 square feet as assembled.  The value of the assembled whole is $22.00 per square foot.
The value of WPL parcel is estimated to be $20.00 per square foot as vacant, which is based on land sale
values analyzed in the body of this report.  The value of the WPL parcel subtracted from the value of the
whole as assembled, results in the just compensation of the subject parcel or $318,000, or $28.22 per
square foot.  The contributory value is greater as assembled, increasing the property size and utilizing the
maximum density permitted.

SIZE  

(SQ. FT.)

ESTIMATED

VALUE 

PER SQ. FT.

TOTAL

(ROUNDED)

Estimated Value of the Whole as Assembled 46,496 $22.00 $1,023,000

Estimated Contributory Value of Existing WPL Site 35,226 $20.00 $705,000

Just Compensation - Subject Library Park site 11,270 $28.22 $318,000

In view of the following facts and data connected with this appraisal, the fee simple interest in the subject

property as assembled with the adjacent WPL parcel, as of April 13, 2021, is:

THREE HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS

($318,000)

These value estimates are contingent upon the estimated exposure time of six to nine months.  They are

gross values and no allowances were made for brokerage commissions, costs of utilities, real estate taxes,

or other carrying costs during the marketing period.  The value estimates are based on a hypothetical

condition, in which the vacant land is solely valued and does not take into consideration the value of any

building or site improvements.

MaRous & Company has received and has relied upon verbal and written communications and

documents regarding the subject property in the preparation of this appraisal report.  If additional

information about the subject property is received or becomes known, MaRous & Company reserves the

right to determine whether this information has a substantive impact on the valuation of the subject

property and to adjust values accordingly.

iiMaRous & Company

240



Mr. John Peterson
768 Oak Street
April 22, 2021

This document conforms to my understanding of the appraisal report requirements under Standard Rule

2-2 (a) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice and Advisory Opinions (USPAP).

This appraisal report is a brief recapitulation of the appraisal data, analyses, and conclusions. Supporting

documentation is retained in MaRous & Company office files.

Respectfully submitted,

MaRous & Company

Michael S. MaRous, MAI, CRE
Illinois Certified General - #553.000141 (9/21 expiration)

iiiMaRous & Company

241

Joey
MM



APPRAISAL REPORT

768 Oak Street

Winnetka, Illinois 60093

PIN 05-20-218-022, -023 and in Consideration of -024

Purpose of Assignment, 

Date, and Intended Use

and User of the Appraisal

 

The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the

subject property as of April 13, 2021,  in order to assist Mr. Peterson in

determining at what price the property would sell if properly exposed

for sale in the open market. The entire fee simple interest is being

appraised.

The value estimates are provided under two scenarios:

1.  The value of the subject parcel as vacant property and available to

     the market.

2.  The value as assembled with the adjoining Winnetka Public Library   

      (WPL) parcel, under the hypothetical assumption2 that the WPL is

      a vacant site.

 

Fee Simple Estate Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,

subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of

taxation, eminent domain, police power, and escheat.3

Market Value The most probable price a property should bring in a competitive and

open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and

seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price

is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the

consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title

from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

• Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

• Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what

they consider their own best interests;

• A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

2  A hypothetical assumption  is “a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to
    exist on the  effective date of the assignment results, but is used for the purpose of analysis.  Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
    Practice, 2018-2019.  (Washington, D. C.: The Appraisal Foundation, 2016)  4.

3  The Appraisal of Real Estate. 14th ed., (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2013) 5.

MaRous & Company

242



• Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of

financial arrangements comparable thereto; and

• The price represents the normal consideration for the property

sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales

concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.4

Sources of Property

Identification and  

Scope of Work

In order to develop the market value of the fee simple interest in the

subject property:

• An inspection was made by Michael S. MaRous on April 13,

2021; 

• The physical and economic factors that could affect the property

being appraised were researched; 

• Site and building sizes were taken from documents provided by

the client;  

• The plat of survey completed by Daniel Creaney & Company and

dated September 29, 2015 provided by the client was used in the

report;

• General and specific information pertaining to the subject

property and its surrounding neighborhood was analyzed to

determine the highest and best use of the land as though vacant

and as improved, if applicable;

• Market research was conducted to compile information

concerning the general conditions affecting the type of property

being appraised and to develop sales of comparable vacant sites

and/or of improved properties;

• General and specific information regarding the subject property,

comparable improved and/or land sales, and/or relevant market

data was taken from a variety of public and/or subscription

sources, including mapping programs, governmental and private

sector websites, and other miscellaneous resources and reference

materials; 

• Interviews with brokers, appraisers, developers, and lending

institution representatives, as well as information from within

MaRous & Company office files, were used to provide

information for this report.

4.  The Appraisal of Real Estate. 14th ed., (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2013) 15

2MaRous & Company

243



Approaches to Value The valuation of real estate mainly uses a combination of three basic

approaches to value: the cost approach, the income capitalization

approach, and the sales comparison approach. From the values indicated

by these analyses and the weight accorded to each, an opinion of value

is reached based upon expert judgment within the framework of the

appraisal process.

Because the subject of this appraisal report is a vacant parcel, only the

sales comparison approach to value is considered appropriate to

develop an opinion of value. The correct methodology for a

determination of value for an assemblage requires the development of

just compensation for a proposed assemblage of the public property

with an adjoining property.  The first value to be determined is the

value of the whole, subject site and adjacent parcel proposed for

assemblage. The next step is to determine the value of the property to

which the public parcel is proposed for assemblage.  The difference

between the two values is the “just compensation.”  Just compensation

also can be viewed as the value of the area contained in the public

parcel plus the benefits that the assemblage of the vacant parcel adds to

the original site.

Market surveys were conducted for vacant land sales; these sales also

are reported in table form in the body of this report; and further

information is retained in MaRous & Company office files.

This document conforms to my understanding of the Appraisal Report

requirements under Standard Rule 2-2 (b) of the Uniform Standards of

Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP).  The opinion of value was

developed using a complete appraisal process as defined by USPAP,

and no departures from Standard 1 were invoked.  This Appraisal

Report is a brief recapitulation of the appraisal data, analyses, and

conclusions.  Additional supporting documentation is retained in the

MaRous & Company office file.

3MaRous & Company

244



History and Use

The Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP)

requires reporting and analysis of any sale transactions and any current

listing, pending sale, or option involving the subject property during the

past 3 years. According to public record, and information provided by

ownership, the property southwest adjacent to 768 Oak Street is owned

by the Winnetka Park District. To the best of my knowledge, no portion

of the property is listed for sale or is under contract for sale at this time.

As of the date of value utilized in this report, the subject property is a

vacant parcel adjacent to the public library.

Location Description

The village of Winnetka is a mature suburb encompassing

approximately 3.9 square miles that is located 16 miles north of the city

of Chicago.  Winnetka's estimated 2000 population was 12,419, and has

been stable for many years. 

The rough boundaries of the Village of Winnetka include the North

Branch of the Chicago River and the Skokie Lagoons to the west; Lake

Michigan to the east; and Winnetka Avenue to the south.  The northern

boundary with the Village of Winnetka is irregular. Surrounding

communities include Wilmette to the south, Glenview to the southwest,

Northbrook to the west; and Winnetka to the north. 

The major north/south arterials that serve the village are Interstate 94,

also known as the Edens Expressway; Green Bay Road; and Sheridan

Road. Major east/west arterials include Willow Road, which has a

partial interchange with Interstate 94, and Tower Road. O'Hare

International Airport is a 30-minute drive; Midway International Airport

is a 45- minute drive, depending on traffic.  Commuter trains into the

Chicago Loop take 55 minutes for the local, and 30 minutes for the

express.

4MaRous & Company

245



Immediate Environs The subject property is a public park owned by the Winnetka Park

District, located at the corner of Green Bay Road and Oak Street, just

south of downtown Winnetka.  The Metra train station is immediately

north of the subject and the Metra tracks run along the recessed eastern

boundary of the subject.  To the immediate south and west of the

subject are multifamily homes and a few small office buildings.  The

subject has approximately 100 feet of frontage along Green Bay Road.

Market Data Winnetka, and the North Shore in general, is one of the wealthiest

suburban communities in the Chicago Metropolitan Area.  The average

household income currently is estimated at $296,409 per year in the

immediate area of the subject.  The following graph illustrates the range

in incomes in the area.

2020 Income Profile

Radius
Census 

2010

Population

2020

Median

Household

Income

Average

Household

Income

Per Capita

Income

1 mile  8,924 8,733 $200,001 $296,409 $101,217

2 mile 28,062 27,487 $200,001 $276,554 $95,254

3 mile 61,865 61,098 $175,827 $241,785 $87,099

5MaRous & Company

246



 Site Description

The subject property is a public park owned by the Winnetka Park

District.  It is identified as a park but not used as a park in the true

sense.  There are no playground equipment or any benches for sitting.

The parcel is a 11,270-square-foot trapezoid-shaped corner parcel with

approximately 101 feet of frontage along Green Bay Road and 48 feet

along Oak Street.

6MaRous & Company

247



If assembled with the west adjacent Winnetka Public Library (WPL),

which consists of  a 35,226 square feet, the combined size is 46,496

square feet of land.  The assembled frontage would be 235 feet along

Oak Street, 187 feet along Linden Street, and 101 feet along Green Bay

Road.

Access Access to the subject parcel is via Linden Street, where the WPL

parking lot is located, albeit small, as well as limited street parking. 

The average traffic count along Green Bay Road is approximately 9,150

vehicles, which becomes Oak Street at this juncture and vice versa.

Were the subject parcel to be improved with townhouses, a curb cut

would necessitate access to the improvements.  Because Green Bay

Road bends sharply along the subject parcel,  the site induces a “blind

spot” within the fast-moving traffic. A curb cut near the southern

portion of the subject parcel would be most prudent and yet, it might

still be dangerous with oncoming traffic.

7MaRous & Company

248



Zoning The site is zoned B1, Multifamily Residential District, by the Village of

Winnetka. This zoning district’s principal uses are two-family dwellings

and multiple-family dwellings.  Special uses include day care centers,

educational centers, parking lots with storm water drainage properties,

and planned developments.  Accessory uses are varied and specified in

the zoning ordinance.

The maximum density permitted is 18 dwelling units per acre; or a

maximum of 24 units per acre if the parcel is greater than 14,520 square

feet.  Therefore, the subject parcel is permitted 4 units in the 11,270

square feet; and 25 units as assembled in the 46,496-square-foot parcel.

Although the legally permitted density is four units on the subject

parcel, because of the traffic along Green Bay Road and the blind spot

at the bend, the most prudent number of townhouses may be two units;

thus, allowing room for a wide circular driveway on the site for easier

ingress and egress.

Were the properties assembled, the flexibility for access to the parcel

would be from Linden Street with onsite parking.

In the B1 district, the maximum building height is 35 feet or 2.5 stories,

whichever is less. The minimum lot width for a dwelling is 60 feet;

minimum front yard setback is 25 feet; minimum side yard width is 12

8MaRous & Company

249



feet on both sides; and minimum rear yard setback is 20 feet. Maximum

ground coverage for interior lots is 40 percent.  The maximum floor

area ratio (FAR) is 80 percent.  A minimum of two parking spaces for

each dwelling unit, plus an additional one-quarter parking space per

unit, as designated guest parking is required.

Utilities All utilities, including electricity, natural gas, telephone, and municipal

water and sewer, are available and are installed to the site. 

Flood Hazard According to the Flood Insurance Rate Map, Community Panel Number

17031C0251J dated August 19, 2008, the subject property is located

almost entirely in a zone X, which is not a designated flood hazard area. 

The site has no known area of wetlands.

Exposure Time

Exposure time is the length of time a property would be offered on the

market prior to a hypothetical sale as of the appraisal date. It is “a

retrospective estimate based upon an analysis of past events assuming a

competitive and open market.”5 Parallel with this concept is that of

marketing time, which is “[a]n opinion of the amount of time it might

take to sell a real or personal property interest at the concluded market

5 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal. 5th ed., (Chicago:  Appraisal Institute, 2010) 73.

9MaRous & Company

250



value level during the period immediately after the effective date of an

appraisal.”6 

As of the appraisal date, exposure times for properties similar to the

subject property ranged from six to nine months. Based upon the

market conditions analyzed for this report, the exposure period for the

subject property at the appraised value and as of the date of value is

estimated to be six to nine months.

Highest and Best Use

Definition Highest and best use is defined as "the reasonably probable and legal

use of vacant land or an improved property that is physically possible,

appropriately supported, financially feasible, and that results in the

highest value."7 To arrive at an opinion of highest and best use, the

most profitable competitive use for the land or a site as though vacant

and as improved is analyzed. 

Highest and Best Use

as Though Vacant

The subject property is an unimproved lot and appears to be a legal,

conforming lot of record.  The subject parcel alone could be improved

with a duplex or two townhouses; however, the access to this parcel

provides a challenge due to the blind spot along Green Bay Road and

the speed of traffic.  The highest and best use of the subject parcel may

be as an assemblage with the adjacent WPL parcel.  The assemblage

would open the existing trapezoid shape to a larger and more optimal

shape to build 25 multifamily units, which would be legally

permissible.

Conclusions as Though The most profitable and competitive use for the subject property as

Vacant though vacant is for assemblage and developed with multifamily

residential redevelopment, with a probable demand for townhouse units

with a density in the 18- to 24-per-acre range.  The subject site alone

could accommodate two units; and if assembled with the adjacent

property, a maximum of 25 units would be permissible.

6 Ibid. 121.

7 The Appraisal of Real Estate. 13th ed., (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2008) 277-278.

10MaRous & Company

251



REAL ESTATE TAX INFORMATION

The subject parcel is public land and pays no property taxes.  The 2019

tax rate at this location is 7.997 percent and the Cook County

equalization factor for 2019 is 2.9160. 

VALUATION PROCESS

In this instance, because the property is being valued as vacant land,

only the sales comparison approach to value has been used.  Definitions

of the approaches to value are in the addenda to this report. 

The correct methodology for a determination of value in a public land

requires the development of just compensation for a proposed

assemblage of vacated property with an adjoining property.  The first

step in this process is to determine the value of the property including

the portions of the vacant land. The second value to be determined is

the land proposed for assemblage.  The difference between those two

values is the “just compensation.”  Just compensation also can be

viewed as the value of the area contained in the subject parcel plus the

benefits that the assemblage of the public parcel adds to the original

site. 

11MaRous & Company

252



SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

Land Sales Analysis Sales of multifamily residential properties in the general market area of

the subject property have been considered. Details of the sales

considered most similar to the subject are retained in MaRous &

Company files.  Market area search in the village of Winnetka did not

yield any sales.

LAND SALES SUMMARY

SALE

NO.
LOCATION

SALE

PRICE

SALE

DATE

LAND

AREA

(SQ. FT.)
ZONING

SALE

PRICE 

PER 

SQ. FT.

PRO-
POSED

USE

# OF

UNITS

PRICE 

PER 

UNIT

1
1334 Wilmette Ave.
Wilmette, IL

$362,500 10/16 7,645 R2 $47.42 SF   2* $181,250

2
2107-13 St. Johns  Ave.
Highland Park, IL

$490,000 1/15 30,000 RM1 $16.33 TH 4 $122,500

3
545 Ridge Rd.
Wilmette, IL

$500,000 8/18 7,500 R1-D $66.67 TH 2 $250,000

4
514 Poplar Dr.
Wilmette, IL

$650,000 1/19 11,597 VC $56.05 TH 3 $216,667

5
898 Deerfield Rd.
Highland Park, IL

$425,000 12/20 15,000 RM1 $28.33 TH 5 $85,000

6
515-555 Roger Williams
Highland Park, IL

$70,000 2/19 10,790 R-6 $6.49 1** $70,000

Subj.
768 Oak St.
Winnetka, IL

11,270 B1

 * Indicates units legally permitted by zoning ordinance
**The subject R-6 restricts use to a single-family home, however the subject lot as proposed, is not a legally buildable lot by itself, as it
   lacks frontage on a legal right-of-way

Land Sale  #1 was sold for land value with the existing improvement. 

The buyers completed a total gut renovation on the house and is now

being used as rental property.  This sale location, similar to the subject,

is within walking distance to the Metra station and the downtown area. 

Although this parcel contains a single-family house, the zoning

ordinance permits two dwelling units on this parcel.

Land Sale #2 represents two parcels that were sold for townhouse

development.  The parcels were improved with four high-end

townhouses.  This location is similar to that of the subject.

12MaRous & Company

253



LAND SALES LOCATION MAP

13MaRous & Company

254



Land Sale #3 is a corner parcel with existing improvement, sold for land

value.  The location, similar to the subject, is close to the Metra station

and the downtown area.  The zoning permits two townhouses.

Land Sale #4 is located in the heart of downtown Wilmette, which

makes this sale superior to the subject.  The parcel has been developed

with three high-end townhouses.

Land Sale #5 is the most recent sale and is a two-lot parcel located near

downtown Highland Park and near the Metra train station, very similar

to the subject property.  One lot is vacant and the other has an existing

home, sold for land value.  The zoning ordinance allows five units for

this parcel.

Although Land Sale #5 closed during COVID-19, the demand for land

had little impact on price during this economic crisis.  The demand is

strong, keeping the market thriving and sale prices largely unchanged

during a downturn year.

Land Sale #6 has the most similar location to the subject, right near the

Metra tracks; however, this sale is inferior to the subject because it is

not a buildable lot by itself under its current zoning rules, as it lacks

frontage on a legal right-of-way.

Land Value Conclusions The land sale summary reflects an overall value range of $70,000 to

$650,000.  The sale closing dates range from January 2015 to December

2020.  The land sale sizes range from 7,500 to 30,000 square feet and

$6.49 to $66.67 per square foot in land value.  The price per dwelling

unit ranges from $70,000 to $250,000.  These sales are high-quality

land sales within excellent residential neighborhoods of Wilmette and

Highland Park, conducive for walking to town, train station, schools,

and parks.  It appears the optimal townhouse parcel size is

approximately 3,600 square feet.

Land Sales #6 is the most comparable to the subject based on location,

size, and unit value; however, this sale is inferior to the subject due to

its limitations under current zoning ordinance.  

14MaRous & Company

255



Subject Parcel As Is The subject parcel could legally be developed with four townhouses;

however, the trapezoid-shaped parcel is not the most optimal shape, and

the limitation on new street access is questionable due to the blind spot

along Green Bay Road and the speed of traffic.  The optimal number

may be two townhouses and a circular driveway access at the south end

of the property, the farthest point from the blind spot.  Also, a new

development would certainly block and diminish an aesthetic view from

the inside of the WPL property.  Therefore, the subject develops a value

of $8.00 to $10.00 per square foot or $90,160 to $112,700.  Due to the

good location but limited access and functional site problems, the

subject is concluded to lie near the top of the value range, or $100,000

(rounded).

Subject as Assembled Just compensation for the subject’s 11,270-square-foot trapezoid-

shaped vacant lot, requires a determination of the land value of the

adjacent WPL property prior to the assemblage of that site with the

subject.  The benefit of the subject to the adjacent WPL parcel fulfills

the highest and best use potential of the land by increasing its size

through assemblage and utilizes the maximum buildable allowance. 

The assemblage adds additional street frontage and superior light and

air to a new development, when compared to the existing WPL site as

vacant.  The assembled parcel has an excellent location with 235 feet of

frontage along Oak Street, 187 feet along Linden Street, and 101 feet

along Green Bay Road.  The walkability factor is excellent, close to the

downtown area and train station. The assemblage allows a better shape

for development, more flexibility on the quality of building structure,

and potential for new access via Oak Street and possibly Green Bay

Road.

The estimated just compensation for the public parcel if assembled with

the adjoining WPL property, which contains 35,226 square feet of land,

is a total assemblage of 46,496 square feet.  The value of the assembled

parcel is estimated to be $1,023,000 or $22.00 per square foot as vacant,

which is based on land sale values.  The WPL lot alone develops a

value range of  $18.00 to $20.00 per square foot or an unadjusted range

of $634,068 to $704,520, for the 35,226-square-foot site.  Due to the

good location, the contributory value is concluded to lie near the top of

15MaRous & Company

256



the value range, or $705,000 (rounded).  The value of the WPL parcel

subtracted from the value of the whole as assembled, results in the just

compensation of the subject parcel or $318,000, or $28.22 per square

foot.  The contributory value is greater as assembled, increasing the

property size and utilizing the maximum density permitted.

The following table summarizes the estimated values and the estimated

just compensation for the 11,270-square-foot public parcel if assembled

with the adjoining WPL parcel at 768 Oak Street. 

SIZE  

(SQ. FT.)

ESTIMATED

VALUE 

PER SQ. FT.

TOTAL

(ROUNDED)

Estimated Value of the Whole as Assembled 46,496 $22.00 $1,023,000

Estimated Contributory Value of Existing WPL Site 35,226 $20.00 $705,000

Just Compensation - Subject Library Park Site 11,270 $28.22 $318,000

FINAL VALUE CONCLUSION

Because the property is being valued as vacant land, only the sales

comparison approach to value has been used.

Final Value Conclusions The value estimates are provided under two scenarios:

1.  The value of the subject parcel as vacant property and available to

     the market.

The subject parcel could legally accommodate four townhouses;

however, due to its corner location on busy Green Bay Road and the

sharp bend in the road, a circular drive would be the most practical

ingress and egress access.  Therefore, the development of two

townhouses would be the highest and best use for this parcel.

16MaRous & Company

257



In view of the following facts and data connected with this appraisal,

the fee simple interest in the subject property, as of April 13, 2021, is:

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS

($100,000)

2.  The value as assembled with the adjoining Winnetka Public Library  

       (WPL) parcel, under the hypothetical assumption8 that the WPL is

       a vacant site.

In view of the following facts and data connected with this appraisal,

the fee simple interest in the subject property as assembled with the

adjacent WPL parcel, as of April 13, 2021, is:

THREE HUNDRED EIGHTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS

($318,000)

This value is contingent upon the estimated exposure time of six to nine

months. It is a gross value, and no allowance was made for brokerage

commissions, costs of utilities, real estate taxes, or other carrying costs

during the marketing period.

The value estimates are based on a hypothetical condition8, in which the

vacant land is solely valued and does not take into consideration the

value of any building or site improvements.

MaRous & Company has received and has relied upon verbal and

written communications and documents regarding the subject property

in the preparation of this appraisal report. If additional information

about the subject property is received or becomes known, MaRous &

Company reserves the right to determine whether this information has a

substantive impact on the valuation of the subject property and to adjust

values  accordingly.

8  A hypothetical assumption  is “a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to
    exist on the  effective date of the assignment results, but is used for the purpose of analysis.  Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
    Practice, 2018- 2019.  (Washington, D. C.: The Appraisal Foundation, 2016)  4.

17MaRous & Company

258



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

Reporting Requirements This appraisal report is intended to comply with the reporting

requirements set forth under Standard Rule 2-2 (a) of the Uniform

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice for an appraisal report.

As such, this report might not include full descriptions of the data,

reasoning, and analyses that were used in the appraisal process to

develop the opinion of value. Supporting documentation concerning the

data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the MaRous & Company

office files. The information contained in this report is specific to the

needs of the client and for the intended use stated in this report.

MaRous & Company is not responsible for unauthorized use of this

report.

Title and Survey It is assumed that the title to the subject property is good and

marketable. The survey provided to MaRous & Company is assumed to

be the most current available, and the legal description provided to

MaRous & Company is assumed to be essentially correct for purposes

of this appraisal report; however, MaRous & Company reserves the

right to adjust values accordingly. The value estimate is given without

regard to any questions of title, boundaries, encumbrances, or

encroachments.

Hazardous Waste Unless otherwise stated in this appraisal report, MaRous & Company

has no knowledge of the existence of hazardous environmental

conditions or substances, including and without limitation asbestos,

polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum leakage, and agricultural

chemicals that may or may not be present on the subject property.

Moreover, MaRous & Company appraisers are not qualified to test for

these substances or conditions. Because the presence of substances such

as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, and other hazardous

substances and environmental conditions may affect the value of a

property, the value estimate is predicated on the assumption that no

such condition exists on or in the subject property or in such proximity

thereto that would cause a loss in value. No responsibility is assumed

for any such conditions or for any expertise or engineering knowledge

required to discover them.

18MaRous & Company

259



Hidden Defects All structures and mechanical components are assumed to be in sound,

operable condition unless otherwise stated, and the value conclusions

are based on that assumption. Additionally, the value estimate assumes

no soil or subsoil conditions that would cause a loss in value. No

responsibility is assumed for architectural, structural, engineering, or

mechanical matters, and MaRous & Company appraisers are not

qualified to make professional judgments in these areas.

Management Competent and prudent management of the subject property is assumed.

The estimate of value reported herein assumes that the assessments are

entirely paid and that the property is free and clear of such assessments.

Opinions and statistics furnished by others during this investigation are

assumed to be correct, and no responsibility is assumed for their

accuracy. 

Market Conditions The value conclusions contained herein are based on the research of

market conditions as of the valuation date. Every effort has been made

to consider the effect of predictable governmental actions, as well as

any environmental or ecological concerns, on the subject property;

however, no responsibility is assumed for subsequent changes in the

local or national economy or for subsequent changes in local market

conditions resulting from local or national economy changes. Because

this is an appraisal of market value and is not a feasibility study, no

responsibility can be assumed for the ability of the property owner to

find a purchaser of the subject property at the appraised value.

ADA Compliance The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January

26, 1992. No specific determination of compliance with the various

detailed requirements of the ADA was made for the subject property. It

is possible that a complete compliance survey of the subject property

together with a detailed analysis of the ADA requirements could show

that the property is not in compliance with one or more of the

requirements of the act. If so, this fact could have a negative affect

upon the value of the subject property. Because no direct evidence

relating to this issue was developed, possible lack of compliance with

the ADA was not taken into account in estimating value.

19MaRous & Company

260



Other No right of expert testimony is included. An authentic copy of this

appraisal report is signed in ink on the certification; be aware of the

potential for alterations on copies. Exhibits, including maps, site plans,

and photographs, are provided for informational purposes and are not

necessarily to scale. Nothing contained in this appraisal report,

particularly the valuation conclusions, the identity of any appraiser, and

any reference to the Appraisal Institute or the MAI designation, is to be

conveyed to a third party or to the public through advertising, public

relations, news, sales, or other medium without the written consent and

approval of MaRous & Company. If such consent is secured, the report

must be used in its entirety and cannot be altered in any way, and must

include all limiting conditions, certifications, and qualifications.

20MaRous & Company

261



CERTIFICATION

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and

limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and

conclusions.

 3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no

personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

 4. I have performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property that is

the subject of this report within the 3-year period immediately preceding acceptance of this

assignment.

 5. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved

with this assignment.

 6. My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined

results.

 7. My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or

reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the

amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent

event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

 8. I have the knowledge and experience necessary to complete this report competently.

 9. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared,

in conformity with my understanding of the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute, which include the Uniform

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.

10. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by

its duly authorized representatives.

11. I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

12.  Anna DeRosa provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this 

certification.

13. As of the date of this report, I have completed the continuing education program of the Appraisal

Institute.

MaRous & Company

Michael S. MaRous, MAI, CRE
Illinois Certified - #553.000141 (9/21 expiration)

21MaRous & Company

262

Joey
MM



ADDENDA

MaRous & Company

263



LAND SALE #1

1334 Wilmette Avenue

Wilmette, Illinois 60091

PIN 05-34-108-018

Size 7,645 square feet

Description Modified rectangular corner parcel with existing home, sold for land

value.  Owners completed gut rehab and using as rental property.  Close

to downtown and high walkability factor.

Sale Date October 2016

Sale Price $362,500

Unit Sale Price $47.42 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record and by MLS Real Estate Data. 

The grantor was Bettina, LLC; the grantee was Chicago Title land Trust

Co. This transaction is recorded as Document Number 1629855007. 

A-1MaRous & Company

264



LAND SALE #2

2107-13 St. Johns Avenue

Highland Park, Illinois 60035

PINs 16-23-111-012 and -013

Size 30,000 square feet 

Description A rectangular-shaped interior parcel

Sale Date January 2015

Sale Price $490,000

Unit Sale Price $16.33 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record and by MLS Real Estate Data.

The grantor was 2107 & 2113 St. Johns, LLC; the grantee was Domain

3, LLC. This transaction is recorded as Document Number 7164104. 

Comments Four luxury townhouses are being developed for completion in Spring

2022.  These homes were designed and developed by Peter Nicholas, an

award-winning architect.  MLS has the active listing price of

$1,274,000.

A-2MaRous & Company

265



LAND SALE #3

545 Ridge Road

Wilmette, Illinois 60091

PIN 05-33-113-019

Size 7,500 square feet

Description A rectangular corner parcel

Sale Date August 2018

Sale Price $500,000

Unit Sale Price $66.67 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record and by MLS Real Estate Data.

The grantor was Robert and Rita Nash; the grantee was 545 Ridge

Road, LLC. This transaction is recorded as Document Number

1823918123. 

A-3MaRous & Company

266



LAND SALE #4

514 Poplar Drive

Wilmette, Illinois 60091

PIN 05-34-117-017

Size 11,597 square feet

Description A modified rectangular-shaped interior parcel

Sale Date January 2019

Sale Price $650,000

Unit Sale Price $56.05 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record  and by MLS Real Estate Data. 

The grantor was Ronald Witt Living Trust; the grantee was 514 Poplar,

LLC. This transaction is recorded as Document Number 1901657015. 

A-4MaRous & Company

267



LAND SALE #5

898 Deerfield Road

Highland Park, Illinois 60035

PIN 16-26-102-002

Size 15,000 square feet

Description A rectangular-shaped interior parcel

Sale Date December 2020

Sale Price $425,000

Unit Sale Price $28.33 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record and by MLS Real Estate Data.

The grantor was Jerrold Jacks; the grantee was THG Holdings, LLC.

This transaction is recorded as Document Number 2021.7743457. 

A-5MaRous & Company

268



LAND SALE #6

515-555 Roger Williams Avenue

Highland Park, Illinois 60035

PIN 16-36-103-027

Size 10,790 square feet

Description A triangular-shaped interior parcel surrounded on three sides by a deep

wooded ravine and a Metra commuter train track right-of-way. 

Sale Date February 2019

Sale Price $70,000

Unit Sale Price $6.49 per square foot of land

Verification This sale was verified by public record. The grantor was the City of

Highland Park; the grantee was Klairmont Investments, LLC. This

transaction is recorded as Document Number 7542638. 

A-6MaRous & Company

269



VIEWS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

A-1MaRous & Company

270



VIEW NORTH FROM SUBJECT

VIEW EAST FROM SUBJECT

A-2MaRous & Company

271



SUBJECT LOCATION MAP

A-3MaRous & Company

272



Definitions

Highest and Best Use Highest and best use is defined as "the reasonably probable use of

property that results in the highest value."9

In arriving at an opinion of highest and best use, the most profitable

competitive use for the land or a site as though vacant and as improved

is analyzed. The highest and best use of land or a site as though vacant

is based on the assumption that a parcel of land is vacant or can be

made vacant through demolition of any improvements. The highest and

best use of a property as improved involves an analysis of the existing

property.

Cost Approach The cost approach is based upon the principle of substitution,

comparing the cost to develop a property with the value of the existing

or a similarly developed property. An estimate is made of the current

cost to construct a reproduction of the existing structure from which is

deducted accrued depreciation. To this is added entrepreneurial profit if

appropriate and the estimated value of the underlying land.

Income Capitalization 

Approach

The income capitalization approach consists of "[s]pecific appraisal

techniques applied to develop a value indication for a property based on

its earning capability and calculated by the capitalization of property

income."10

Sales Comparison

Approach

The sales comparison approach to value is based upon the principle of

substitution, that is, when a property is replaceable in the market, its

value tends to be no more than the cost of acquiring an equally desirable

substitute property, assuming no costly delay in making the substitution. 

9 The Appraisal of Real Estate. 14th ed., (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2013) 332.

10 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal. 6th ed., (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2015) 115.

A-4MaRous & Company

273



MICHAEL S. MAROUS  
STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 

Michael S. MaRous Statement of Qualifications 
Michael S. MaRous, MAI, CRE, is president and owner of MaRous and Company. He has appraised more than 
$15 billion worth of primarily investment-grade real estate in more than 25 states. In addition to providing 
documented appraisals, he has served as an expert witness in litigation proceedings for many law firms; financial 
institutions; corporations; builders and developers; architects; local, state, county, and federal governments and 
agencies; and school districts in the Chicago metropolitan area. His experience in partial interest, condemnation, 
damage impact, easement (including aerial and subsurface), marital dissolutions, bankruptcy proceedings, and 
other valuation issues is extensive. He has provided highest and best use, marketability, and feasibility studies 
for a variety of properties. Many of the largest redevelopment areas and public projects, including Interstate 355, 
the Chicago O’Hare International Airport expansion, the Chicago Midway International Airport expansion, and 
the McCormick Place expansion, are part of Mr. MaRous’ experience. Mr. MaRous also has experience in regard 
to mediation and arbitration proceedings. Also, he has purchased and developed real estate for his own account. 

APPRAISAL AND CONSULTATION EXPERIENCE 
 

Industrial Properties 
Business Parks Manufacturing Facilities Self-storage Facilities  

Distribution Centers Research Facilities Warehouses 
 

Commercial Properties 
Auto Sales/Service Facilities  

Banquet Halls 
Big Box Stores 

Gasoline Stations 
Hotels and Motels 
Office Buildings 

Restaurants  
Shopping Centers  

Theaters 
 

Special-Purpose Properties 
Bowling Alleys 

Cemeteries 
Farms 

Golf Courses 
Lumber Yards 

Nurseries 
Riverboat Gambling Facilities 

Schools 
Stadium Expansion Issues 

Solar Farms 

Tank Farms  
Underground Gas Aquifers  

Utility Corridors 
Waste Transfer Facilities  

Wind Farms 
 

Residential Properties 
Apartment Complexes  

Condominium Conversions 
Condominium Developments  

Single-family Residences 
Subdivision Developments 
Townhouse Developments 

 
Vacant Land 

Agricultural 
Alleys 

Commercial 

Easements 
Industrial 

Residential 

Rights of Way 
Streets 

Vacations 
 

Clients 
Corporations 

Financial Institutions 
Law Firms 

Not-for-profit Associations 
Private Parties 
Public Entities 

 
EDUCATION 

B.S., Urban Land Economics, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign 
Continuing education seminars and programs through the Appraisal Institute 

and the American Society of Real Estate Counselors, and real estate brokerage classes 
 

PUBLIC SERVICE 
Mayor, City of Park Ridge, Illinois (2003-2005) 

Alderman, City of Park Ridge, including Liaison to the Zoning Board of Appeals and Planning and Zoning and 
Chairman of the Finance and Public Safety Committees (1997-2005) 

  

274



PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS AND LICENSES 
Appraisal Institute, MAI designation, Number 6159 

Counselors of Real Estate, CRE designation 
Illinois Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number 553.000141 (9/23) 

Indiana Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number CG41600008 (6/24) 
Wisconsin Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number 1874-10 (12/23) 
Minnesota Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number 40330656 (8/22) 

Iowa Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number CG03468 (6/24) 
South Dakota Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, License Number 1467CG (9/23) 

Licensed Real Estate Broker (Illinois) 

PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES 
Mr. MaRous is past president of the Chicago Chapter of the Appraisal Institute. He is former chair and vice 

chair of the National Publications Committee and has sat on the board of The Appraisal Journal. In addition, he 
has served on and/or chaired more than 15 other committees of the Appraisal Institute, the Society of Real 

Estate Appraisers, and the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers. 

Mr. MaRous served as chair of the Midwest Chapter of the Counselors of Real Estate in 2006 and 2007 and 
has served on the National CRE Board since 2011. He sat on the Midwest Chapter Board of Directors, the 

Editorial Board of Real Estate Issues, and on various other committees. 

Mr. MaRous also is past president of the Illinois Coalition of Appraisal Professionals. He also has been involved 
with many other professional associations, including the Real Estate Counseling Group of America, the 

Northwest Suburban Real Estate Board, the National Association of Real Estate Boards, and the Northern 
Illinois Commercial Association of Realtors. 

PUBLICATIONS AND PROFESSIONAL RECOGNITION 

Mr. MaRous has spoken at more than 20 programs and 
seminars related to real estate appraisal and valuation. 

Author 
“Low-income Housing in Our Backyards,” The Appraisal    
Journal, January 1996 
“The Appraisal Institute Moves Forward,” Illinois Real 
Estate Magazine, December 1993 
“Chicago Chapter, Appraisal Institute,” Northern Illinois      
Real Estate Magazine, February 1993 
“Independent Appraisals Can Help Protect Your Financial 
Base,” Illinois School Board Journal, November- 
     December 1990 
“What Real Estate Appraisals Can Do for School 
Districts,”  
School Business Affairs, October 1990 

Awards 
Appraisal Institute - George L. Schmutz Memorial Award, 
2001 
Chicago Chapter of the Appraisal Institute – Heritage 
Award, 
2000 
Chicago Chapter of the Appraisal Institute - Herman O. 
 Walther, 1987 (Distinguished Chapter Member) 

Reviewer or Citation in the Following Books 
Rural Property Valuation, 2017 
Real Estate Damages, 1999, 2008, and 2016 
Golf Property Analysis and Valuation, 2016 
Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, Fourth Edition, 2002 and 
    Sixth Edition, 2015 
Market Analysis for Real Estate, 2005 and 2014 
Appraisal of Real Estate, Twelfth Edition, 2001, Thirteenth Edition, 2008, 
   Fourteenth Edition, 2013 
Shopping Center Appraisal and Analysis, 2009 
Subdivision Valuation, 2008 
Valuation of Apartment Properties, 2007 
Valuation of Billboards, 2006 
Appraising Industrial Properties, 2005 
Valuation of Market Studies for Affordable Housing, 2005 
Valuing Undivided Interest in Real Property: 
    Partnerships and Cotenancies, 2004 
Analysis and Valuation of Golf Courses and Country Clubs, 2003 
Valuing Contaminated Properties: An Appraisal Institute  
    Anthology, 2002 
Hotels and Motels: Valuation and Market Studies, 2001 
Land Valuation: Adjustment Procedures and Assignments, 2001 
Appraisal of Rural Property, Second Edition, 2000 
Capitalization Theory and Techniques, Study Guide,  
    Second Edition, 2000 
Guide to Appraisal Valuation Modeling Land, 2000  
Appraising Residential Properties, Third Edition, 1999 
Business of Show Business: The Valuation of Movie Theaters, 1999 
GIS in Real Estate: Integrating, Analyzing and Presenting 
    Locational Information, 1998 
Market Analysis for Valuation Appraisals, 1995 

275



REPRESENTATIVE WORK OF MICHAEL S. MAROUS 
 

Headquarters/Corporate Office Facilities in Illinois  
Fortune 500 corporation facility, 200,000 sq. ft., Libertyville 

Corporate headquarters, 300,000 sq. ft. and 500,000 sq. ft., Chicago 
Fortune 500 corporation facility, 450,000 sq. ft., Northfield 

Major airline headquarters, 1,100,000 million sq. ft. on 47 acres, Elk Grove Village 
Former communications facility, 1,400,000 million sq. ft. on 62 acres, Skokie and Niles 

Corporate Headquarters, 1,500,000+ sq. ft., Lake County 
Former Sears Headquarters Redevelopment Project, Chicago 

 
Office Buildings in Chicago 

401 South LaSalle Street, 140,000 sq. ft. 
134 North LaSalle Street, 260,000 sq. ft. 

333 North Michigan Avenue, 260,000 sq. ft. 
171 West Randolph Street, 360,000 sq. ft. 

20 West Kinzie Street, 405,000 sq. ft. 
55 East Washington Street, 500,000 sq. ft. 

10 South LaSalle Street, 870,000 sq. ft. 
222 West Adams Street, 1,000,000 sq. ft. 

141 West Jackson Boulevard, 1,065,000 sq. ft. 
333 South Wabash Avenue, 1,125,000 sq. ft. 

155 North Wacker Drive, 1,406,000 sq. ft. 
70 West Madison Street, 1,430,000 sq. ft. 
111 South Wacker Drive, 1,454,000 sq. ft. 

175 West Jackson Boulevard, 1,450,000 sq. ft. 
227 West Monroe Street, 1,800,000 sq. ft. 
10 South Dearborn Street, 1,900,000 sq. ft. 

 
Hotels in Chicago 

One West Wacker Drive (Renaissance Chicago Hotel) 
10 East Grand Avenue (Hilton Garden Inn) 
106 East Superior Street (Peninsula Hotel) 
120 East Delaware Place (Four Seasons) 
140 East Walton Place (The Drake Hotel) 

160 East Pearson Street (Ritz Carlton) 
301 East North Water Street (Sheraton Hotel) 

320 North Dearborn Street (Westin Chicago River North) 
401 North Wabash Avenue (Trump Tower) 

505 North Michigan Avenue (Hotel InterContinental) 
676 North Michigan Avenue (Omni Chicago Hotel) 

800 North Michigan Avenue (The Park Hyatt) 
 

Large Industrial Properties in Illinois 
Large industrial complexes, 400,000 sq. ft., 87th Street and Greenwood Avenue, Chicago 

Distribution warehouse, 580,000 sq. ft. on 62 acres, Champaign 
Publishing house, 700,000 sq. ft. on 195 acres, U.S. Route 45, Mattoon 

AM Chicago International, 700,000± sq. ft. on 41 acres, 1800 West Central Road, Mount Prospect 
Nestlé distribution center, 860,000 sq. ft. on 153 acres, DeKalb 

U.S. Government Services Administration distribution facility, 860,000 sq. ft., 76th Street and Kostner Avenue, 
Chicago Fortune 500 company distribution center, 1,000,000 sq. ft., Elk Grove Village 

Caterpillar Distribution Facility, 2,231,000 sq. ft., Morton 
Self-storage facilities, various Chicago metropolitan locations 

 
Airport Related Properties 

Mr. MaRous has performed valuations on more than 100 parcels in and around Chicago O’Hare International 
Airport, Chicago Midway International Airport, Palwaukee Municipal Airport, Chicago Aurora Airport, DuPage 

Airport, and Lambert-St. Louis International Airport 
  

276



Vacant Land in Illinois 
15 acres, office, Northbrook 

20 acres, residential, Glenview 
25 acres, Hinsdale 

55 acres, mixed-use, Darien 
68 acres, Roosevelt Road and the Chicago River 

 75 acres, I-88 at I-355, Downers Grove 
100± acres, various uses, Lake County 

100 acres, Western Springs 
140 acres, Flossmoor 

142 acres, residential, Lake County 
160 acres, residential, Cary 

200 acres, mixed-use, Bartlett 

250 acres, Island Lake 
450 acres, residential, Wauconda 

475± acres, various uses, Lake County 
650 acres, Hawthorne Woods 

650 acres, Waukegan/Libertyville 
800 acres, Woodridge 
900 acres, Matteson 

1,000± acres, Batavia area 
2,000± acres, Northern Lake County 

5,000 acres, southwest suburban Chicago area  
Landfill expansion, Lake County 

 
Retail Facilities 

20 Community shopping centers, various Chicago metropolitan locations 
Big box uses, various Chicago metropolitan locations and the Midwest 

Gasoline Stations, various Chicago metropolitan locations 
More than 50 single-tenant retail facilities larger than 80,000 sq. ft., various Midwest metropolitan locations 

 
Residential Projects 

Federal Square townhouse development project, 118 units, $15,000,000+ sq. ft. project, Dearborn Place, 
Chicago 

Marketability and feasibility study, 219 East Lake Shore Drive, Chicago 
Riverview II, Chicago; Old Town East and West, Chicago; Museum Park Lofts II, Museum Park Tower 4, 

University Commons, Two River Place, River Place on the Park, Chicago; 
Timber Trails, Western Springs, Illinois 

 
Market Impact Studies  

Land-fill projects in various locations 
Quarry expansions in Boone and Kendall counties 

Commercial development and/or parking lots in various communities 
Zoning changes in various communities 

Waste transfer stations in various communities 
 

Business and Industrial Parks 
Chevy Chase Business Park, 30 acres, Buffalo Grove 

Carol Point Business Center, 300-acre industrial park, Carol Stream, $125,000,000+ project 
Internationale Centre, approximately 1,000 acre-multiuse business park, Woodridge 

 
Properties in Other States 

330,000 sq. ft., Newport Beach, California 
Former government depot/warehouse and distribution center, 2,500,000 sq. ft. on 100+ acres, Ohio 

Shopping Center, St. Louis, Missouri, Office Building, Clayton, Missouri 
Condominium Development, South Dakota, South Dakota 

Hormel Foods, various Midwest locations 
Wisconsin Properties including Lowes, Menards, Milwaukee Zoo, CVS Pharmacy’s in Milwaukee, Dairyland 

Racetrack, Major Industrial Property in Manawa, Class A Office Buildings and Vacant Land 
 

Energy Related Projects 
Oakwood Hills Energy Center, McHenry County, Illinois 

Lackawanna Power Plant, Lackawanna County, Pennsylvania 
Commonwealth Edison, high tension lines 

  

277



Wind Projects 
Illinois 

Alta Farms Wind Project II, Dewitt County 
Bennington Wind Project, Marshall County 

Goose Creek Wind, Piatt County 
Harvest Ridge Wind Farm, Douglas County 
Lincoln Land Wind Farm, Morgan County 

Midland Wind Farm, Henry County 
McLean County Wind Farm, McLean County 

Otter Creek Wind Farm, LaSalle County 
Pleasant Ridge Wind Farm, Livingston County 

Radford’s Run Wind Farm, Macon County 
Shady Oaks II, Lee County 

Twin Groves Wind Farm, McLean County 
Walnut Ridge Wind Farm, Bureau County 

Indiana 
Roaming Bison Wind Farm, Montgomery County 

Tippecanoe County Wind Farm, Tippecanoe County 
Iowa 

Great Pathfinder Wind Project, Boone & Hamilton County 
Ida Grove II Wind Farm, Ida County  

Kansas 
Neosho Ridge Wind Farm, Neosho County 

Jayhawk Wind, Bourbon County & Crawford County 
 

New York 
Alle-Catt Wind, Allegany County, Cattaraugus County, & Wyoming 

County 
Orangeville Wind Farm, Wyoming County 

Ohio 
Seneca Wind, Seneca County 

Republic Wind, Seneca County & Sandusky County 
South Dakota 

Deuel Harvest Wind Farm, Deuel County 
Dakota Range Wind Project I-III, Codington County, Grant County, & 

Roberts County 
Crocker Wind Farm, Clark County 

Crowned Ridge Wind II, Deuel County 
Prevailing Wind Park, Bon Homme County, Charles Mix County, & 

Hutchinson County 
Sweet Land Wind Farm, Hand County 

Triple H Wind Farm, Hyde County 
Tatanka Ridge Wind Project, Deuel County 

Solar Projects 
Illinois 

Hickory Point Solar Energy Center, Christian County 
Indiana 

Lone Oak Solar Farm, Madison County 
Maryland 

Dorchester County Solar Farm, Dorchester County 
Wisconsin 

Badger Hollow Solar Farm, Iowa County 
Darien Solar Energy Center, Rock County & Walworth County 

Grant County Solar, Grant County 
Paris Solar Energy Center, Kenosha County 

South Dakota 
Brookhaven Solar Energy Production Facility, Brookings County 

Western Regions of the United States of America 
Southwest Region – Arizona, Colorado, Nevada, New Mexico, & Utah 

Northwest Region – Idaho and Oregon 
Southern Great Plains Region – Texas 

Northern Great Plains Region – General Research 

 
  

278



REPRESENTATIVE CLIENT LISTING OF MICHAEL S. MAROUS 
 

Law Firms 
Alschuler, Simantz & Hem LLC Ancel, 

Glink, Diamond, Bush, 
DiClanni & Krafthefer 
Arnstein & Lehr LLP 

Berger, Newmark & Fenchel P.C. 
Berger Schatz 

Botti Law Firm, P.C. 
Carmody MacDonald P.C. 

Carr Law Firm 
Crane, Heyman, Simon, Welch & Clar 

Daley & Georges, Ltd. 
Day, Robert & Morrison, P.C. Dentons 

US LLP 
DiMonte & Lizak LLC 

DLA Piper 
Dreyer, Foote, Streit, Furgason & 

Slocum, P.A. 
Drinker, Biddle & Reath LLP Figliulo & 

Silverman, P.C. 
Elrod Friedman LLP 

Foran, O’Toole & Burke LLC Franczek 
Radelet P.C. 

Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. 
Freeborn & Peters LLP 

Gould & Ratner LLP 
Greenberg Traurig LLP 

Helm & Wagner 
Robert Hill Law, Ltd. 

Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP 
Holland & Knight LLP 

Ice Miller LLP 
Jenner & Block 

Katz & Stefani, LLC 
Kinnally, Flaherty, Krentz, Loran, 

Hodge & Mazur PC 
Kirkland & Ellis LLP 

Klein, Thorpe & Jenkins, Ltd.  
Law Office of Bryan P. Lynch, P.C. 

McDermott, Will & Emery 
Mayer Brown 

Michael Best & Friedrich LLP 
Morrison & Morrison, Ltd. 

Bryan E. Mraz & Associates 
Neal, Gerber & Eisenberg, LLP 

Neal & Leroy LLC 
O’Donnell Haddad LLC 

Prendergast & DelPrincipe 
Rathje & Woodward, LLC 

Righeimer, Martin & Cinquino, P.C. 
Robbins, Salomon & Patt, Ltd. 

Rosenfeld Hafron Shapiro & Farmer 
Rosenthal, Murphey, Coblentz & 

Donahue Rubin & Associates, P.C. 
Ryan and Ryan, P.C. 

Reed Smith LLP 
Sarnoff & Baccash 

Scariano, Himes & Petrarca, Chtd. 
Schiff Hardin LLP 

Schiller, DuCanto & Fleck LLP 
Schirott, Luetkehans & Garner, LLC 
Schuyler, Roche & Crisham, P.C. 

Sidley Austin LLP 
Storino, Ramello & Durkin 

Thomas M. Tully & Associates 
Thompson Coburn, LLP 

Tuttle, Vedral & Collins, P.C. 
Vedder Price 

von Briesen & Roper, SC 
Winston & Strawn LLP 
Worsek & Vihon LLP 

 

Financial Institutions 
AmericaUnited Bank Trust 

BMO Harris Bank 
Charter One 

Citibank 
Cole Taylor Bank 

First Bank of Highland Park 
First Financial Northwest Bank 

First Midwest Bank 
First State Financial 
Glenview State Bank 

Itasca Bank & Trust Co. 
Lake Forest Bank & Trust Co. 

MB Financial Bank 

Midwest Bank 
Northern Trust 

Northview Bank & Trust 
The Private Bank 

Wintrust 

Corporations 
Advocate Health Care System 
Alliance Property Consultants 

American Stores Company 
Archdiocese of Chicago 

Arthur J. Rogers and Company 
Avangrid Renewables, LLC 

BHE Renewables 
BP Amoco Oil Company 

Christopher B. Burke Engineering, 
Ltd. Cambridge Homes 

Canadian National Railroad 
Capital Realty Services, Inc. 

Chicago Cubs 
Children’s Memorial Hospital 
Chrysler Realty Corporation 

Citgo Petroleum Corporation 
CorLands 

CVS 
Edward R. James Partners, LLC 

Enterprise Development Corporation 
Enterprise Leasing Company 

Exxon Mobil Corporation 
Hamilton Partners 

Hollister Corporation 
Imperial Realty Company 

Invenergy LLC 
Kimco Realty Corporation 

Kinder Morgan, Inc. 
Lakewood Homes 

Lowe’s Companies, Inc. 
Loyola University Health System 

Marathon Oil Corporation 
Meijer, Inc. 
Menards 

Mesirow Stein Real Estate, Inc. 
Paradigm Tax Group 

Prime Group Realty Trust 
Public Storage Corporation 

RREEF Corporation 
Shell Oil Company 

Union Pacific Railroad Company 
United Airlines, Inc. 

  

279



Public Entities 
Illinois Local Governments and Agencies 

Village of Arlington Heights 
Village of Barrington 

Village of Bartlett 
Village of Bellwood 
Village of Brookfield 
Village of Burr Ridge 

City of Canton 
Village of Cary 
City of Chicago 

Village of Deer Park 
City of Des Plaines 

Des Plaines Park District 
Downers Grove Park District 

City of Elgin 
Elk Grove Village 
City of Elmhurst 

Village of Elmwood Park 
City of Evanston 

Village of Forest Park 
Village of Franklin Park 

Village of Glenview 
Glenview Park District 

Village of Harwood Heights 
City of Highland Park 

Village of Hinsdale 
Village of Inverness 
Village of Kenilworth 

Village of Kildeer 
Village of Lake Zurich 

Leyden Township 
Village of Lincolnshire 
Village of Lincolnwood 

Village of Morton Grove 
Village of Mount Prospect 

Village of North Aurora 
Village of Northbrook 
City of North Chicago 
Village of Northfield 
Northfield Township 
Village of Oak Brook 

Village of Orland Park 
City of Palos Hills 

City of Peoria 
City of Prospect Heights 
City of Rolling Meadows 

Village of Rosemont 
City of St. Charles 

Village of Schaumburg 
Village of Schiller Park 

Village of Skokie 
Village of South Barrington 

Village of Streamwood 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation    

District of Greater Chicago 
City of Waukegan 

Village of Wheeling 
Village of Wilmette 

Village of Willowbrook 
Village of Winnetka 

Village of Woodridge 
 

County Governments and Agencies 
Boone County State’s Attorney’s 

Office Forest Preserve of Cook County 
Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office 

DuPage County Board of Review 

Forest Preserve District of DuPage County 
Kane County 

Kendall County Board of Review 
Lake County 

Lake County Forest Preserve District 
Lake County State’s Attorney’s Office 

Morton Township 
Peoria County 

 
State and Federal Government Agencies 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
U.S. General Services Administration 

Illinois Housing Development Authority 
Illinois State Toll Highway Authority 

Internal Revenue Service 
The U.S. Postal Service 

 
Schools 

Argo Community High School 
District No. 217 

Arlington Heights District No. 25 
Township High School District No. 214, 

Arlington Heights 
Barrington Community Unit District 

No. 220 
Chicago Board of Education 

Chicago Ridge District No. 127½ 
College of Lake County 

Community Consolidated School 
District No. 15 

Community Consolidated School 
District No. 146 

Community School District No. 200 
Consolidated High School 

District No. 230 
Darien District No. 61 

DePaul University 

Elk Grove Community Consolidated 
District No. 59 

Elmhurst Community Unit School 
District No. 205 

Glen Ellyn School District No. 41 
Glenbard High School District No. 87 
Indian Springs School District No. 109 

LaGrange School District No. 105 
Lake Forest Academy 

Leyden Community High School 
District No. 212 

Loyola University 
Lyons Township High School District 

No. 204 
Maine Township High School District 

No. 207 
Niles Elementary District No. 71 

North Shore District No. 112, Highland 
Park 

Northwestern University 
Orland Park School District No. 135 
Palatine High School District #211 
Rhodes School District No. 84-1/2 
Riverside-Brookfield High School         

District No. 208 
Rosalind Franklin University 

Roselle School District No. 12 
Schaumburg Community Consolidated 

District No. 54 
Sunset Ridge School District No. 29 

Township High School District No. 211 
Township High School District No. 214 

Triton College 
University of Illinois 

Wheeling Community Consolidated 
District No. 21 

Wilmette District No. 39 

 

280



Winnetka Park District 
Board Summary 

 

Date:  August 12, 2022 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
Subject: Nick Corwin Playground Renovation 
From:  Costa Kutulas, Director of Parks and Maintenance 

Richard Schram, Landscape Architect 
Through:   John Peterson, Executive Director 
 
Summary: 
As presented at the May 12, 2022 Committee of the Whole meeting and at the May 26, 2022 
Park Board meeting staff has continued to complete bids for the park playground replacement for 
the aging equipment at Nick Corwin Park.   
 
There were four bids for the project received and opened August 9, 2022. The four firms which 
submitted bids include Hacienda Landscaping Inc., D&J Landscaping, Inc., Clauss Brothers, 
Inc., and Landworks LTD. The base bids ranged from $188,120.50 to $223,105. Included with 
the base bid was an alternate for a natural stone seat wall (in lieu of a concrete seat wall) which 
ranged from $8,480 to $45,000.   
 
After checking references for the two lowest bidders, staff identified D & J Landscape, Inc. from 
Shorewood, Illinois as the lowest responsible bidder with a base bid including alternates 
$203,458.30.  
 
At the May 26, 2022 Park Board meeting, the Board approved the purchase of the playground 
equipment for Nick Corwin Park for the purchase price of $103,168 which included the 
additional adaptive swing as indicated in the final motion. The cost for the Nick Corwin 
Playground project including the playground equipment and base bid with alternates totals 
$306,626.30. Due to rising costs in materials and labor, the overall project cost is higher than the 
project budget, which is $230,000. To help address the cost variance, the Park District proposes 
to apply the remaining funds from the Corwin Family Foundation, $38,213.12, to the project.  
These funds are part of a gift to the WPD from the Corwin Family Foundation to be used by the 
Park District exclusively for expenses for Nick Corwin Park. The Park District staff believes 
using the remaining Foundation fund balance to reinvest in the playground is a tremendous use 
of the funds. By applying the Foundation funds to the project, the additional funds needed to 
complete the project equals $38,413.18. 
 
On a related note, with driving costs for playground materials, staff plans to defer the 
replacement of Happ Road playground for a year. Staff believes moving the Happ Road 
playground project to 2023 will allow for more competitive bidding and will help offset the 
capital dollars to complete the Nick Corwin Renovation. The current budget for the Happ Road 
Playground renovation work is $105,000. By deferring the Happ Road playground renovation 
and completing Nick Corwin Park as outline in this memo, the overall capital playground budget 
would be below budget by $66,586.82.   

287



 
As mentioned previously by staff, the Village of Winnetka has reviewed the project. Due to the 
proposed color palette and height variations of the new playground design from the previous 
playground, staff is scheduled to present the proposed playground colors to the Village of 
Winnetka Design and Review Board, and present the overall project to the Village of Winnetka 
Zoning Board of Appeals to seek the required zoning variance for a structure with a height 
greater than fifteen feet.  Staff is working to address each issue with the respective Village board 
and continue to work towards completing this project before the end of the year.  
 
Finally, it is the staff’s intent to work with the contractor to see if there are possible savings that 
help to reduce the project’s overall costs as completed previously on other projects. 
 
Recommendation:   
Staff recommends the Park Board approve the base bid with alternate stone seat wall from D & J 
Landscape, Inc. from Shorewood Illinois for the total bid price of $203,458.30 with the 
understanding that any outcomes that change the bid cost be brought back to the Park Board for 
further consideration. 
 
END 
 

288



Site Preparation Demolition Hardscape Softscape BASE BID TOTAL
ALTERNATE STONE 
SEAT WALL

BID TOTAL W/ 
ALTERNATE

HACIENDA LANDSCAPING INC. $25,600.00 $23,892.00 $98,736.00 $39,892.50 $188,120.50 $45,050.00 * $228,930.50
Minooka, IL
D & J LANDSCAPE, INC. $13,151.00 $71,984.00 $80,534.80 $37,788.50 $203,458.30 $8,480.00 * $203,458.30
Shorewood, IL
CLAUSS BROTHERS, INC. $27,605.00 $41,037.70 $102,459.05 $17,733.15 $188,834.90 $25,988.55 * $205,548.45
Elgin, IL
LANDWORKS LTD.** $17,067.50 $36,720.00 $141,442.00 $27,875.50 $223,105.00 $10,335.00 *** $233,440.00
Bolingbrook, IL

* Deducted Concrete Sandpit Seat 
Wall Line Item

** Alternate Construction Dates 
3/15/23-6-10-23

***Deduction of Concrete Sandpit Seat 
Wall Line Item Included

NICK CORWIN PARK PLAYGROUND RENOVATION
BID OPENING AUGUST 9, 2022

289



EXISTING ENTRY 

LOOKING NORTHEAST 

EXISTING CENTRAL PATH 

LOOKING WEST 

EXISTING ENTRY 

LOOKING NORTHWEST 

EXISTING PLAYGROUND 

LOOKING NORTHWEST 

EXISTING PLAYGROUND 

LOOKING WEST 

EXISTING BUILDING 

LOOKING SOUTHWEST 

EXISTING CENTRAL PATH 

LOOKING EAST 

EXISTING PLAYGROUND 

LOOKING NORTHEAST 
290



HANDHOLD LEGLIFT CURVA SPINNER 
WE-SAW 

CHATTER NOODLE 
BOBBLE RIDER 

SPRIG PLAYSTRUCTURE 

SWING STRUCTURE 

SADDLE SPINNER 

TREE TOPS PLAYSTRUCTURE 

NOODLE PODS 
NOTE:  COLORS SHOWN DO NOT REPRESENT FINAL COLORS FOR NICK CORWIN PARK PLAYGROUND RENOVATION 

291



Colors shown represent a close approximation of the final colors selected for the playground

Swings will include an adaptive swing 
replacing a single bucket swing 

292



36

40

48

Chatter
Noodle

Chatter
Noodle

Ramp
Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Planter &
Sign

New
Shade Tree

New
Shade Tree

New
Shade Tree

New
Shade Tree

Bench

Bench

Waste
Receptacle

Waste
Receptacle

Drinking
Fountain

Bike
Rack

SP-1

W

I

N
N

E
T

K

A
P A R K

D
I

S
T

R
I

C
T

9 0 4

I

PL
AY

GR
O

UN
D 

RE
N

O
VA

TI
O

N
PR

O
PO

SE
D 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

15
50

 E
DG

EW
O

O
D 

LN
., 

W
IN

N
ET

KA
, I

L 
60

09
3

SHEET:

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:

BY:REVISIONS:

NOTES:

1" = 10'-0"

JULY 14, 2022

RICHARD M. SCHRAM

TI
TL

E:

Saddle
Spinner

Hand Hold/
Leg Lift Belt & Tot

Swings

We-Saw

Curva
Spinner

Bobble Rider

Bobble Rider

Storage
Building

Bleachers

Bleachers

Seat
Walls

Sandpit

Sprig Tot
Structure

Treetop
Structure

32

40

6496

8

16

20

Noodle
Pod
Steps

Relocated
Picnic
Table

Relocated
Waste

Receptacles

293



Winnetka Park District 
Board Summary  

 
Date:  August 11, 2022  
To:   Board of Commissioners  
Subject: A.C. Nielsen Tennis Center Exterior Painting  
From:  Costa Kutulas, Director of Parks and Maintenance   
  Pat Fragassi, Tennis Manager   
Through: John Peterson, Executive Director  
  
Summary: 
The nationally recognized A.C. Nielsen Tennis Center is the largest indoor facility operated 
by the Winnetka Park District. With eight interior tennis courts, the overall size of the 
building structure is vast. To maintain and operate the infrastructure at a peak level, the 
exterior of the tennis center needs to be painted.  Other than the exterior roofline trim, the 
exterior of the facility has not been painted in more than 30 years.  
 
The project area includes the metal siding on the south and west elevations of the facility.  
These areas are to be cleaned, prepared, primed and painted with a high quality exterior 
paint. Due to the proximity of the exterior tennis courts 1-6, the overall project requires 
additional work to cover and protect the outdoor playing surfaces and all roofing and any 
other obstructions. These costs (for protection of other areas and surfaces) are included in 
the quote.  
 
A proposal for this scope of work was completed by F.H. Paschen, S.N. Nielsen & 
Associates, LLC through the National Cooperative Purchasing Alliance (NCPA).  The Park 
District has worked with this contractor several times, including the buildout of the Lloyd 
Boardwalk replacement and boat storage, Lloyd Beach House painting, Maple Street Beach 
ipe wood deck, window replacements at Maple Beach House, and the rebuild of the Golf 
Maintenance garages. 
 
The NCPA assures the contractor meets all State of Illinois bidding requirements and are 
identified as the lowest bidder through the Illinois Job Ordering Contracting (JOC) program. 
As required by law, this program meets all of the prevailing wage requirements.  
 
The cost for the painting on the south and west elevations is $31,170.00.  The budgeted 
amount of this project is $30,000.00. 
 
At staff’s request, Paschen quoted as an alternate the remaining north elevation of the 
structure to complete the entire facility at one time.  Due to the near-term need to paint 

294



the north elevation of the structure, staff also recommends painting the north elevation of 
the structure at this time.   
 
Tennis has very strong reserves to fund the project without impacting any other 
departments. While this step is not a 2022 budgeted item (it is expected to be a 2023 
budgeted item), the cost to add the north elevation to the overall scope of work is 
$33,100.00, which secures a cost savings by eliminating a second mobilization expense.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends contracting with F.H. Paschen, S.N. Nielsen & Associates, LLC from 
Chicago, Illinois for three exterior elevations (south, west and north) for a combined total 
not to exceed $64,270.00. 
 
END 

295



4.14   PRIMARY FUNCTION OF THE BOARD 
 
The Park Board's major function is to establish policy through the majority vote at 
duly called and authorized Park Board meetings.  Through its policy-making 
functions, the Board determines fiscal procedures, personnel matters, operational 
procedures, fees and charges, land dispositions, and facility development.  
Specifically included in the above items are the following: 

 
A.  To provide for the levy of taxes pursuant to the authority granted by Illinois 

Statute.  Such levies shall provide for the various operational concerns by fund 
so that sufficient revenue is generated to provide for quality park and recreational 
activities. 

 
B.  Decide upon the proper use of funds generated by revenue-producing facilities 

after operational needs are satisfied and enact periodic adjustments in the 
operational policies of said revenue-producing facilities to ensure proper and 
meaningful controls for the benefit of the entire District and not just the revenue-
producing facility itself. 

 
  C. The Board should employ an Executive Director of the Park District as the 

District’s chief executive officer, upon whom the Board places its reliance and 
authority for the judicious administration of the day-to-day operation, of the Park 
District. The Executive Director of the Park District shall be charged with 
executing the Board's policy, enforcing its rules and regulations, and acting as an 
advisor to the Board by preparing or causing to be prepared written reports for 
the Board, which recommends a course of action. 

 
  D.  The Board shall adopt and periodically review a set of rules and regulations 

affecting all full-time, part-time and seasonal personnel in a document known as 
"Personnel Policies of the Winnetka Park District." 

    
E. The Board shall continually monitor the operational procedures of the Park 

District and make additions or alterations to said procedures at duly called and 
authorized Board meetings. The individual Board members shall keep themselves 
informed of the activities and functions of the District by observation, comments 
from its citizenry, and reports presented by the staff of the Park District.  The 
Board shall act decisively on issues brought before it, in the best interest of the 
District as a whole. 

 
Park Board members should make decisions involving the welfare of the 
community as a whole based on study and evidence rather than on feelings, 

296



prejudices, personal opinions, or other similar subjective factors.  Such judgment 
requires mutual considerations of varying points of view before final action is 
taken. 

 
Park Board members should accept the principle of Board unity and the 
subordination of personal interests by accepting and supporting majority 
decisions of the Board and identifying themselves with Board policies and 
actions. 

 
 F.  The Board shall be responsible for establishing the operational philosophy of 

recreational programming for the Park District and setting fees and charges, to 
be approved at a duly authorized and attended Board meeting. 

 
G.   The Board shall recognize that land acquisition is of primary importance to the 

provision of leisure services and the proposition that open space, judiciously 
placed, produces benefits for active and passive use. Accordingly, the Board may 
prepare and periodically update a land acquisition plan, supported by a set of 
land acquisition criteria which will assist in evaluating various parcels. 

 
Cooperative ventures with local, county, state, regional, and national levels of 
government should be recognized as important and integral processes toward 
the orderly acquisition of parcels which otherwise may be too costly for one 
agency to purchase.  Various state and federal land grant programs should be 
viewed as a vehicle for financial assistance.  Such grants must be reviewed 
carefully for terms and conditions, which may be considered unreasonable or 
unduly restrictive. 

 
 H. The Board shall direct itself to the establishment and continual care of a well-

rounded and broadly based park system, recognizing the diverse needs and 
interests of the District's constituency. 

 
  I. Board Member Code of Ethics 

    As a member of the Board Team, I will: 
1. Listen carefully to my Board colleagues. 

2. Respect the opinion of fellow Board members. 

3. Respect and support majority decisions of the Board. 

4. Recognize that all authority is vested in the full Board only when it meets 
in compliance with all laws.  

297



5. Keep well-informed about developments relevant to issues that may come 
before the Board.  

6. Participate in Board meetings and actions. 

7. Bring to the attention of the Board any issues I believe will have an 
adverse effect on the agency or those we serve. 

8. Attempt to interpret the needs or those we serve to the agency, and 
interpret the-actions of the agency to those we serve. 

9. Refer complaints to the proper level on the chain of command. 

10. Recognize that my role is to ensure that the agency is well-managed, not 
to manage the agency. 

11. Represent all those whom this agency serves, not just a particular 
geographic area or interest group. 

12. Consider myself a "trustee" of the agency and do my best to ensure that it            
is well-maintained, financially secure, growing and always operating in 
the best interested of those we serve. 

 
13. Always work to learn how to do my job better, 

14. Declare conflicts of interest between my personal life and my position on 
the Board, and abstain from voting or discussion when appropriate. 

                As a member of the Board, I will not: 

1. Criticize fellow Board members in or out of the Board room. 

2. Use the agency for my personal or business advantage or for the 
advantage of my friends or relatives. 

3. Discuss the confidential proceedings of the Board outside the Board room. 

4. Promise before a meeting how I will vote on any issue. 

5. Interfere with the duties of the Executive Director or staff or undermine 
the administrator's authority with staff members. 

 
4.15   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR BOARD/RELATIONSHIP 
 
Effective Executive Director/Board relationship is a delicate balance of mutual trust 
that should be built upon a sound base of high ethical and technical competency, 

298



which is expected of the Executive Director.  In turn, the Board must consistently 
adhere to its responsibilities of policy setting and allow the Executive Director to 
administer the day-to-day affairs of the Park District while operating within the 
policies and guidelines established by the Board. 

 
 The Executive Director: 
 

A. Shall be the chief administrative officer of and professional advisor of the District.  
The Board shall delegate to the Executive Director sufficient authority and 
responsibility to execute the Board’s policies and establish standard operating 
procedures based on those policies, enforce established rules and regulations, 
and administer the daily operations of the parks, recreation programs, facilities, 
and services of the District for the benefit of the public.  The Executive Director 
may delegate his authority but he/she shall nevertheless be responsible to the 
Board.  The Board shall perform a written evaluation of the Executive Director 
annually or more often as the Board may deem necessary. 

 
B. Provide guidance and leadership based on high ethics and, sound philosophical 

and logical assumptions.  The Board should require of the Executive Director the 
technical training necessary to perform stipulated job functions, work experience, 
and academic preparation in leisure services curriculum. 

 
C.   Fully and continually keep the Board members informed of the important issues                     

of the day-to-day operations of the District in a straightforward manner. 
 
D. Prepare all information necessary for the Board to be fully informed on matters  

requiring its attention.  The Executive Director should set forth a clear statement 
of the situation or problem, provide unbiased information on various alternatives 
and financial impact of same if necessary. This information should be 
accompanied by a recommendation and the Executive Director must be prepared 
to justify the recommendation and explain the attendant rationale.  Once a policy 
is set by the Board, the Executive Director should recognize that the decision is 
then the District's decision regardless of his personal point of view. 

 
E.    Respect the judgment and thoughts of each Board member and realize that the 

Board is the community’s representative. 
 

F. Enter into the day-to-day operations of the District with the spirit that 
administrative       decision-making must be exercised within the policies agreed 
upon by the Board.  The Board should realize that countless situations will arise 

299



that are not explicitly covered by adopted policies and, therefore, will require an 
administrative decision. 

 

300



Page 1 of 2 

 

Winnetka Park District 
Board Summary 

 
Date:   August 12, 2022 
To:   Board of Commissioners 
Subjects: Process for Creating Board Meeting Agendas & Packets 
  Proposed Schedule for Presentations from Meeting Visitors     
From:  Libby Baker, Office Associate    
Thru:   John Peterson, Executive Director 
 
Summary:   
The following schedule (below) is proposed to provide commissioners with meeting 
information in a timely manner.  The proposed schedule identifies important days, dates, 
and deadlines for meeting packet preparation.  The schedule allows time for the board to 
review, consider, and approve the agenda prior to the packet being posted.  Also, the 
proposed schedule provides the community with an extra day to review the board packet.  
Here is the proposed schedule: 
 

• Monday – one week before meeting, proposed agenda sent to commissioners and 
staff 

• Thursday – one week before meeting, agenda changes and all documents due to 
Libby by 12:00 p.m.  

• Friday – one week before meeting, packet sent to the commissioners  
• Monday/Tuesday* – week of meeting, agenda/packet posted to website  

 
The schedule meets the requirements of the Open Meetings Act 5 ILCS 120/2.02(a) to post 
the agenda at least 48 hours in advance of holding the meeting.   
 

   Meeting Date 
Thursday 

 
Agenda Sent 

Monday 
Docs./Changes 

Thursday** 
Packets to Board 

Friday 

 
Packet Posted  
Monday (or Tues.) 

AUGUST 18 August 8 August 11  August 12 August 15 
AUGUST 25 August 15 August 18 August 19 August 22 

SEPTEMBER 8 August 29 September 1  September 2 September 6* 
SEPTEMBER 22 September 12 September 15 September 16  September 19 

OCTOBER 13 October 3 October 6  October 7 October 10* 
OCTOBER 27 October 17 October 20  October 21 October 24 
NOVEMBER 3 October 24 October 27 October 28  October 31 

NOVEMBER 17 November 7 November 10 November 14*  November 15* 
DECEMBER 1 November 21 November 23* November 28*  November 29* 

DECEMBER 15 December 5 December 8 December 9  December 12 
 

301



Page 2 of 2 

 

*Day late due to holidays (Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran’s Day and Thanksgiving) 
**The 12:00 p.m. deadline to submit documents for the meeting packet applies to staff and 
the board.  
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the Board adopt the proposed process for creating board meeting 
agendas and packets. 
 
Presentations from community members 
On a related note, from time to time, a visitor to a Board meeting will request an 
opportunity to present and/or distribute information at a meeting.  The Park District’s 
current policy regarding public comment does not specifically contemplate the manner in 
which a person may communicate to the Board, or how the information will be recorded.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the Board consider this topic during its review of the Winnetka Park 
District Policy Manual.  In the meantime, staff suggests anyone considering a presentation 
or handout, provide notice, along with a PDF copy, no later than 12:00 p.m. the Wednesday 
before a meeting.  This will ensure staff has the equipment needed to present the 
information, as well time to review the information before it is displayed and/or 
distributed in a public meeting.   
 
 
 

302


	Special June 9, 2022 minutes_unofficial
	E-C Petition to BOC_06.09.22_Redacted
	9 June WPD presentation_C Dowding
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7

	Dowding_Pictures_06.09.22
	Smith_Comments_06.09.22_Redacted
	Rau_Comment_06.09.22
	Seaman_Comment_06.09.22
	Schriesheim_Comment_06.09.22_Redacted
	Communications_Combined_08.09.22
	Board Summary WYO Presentation
	WYO_WPD Presentation 2022
	Closed Session Minutes_unofficial_06.16.22.pdf
	MINUTES OF CLOSED MEETING
	WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT


	Golf Course Stormwater Review 8_18 Park Board Meeting.pdf
	OPCC and AP3

	Board Policies.pdf
	4.14   PRIMARY FUNCTION OF THE BOARD
	4.15   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR BOARD/RELATIONSHIP

	Library Park DVG Appraisal 7-30-22.pdf
	INTRODUCTION
	Purpose and Use of the Appraisal
	Date of Value
	Scope of the Assignment
	Definition of Value
	Property Rights Appraised
	Legal Description
	Exposure and Marketing Time
	Ownership and History

	DESCRIPTIVE DATA
	Neighborhood Summary
	Site Description
	Zoning Summary
	Real Estate Taxes and Assessments
	Highest and Best Use

	VALUATION METHODOLOGY
	SALES COMPARISON APPROACH
	Land Valuation
	Land Sales Analysis

	Conclusion
	Reconciliation and Final Value Conclusion
	ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS
	CERTIFICATION
	PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
	ERIC W. DOST, MAI, AI-GRS
	EXPERIENCE
	EMPLOYMENT
	University of Illinois, Urbana, May 1986
	REPRESENTATIVE CLIENTS SERVED
	 Lenders & REITS
	 Corporations
	 Law and Accounting Firms
	Designated Member of the Appraisal Institute: MAI and AI-GRS
	FLOOD HAZARD MAP

	Library Park, Winnetka - 2021 (1).pdf
	MSM Qualifications.pdf
	Michael S. MaRous Statement of Qualifications


	Nick Corwin Park Playground Renovation Bid Tabulation 8-9-22.pdf
	Sheet1

	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs 8_16_22 CK DRAFT.pdf
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Elder Option 1
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Elder Option 2
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Elder Option 3
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 1
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 2
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 3
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 4
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 5
	Elder_Centennial Budget Costs Centennial Option 6

	wpd-board-meeting-agenda-08.18.22v7.pdf
	WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT
	COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE | REGULAR BOARD MEETING*
	Thursday, August 18, 2022 | 6:00 p.m.

	Remarks from Visitors.pdf
	WINNETKA PARK DISTRICT REMARKS FROM VISITORS & PUBLIC COMMENT

	JULY Monthly Board Report 08.15.22.pdf
	Operating Performance Summary YTD�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Revenues, Expenses, Capitals Summary YTD�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Individual Fund Performance Actual vs Budget YTD�July 2022
	Individual Fund Performance Actual vs Budget YTD�July 2022
	Previous Years Comparison �All Funds Combined – Unaudited �July 2022
	Year End Projections �All Funds Combined – Unaudited �July 2022
	Revenues - Detail YTD�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Revenues - User Fees �Performance vs. Budget YTD �July 2022
	Donations/Contributions�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Expenses - Detail YTD�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022 
	Capitals/Contracts - Detail YTD�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Operating and Major Capitals�All Funds Combined - Unaudited�July 2022
	Operating Capitals�July 2022
	Operating Capitals Detail - 25K and above�July 2022
	Operating Capitals Detail - 25K and above�July 2022
	Capitals – Major�July 2022
	Fund Reserves 2022�July 2022
	Fund Reserves 2022�July 2022
	Statement of Cash and Investments�July 2022

	Draft Ordinance for Abatement of Alt Rev Bond Taxes_v2.pdf
	Board of Park Commissioners
	Winnetka Park District
	Attest:
	John L. Peterson, Secretary
	Board of Park Commissioners
	Winnetka Park District
	Filing Certificate
	County Clerk of The County
	of Cook, Illinois

	Nick Corwin Playground Images for 8_18_22 Board Packet.pdf
	Nick Corwin Park Playground Existing Site Images 7-13-22
	Nick Corwin Park Playground Images 7-13-22
	Nick Corwin Park SP-1 Proposed 7-14-22




